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 1              S T I P U L A T I O N
 2              IT IS STIPULATED AND AGREED, by
 3 and between the parties, through their
 4 respective counsel, that the deposition of
 5 ROBIN ANN LITAKER may be taken before Laura H.
 6 Nichols, Commissioner, Certified Realtime
 7 Reporter, Registered Professional Reporter and
 8 Notary Public;
 9              That the signature to and reading
10 of the deposition by the witness is waived, the
11 deposition to have the same force and effect as
12 if full compliance had been had with all laws
13 and rules of Court relating to the taking of
14 depositions;
15              That it shall not be necessary for
16 any objections to be made by counsel to any
17 questions, except as to form or leading
18 questions, and that counsel for the parties may
19 make objections and assign grounds at the time
20 of trial, or at the time said deposition is
21 offered in evidence, or prior thereto.
22

23
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 1              I, Laura H. Nichols, a Certified
 2 Realtime Reporter and Registered Professional
 3 Reporter of Birmingham, Alabama, and a Notary
 4 Public for the State of Alabama at Large,
 5 acting as Commissioner, certify that on this
 6 date, as provided by the Federal Rules of Civil
 7 Procedure of the United States District Court,
 8 and the foregoing stipulation of counsel, there
 9 came before me at the offices of Bradley Arant
10 Boult Cummings LLP, One Federal Place,
11 1819 Fifth Avenue North, Birmingham, Alabama
12 35203, on May 27, 2015, commencing at 9:59
13 a.m., ROBIN ANN LITAKER, witness in the above
14 cause, for oral examination, whereupon the
15 following proceedings were had:
16

17                ROBIN ANN LITAKER,
18 being first duly sworn, was examined and
19 testified as follows:
20

21 EXAMINATION BY MS. YUENGERT:
22        Q.    Okay.  Ms. Litaker, my name is
23 Anne Yuengert.  I am here to take your

Page 8
 1 deposition today.
 2        A.    Okay.
 3        Q.    Have you ever had your deposition
 4 taken before?
 5        A.    No.
 6        Q.    Okay.  As I am sure your lawyer
 7 has explained to you, I am going to ask you
 8 questions, and you are going to give me
 9 answers.  The ground rules are that you have to
10 wait for me to finish my question before you
11 give me an answer, so our court reporter,
12 Laura, can get us both down.
13        A.    (Nodding.)
14        Q.    You also need to give me a verbal
15 response.  So if you shake your head or go
16 "uh-huh" or something like that, I am going to
17 prompt you just to give me a clearer response
18 so that our transcript will be clear.
19        A.    (Nodding.)
20        Q.    If at any point you need to take a
21 break or consult with your attorney, just let
22 me know.  We will be here the better part of
23 the day, I think.  So don't feel like you can't
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 1 stop if you need to.
 2        A.    Okay.
 3        Q.    You understand that you are under
 4 oath?
 5        A.    Yes.
 6        Q.    If at any time I ask you a
 7 question that you don't understand, you need to
 8 ask me to clarify it.  If you don't ask me to
 9 clarify a question, I am going to assume that
10 you understood it.  Is that fair?
11        A.    Yes.
12        Q.    Are you taking any medication
13 today that would interfere with your ability to
14 answer my questions truthfully?
15        A.    No.
16        Q.    Could you state your name for me?
17        A.    Robin Ann Litaker.
18        Q.    Have you ever had any name other
19 than Robin Ann Litaker?
20        A.    No.
21        Q.    And where do you currently live?
22        A.    I live at 312 Gainswood Road -- it
23 is one word, G-A-I-N-S-W-O-O-D, Homewood.

Page 10
 1        Q.    How long have you lived at the
 2 Gainswood Road address?
 3        A.    I think this is -- I think this is
 4 my eleventh year, close to it.
 5        Q.    Does anybody live at the Gainswood
 6 Road address with you?
 7        A.    No.
 8        Q.    Do you have any family who live in
 9 the Northern District of Alabama?
10        A.    No.  I have just moved my father
11 to Fairhope, so it is just me.
12        Q.    Okay.  Do you have other family in
13 Fairhope?
14        A.    Yes.
15        Q.    Who is down there?
16        A.    I have a brother, a sister-in-law,
17 three nieces, two nephews, a great niece.
18        Q.    Plenty of folks?
19        A.    Yeah.
20        Q.    In one of the documents, the many
21 documents, that your lawyer produced to me, you
22 listed employment as being at a place called
23 Wise.

Page 11
 1        A.    That is my brother's business.
 2        Q.    Okay.
 3        A.    He lets me help out just --
 4        Q.    Okay.
 5        A.    I have been trying to stay busy.
 6        Q.    What is the name of his business?
 7        A.    It is Wise Technology.  He does
 8 educational software, and for no pay, because
 9 it is a start-up company, I have just gone
10 around and helped different school districts
11 with some transportation software, but not a
12 lot.
13        Q.    Where did you go to high school?
14        A.    I went to Lower Richland High
15 School in Columbia, South Carolina.
16        Q.    After high school, where did you
17 go to college?
18        A.    I went to Winthrop College.  I got
19 my BS and my MAT from Winthrop.
20        Q.    What is an MAT?
21        A.    It is a Master of Arts in
22 Teaching.
23        Q.    After you finished at Winthrop,

Page 12
 1 did you start working?
 2        A.    I worked in Mobile County at two
 3 different schools.  I was at Maryville
 4 Elementary; I left for a year, and then went
 5 back to Maryville.  And I don't remember the
 6 year I left.
 7        Q.    That is okay.
 8        A.    But it was ten years from '82
 9 to '92 when I started working in Hoover.
10        Q.    What did you do the year that you
11 left?
12        A.    That I left?
13        Q.    Yes.
14        A.    I went to Dodge Elementary in
15 Mobile County.
16        Q.    And were you a teacher at both
17 schools?
18        A.    Yes.
19        Q.    How did you end up coming to
20 Hoover?
21        A.    I was one of five finalists for
22 the national physical education teacher of the
23 year.  And a professor at UAB asked me if I
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 1 would be interested in applying for a job in
 2 Hoover at a brand-new elementary school.  It
 3 was Trace Crossings.
 4        Q.    Who was the person from UAB who
 5 talked to you about that?
 6        A.    Donna Hester.
 7        Q.    And she was a professor at UAB?
 8        A.    Yes.
 9        Q.    So you applied and got the job at
10 Trace Crossings?
11        A.    Yes.
12        Q.    What year did you start with
13 Hoover?
14        A.    I started in '92, when the school
15 opened.
16        Q.    I want to just kind of run through
17 the timeline of your employment at Hoover for
18 now.
19        A.    Okay.
20        Q.    We will go back and follow up on
21 some of the details.
22        A.    (Nodding.)
23        Q.    So you were at Trace Crossings.

Page 14
 1 Was that when Dot Riley was the principal?
 2        A.    The first principal -- I mean,
 3 I -- I am bad at names.  I can't remember the
 4 name -- it was the original principal.  Dale
 5 Truding hired me, and then Gloria Solomon was
 6 the principal, and then Dot Riley became the
 7 principal.  So Dr. Riley was my principal until
 8 I left, when Riverchase Elementary opened.
 9        Q.    And who was the principal who
10 hired you for Riverchase?
11        A.    Dianne Baggett.
12        Q.    How long were you at Riverchase?
13        A.    I was there two years.
14        Q.    And was Diane still the principal
15 when you left?
16        A.    Yes.
17        Q.    And you left to be an assistant
18 principal?
19        A.    Yes.
20        Q.    Where?
21        A.    At Shades Mountain Elementary.
22        Q.    And who was your principal at
23 Shades Mountain?

Page 15
 1        A.    Juli Feltham.
 2        Q.    The whole time?
 3        A.    Yes.
 4        Q.    And Juli is J-U-L-I?
 5        A.    "I," right.
 6        Q.    And how long were you at Shades
 7 Mountain?
 8        A.    Four years.
 9        Q.    And then you went to Trace
10 Crossings?
11        A.    Yes.
12        Q.    As the principal?
13        A.    Yes.
14        Q.    And when did you go to Trace
15 Crossings, 2010?
16        A.    Yes.
17        Q.    So that would have been the school
18 year for 2010?
19        A.    '10-'11, yes.
20        Q.    And then you left Trace Crossings
21 in November of 2012, correct?
22        A.    Yes.
23        Q.    Okay.  And then you submitted a

Page 16
 1 resignation, I think it was April 4th of 2013;
 2 does that sound right?
 3        A.    I don't remember the date.
 4        Q.    Okay.  Do you remember that it was
 5 in the spring of 2013?
 6        A.    Yes.
 7        Q.    And then your retirement was
 8 effective December 31st, 2013?
 9        A.    Yes.
10        Q.    Have I missed any places you were
11 in the Hoover System?  Have we talked about --
12        A.    Not that I can think of right now.
13        Q.    Okay.  If you think of any, just
14 let me know.
15        A.    Okay.
16        Q.    When you came to Hoover, jumping
17 back to your education, you had the BS and the
18 Masters of Arts in Teaching.
19        A.    Uh-huh.
20        Q.    Did you have any other higher
21 education when you came to Hoover?
22        A.    Not that I had completed.  I was
23 fifty hours short on an internship for
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 1 administration at that time from South Alabama.
 2 I think it was fifty hours.
 3        Q.    Okay.  And when you say "in
 4 administration," does that then give you a
 5 master's in administration or a doctorate?
 6        A.    Then, it gave you a certificate.
 7 And I believe there were three certificates at
 8 that time.  I was working on one of them.
 9        Q.    Okay.  So when you came to Hoover,
10 did you finish your certificate at some point?
11        A.    No.
12        Q.    Okay.
13        A.    I waited until I was ready to go
14 into administration, and I had to start over.
15        Q.    And then did you finish your
16 certificate in administration?
17        A.    Yes, I have a certificate, I
18 finished it first, and then I got an EDS from
19 the University of the Montevallo, and I have a
20 doctorate from Samford University.
21              MS. YUENGERT:  Kevin, I am going
22 to ask her some questions about the Complaint,
23 so I am just going to give a copy to her, but I

Page 18
 1 am not going to make it an exhibit, okay?
 2              MR. JENT:  Okay.
 3        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  Ms. Litaker, I
 4 am handing you a copy of the Complaint that was
 5 filed on your behalf in this lawsuit.  I am
 6 going to ask you some questions about the
 7 allegations in it, and I thought it would be
 8 easier if you could actually see it.
 9        A.    Okay.
10        Q.    (Handing document.)  Ms. Litaker,
11 one of your claims in this lawsuit is that the
12 Board and Mr. Craig discriminated against you
13 based on sex.
14        A.    Yes.
15        Q.    I want to talk to you about those
16 allegations, okay?
17        A.    Uh-huh.
18        Q.    And first I want to know if you
19 claim that moving you from Trace Crossings
20 Elementary to the Central Office was sex
21 discrimination.  Do you believe that?
22              MR. JENT:  I am going to object as
23 to the extent it calls for a legal conclusion,

Page 19
 1 but you can answer.
 2              MS. YUENGERT:  I understand.
 3        A.    I believe it led to that, yes.
 4        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  When you say
 5 it "led to that," what do you mean?
 6        A.    That ultimately when I was moved
 7 and what was done with me led to the sexual
 8 discrimination.
 9        Q.    Okay.  Do you believe that the
10 actual decision to move you from Trace
11 Crossings was based on your sex?
12        A.    That, I don't know.
13        Q.    Okay.  So you don't have an
14 opinion one way or the other?
15        A.    I feel like, yes, it was --
16        Q.    Okay.
17        A.     -- but that is an opinion.
18        Q.    Understood.  Why do you believe
19 that the decision to move you from Trace
20 Crossings was based on your sex?
21        A.    Because after I arrived, after I
22 was finally told to report to Central Office, I
23 was not given a position like other male

Page 20
 1 employees who had been moved.
 2        Q.    Any other reasons that you think
 3 that the decision to move you from Trace
 4 Crossings to the Central Office was based on
 5 your sex, other than you have told me that
 6 there were some male employees who were moved
 7 to Central Office that you believe were treated
 8 better than you were?
 9        A.    Because I was not given any due
10 process.  I was removed without any
11 notification, any reason, any -- I was given no
12 corrective action plan.  I was not told of any
13 issues with my performance.
14        Q.    Anything else?
15        A.    And because of ultimately how I
16 was constructively discharged.  And that --
17 there may be more but, you know, I can't -- I
18 was promised that I would be taken care of, and
19 ultimately I was not, like male employees had
20 been.
21              And like I said, there may be
22 several other things, but that is all I can --
23 and -- that is all I can think of right now.

Case 2:14-cv-02176-MHH   Document 21-1   Filed 01/15/16   Page 6 of 135



Robin Litaker 6

Tyler Eaton Morgan Nichols & Pritchett 877-373-3660

Page 21
 1 There may be other points.
 2        Q.    When was your last day at Trace
 3 Crossings?
 4        A.    November 16th, 2012.
 5        Q.    And tell me what happened on
 6 November 16th, 2012.
 7        A.    On the 16th?
 8        Q.    Yes.
 9        A.    The 15th was when I was called to
10 Central Office.
11        Q.    Okay.  So let's talk about the
12 15th.
13        A.    The 15th was pretty much like any
14 other day.  I had a student that had won a
15 writing award.  I was getting ready to go to a
16 dinner at the Wynfrey for her.  I had an art
17 program going on at the school that night.  I
18 had an IEP meeting with one of my
19 self-contained children, and right before that,
20 Carol Barber called me up and asked me if I
21 could stop by Central Office.
22        Q.    About what time of day was that?
23        A.    It was after school hours, so I

Page 22
 1 am -- if I say, it will be a guess.  Maybe
 2 3:30, 4:00; I'm not exactly sure.
 3        Q.    Okay.  But you hadn't left the
 4 school for the day?
 5        A.    No, I had not.  I typically didn't
 6 leave until late.
 7        Q.    And Carol called you?
 8        A.    She called me and asked me if I
 9 could stop by Central Office, and I went.
10        Q.    In the telephone conversation with
11 Carol, did she say anything other than, "Can
12 you stop by Central Office?"
13        A.    Not that I recall, no.
14        Q.    Okay.  So you went by the Central
15 Office?
16        A.    Yes.
17        Q.    About what time, do you know?
18        A.    You know, I don't.  One of the
19 things I don't have is my calendar, and I could
20 have -- I could have given you a better
21 guesstimate of time if I saw what time that
22 dinner started.  But I don't know.  Sometime,
23 4:00, 5:00 -- when I got to Central Office and

Page 23
 1 I went in, I -- it seemed pretty empty.  So I
 2 would say it was probably after 4:00 or
 3 whenever most people went home.
 4        Q.    And you mentioned a calendar,
 5 Ms. Litaker.
 6        A.    Uh-huh.
 7        Q.    What kind of calendar did you
 8 keep?
 9        A.    Outlook.
10        Q.    Oh, so it was on the computer?
11        A.    Yeah.  This appointment wasn't on
12 the computer, but I could have guessed about
13 what time.
14        Q.    Sure.  I am just asking about how
15 you kept your calendar.
16        A.    Yes.  I had several Outlook
17 calendars.
18        Q.    So you went to the Central Office
19 and it seemed pretty deserted?
20        A.    Yes.
21        Q.    Tell me what happened when you got
22 to Central Office.
23        A.    I went back to Carol Barber's

Page 24
 1 office, and I sat down.  And she was in there
 2 by herself.  And I don't know -- I can't
 3 remember exactly how the conversation started.
 4 At some point, Mr. Craig came in, and I don't
 5 know how far into a conversation we had gotten
 6 before he came in.
 7              But she had started saying things
 8 to me like I had teachers complaining, that --
 9 and I think Mr. Craig was in the office when a
10 comment was made that the good teachers were
11 going to leave the school.  And I was -- you
12 have to understand, I was totally taken off
13 guard.  I had never been talked to,
14 reprimanded, written up about anything related
15 to my faculty.
16              And I am assuming later on you may
17 ask me about the type of school I moved into,
18 and the preexisting issues.  So when she said
19 the good teachers are going to move out, I went
20 (shaking head), "No, they are not."  I mean, I
21 had brought some really outstanding people onto
22 that faculty.
23              And at that point, I mean,
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 1 Mr. Craig was sitting there, and he said,
 2 "Well, I just -- I think it is time for a
 3 change."  And I still -- I mean, you have to
 4 understand my mental state at that point; I
 5 didn't know what they were talking about.  And
 6 he said, "I think it is time to make a move" or
 7 something to that effect.  And I still didn't
 8 know what they were talking about.  And they
 9 said something about me going to Bumpus and I
10 am sitting there thinking well, what are you
11 going to do with Tamala Maddox?  I didn't know
12 what -- I was totally and completely, if you
13 want to use the term "clueless," about what
14 they were talking about.
15              And then at some point, Carol said
16 you will be part of the administrative team.
17 And it started -- I am starting to try to
18 understand, you know, what they are talking
19 about.  And I went, "Wait a minute, what -- you
20 know, what is my position going to be?"  And
21 she said, "They need your help over there."
22 And I said, "What is my position?"  And she
23 said, "You would be an assistant principal."

Page 26
 1 And I went, "Oh, no.  No.  Huh-uh.  That is" --
 2 you know, that was not acceptable.
 3              And I was, you know -- you have to
 4 understand, I had never done anything, I had
 5 never been told I wasn't doing something right
 6 in my building.  And I was totally shocked.
 7 And, you know -- and I didn't know what to say.
 8 I mean, I had -- I have a background with
 9 educational organization where I advise
10 teachers on how to respond in situations like
11 that.
12              And then Mr. Craig said, "Robin,
13 they are after you."  And at that point, I
14 assumed that the way they were talking, I
15 assumed they were talking about the assistant
16 principal that I had had the first year that
17 had filed an EEOC.  And --
18        Q.    That is Debra Smith?
19        A.    Yes.  And Carol said, "Robin, they
20 can't hurt me.  I am going to retire.  I can
21 get in there and finish, you know, cleaning it
22 up."
23              And quite honestly, that is the

Page 27
 1 most shocking thing I think I have ever had
 2 happen to me in my entire life.  And they told
 3 me to send an email out to the faculty.
 4              I was having a luncheon for my
 5 faculty the next day, that -- I had started
 6 that type of thing when I was at Shades
 7 Mountain.  And they told me to send out an
 8 email and for me to leave the school around
 9 12:30 and to tell the faculty to meet with them
10 in the library after school.
11        Q.    To meet with them, Mr. Craig and
12 Ms. Barber?
13        A.    Mr. Craig and Ms. Barber.
14        Q.    Okay.  Anything else that happened
15 in the meeting on the 15th of November that you
16 can recall?
17        A.    That I can recall right now --
18 because, you know, I am nervous.  And -- not
19 that I can recall right this minute.  There was
20 a little more to the conversation, but there
21 was not any indication to me that I had done
22 anything that warranted me being moved out of
23 the school for any disciplinary reason or

Page 28
 1 performance reason.
 2              I just -- I trusted Mr. Craig and
 3 Ms. Barber, and I felt like they were watching
 4 out for me.  And Mr. Craig did say, "Robin, I
 5 am going to make you a principal again as quick
 6 as I can."  He said, "I just need to" -- at
 7 some point, I don't know if I have already said
 8 this, they said a Board member was after me, I
 9 guess.
10        Q.    Mr. Craig said that?
11        A.    Yes.  And, you know, and he also
12 said that he had already called them and told
13 them.
14              But other than that, I am -- like
15 I said, I just remembered that.  And there may
16 be a few other things.  But nothing about my
17 performance.  It was all about protecting me
18 and taking care of me as soon as I warded off
19 the -- when I was being told that the faculty
20 was complaining about me.
21              And Carol did say that teachers
22 were going to Mary Veal, that the bulk of the
23 teachers had gone to Mary Veal about -- about
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 1 me.
 2        Q.    Anything else right now that you
 3 can recall from that meeting?
 4        A.    Not that I can recall right this
 5 minute.
 6        Q.    Okay.  You said that at some point
 7 Mr. Craig said, "They are after you," and you
 8 assumed, by the way they were talking, that
 9 they were talking about Debra Smith.
10        A.    (Nodding.)
11        Q.    What made you assume that?
12        A.    Because when I was given the job
13 as the principal of the school, I was told that
14 she would be moved out of the building before I
15 was there.
16        Q.    Who told you that?
17        A.    Carol and Andy both told me that
18 when they were offering me the job, when he
19 offered me the job; that -- you asked -- tell
20 me again what you asked.
21        Q.    What I asked was, in the meeting
22 on November 15th, why did you assume that they
23 were talking about Debra Smith when somebody

Page 30
 1 mentioned that they were after you?
 2        A.    Okay.  And during the interview,
 3 my reading coach was part of the interview
 4 team, and she told me, Judy Anderson told me --
 5        Q.    I'm sorry.  I am going to back you
 6 up.  Now you are talking about the interview
 7 that you had --
 8        A.    To get the job.  I'm sorry.
 9        Q.    That is okay.  It is not as easy
10 as it looks.
11        A.    I have been good.  I have been
12 good.
13        Q.    So in answering my question about
14 the comment and your interpretation of it on
15 November 15th --
16        A.    Yes.
17        Q.    -- you are now going back to your
18 interview for the principalship at Trace
19 Crossings?
20        A.    Correct.
21        Q.    Okay.
22        A.    Yes.
23        Q.    And you were telling me that Judy

Page 31
 1 Anderson was on the interview team.
 2        A.    Yes.
 3        Q.    Okay.  What did Ms. Anderson tell
 4 you?
 5        A.    She told me that one of the
 6 concerns that the interview team had was making
 7 sure that Debra Smith was moved out of the
 8 school before I became the principal.  And --
 9        Q.    Did she tell you why?
10        A.    Well, by the time she told me
11 this, we were well into the first school year.
12 And Dr. Smith, prior to my arrival at Trace,
13 Carol shared with me several not pleasant
14 meetings that she had had with Dr. Smith
15 regarding her not getting the job and regarding
16 her not getting other jobs she had applied for;
17 a meeting that she had with Mr. Craig and with
18 Ms. Barber.
19              Dr. Smith filed an EEOC during my
20 first year.  The situation at Trace Crossings
21 was really volatile.  Dr. Smith had initiated
22 with several teachers there a petition for her
23 to be the principal.

Page 32
 1              Now, I am not sure if this was
 2 before or after I was actually named as the
 3 principal.  She tried to get parents involved
 4 in it.  When Dr. Smith filed the EEOC, Carol
 5 Barber came in to tell me.  I was rarely in a
 6 room alone with Dr. Smith.  Quite honestly, I
 7 was always afraid she would do something to me,
 8 like she did the last day she worked at Trace.
 9              And so I made a habit of making
10 sure other people were in the room with me.
11 And she caused just a lot of -- I know I need
12 to be specific, but a lot of undermining during
13 my first year.  And it was a very -- in fact,
14 she came in one day and -- in my office and
15 said, "You know, Robin, most principals, when
16 they start at a school, they are welcomed.  You
17 haven't been welcomed, have you?"  And, you
18 know, just kind of laughed at me.
19              And I -- you have to understand, I
20 mean, Carol was very supportive, and I -- I
21 didn't respond to Dr. Smith when she would do
22 things like that.
23              She would tell the faculty not to
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 1 listen to me, I didn't know what I was talking
 2 about.
 3              She told --
 4        Q.    How do you know she told the
 5 faculty that?
 6        A.    I had teachers tell me.
 7        Q.    Who told you that?
 8        A.    Ms. Stone, Amanda Stone.  At the
 9 time, she was the tech coach.  And she is now
10 the assistant principal.  During testing.
11        Q.    Is that in 2010-2011?
12        A.    Yes.  And to keep this short,
13 there are many other variables with it that I
14 can talk about if you want me to, like the
15 condition that I found the school in and all
16 the issues that existed prior to my arrival.
17 And they were not things that I could leave
18 unattended.
19        Q.    And how does that go to the issue
20 of teachers telling you that Debra Smith had
21 told them not to listen to you, or does it?  I
22 want to get back to my question.
23        A.    Okay.  All right.  An example --

Page 34
 1        Q.    I asked you who were the teachers
 2 that told you that Debra --
 3        A.    An example of that would be during
 4 standardized testing -- when I arrived at that
 5 school, they had no test-secure room.  It is
 6 supposed to be -- and you have to understand,
 7 there are very specific regulations with
 8 testing.  There is supposed to be a locked door
 9 that only two people have a key to, a cabinet
10 that only two people --
11        Q.    You don't have to go into details.
12              MR. JENT:  Just what teachers told
13 you about Debra Smith.
14        A.    But like during testing, she told
15 the teachers not to listen to me, I didn't know
16 what I was talking about because they had to
17 follow testing protocol, which included
18 counting tests in and out.
19              So she said that in front of
20 third, fourth and at the time, fifth grade
21 teachers, and it was reported to me by Amanda
22 Stone.
23        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  Okay.  Anyone

Page 35
 1 other than Amanda tell you that Debra had said
 2 that?
 3        A.    Yes, I did have teachers tell me
 4 that.  I can't remember who all of them were.
 5              The other situation that I can
 6 remember specifically would have been with
 7 Jolene Bernhardt.
 8        Q.    And that was in that 2010-2011
 9 year?
10        A.    Yes.
11        Q.    And Ms. Bernhardt told you that
12 Ms. Smith told her not to listen to you because
13 you didn't know what you were talking about?
14        A.    Something very similar.  She told
15 her that -- she kind of reamed her out in the
16 parking lot one day.  Debra Smith got on Jolene
17 Bernhardt and told her that when her EEOC went
18 through, that anybody that worked with me, when
19 they threw me out -- and they would get rid of
20 me, that when they finally put me out, that she
21 would get them.  And Jolene was very upset and
22 came in my office crying.  And -- so there were
23 situations like that.

Page 36
 1        Q.    And so what, if anything, did
 2 Mr. Craig or Ms. Barber say on November 15th,
 3 2012 that made you think that Debra Smith was
 4 somehow behind the people who were after you?
 5        A.    Just when they said "They are
 6 after you," there was a faction of employees in
 7 that building that were very loyal to Debra
 8 Smith.
 9        Q.    Okay.  And Debra Smith left Trace
10 Crossings at the end of the 2010-2011 school
11 year?
12        A.    She left around mid July, 2011.
13        Q.    And went to Central Office, right?
14 You don't know where she went?
15        A.    I am assuming that was a Central
16 Office position.
17        Q.    Do you know if she applied for a
18 job or a posted job or anything about it?
19        A.    They had -- my understanding was,
20 they had promised they were going to move her
21 the year I moved in.  And no one -- none of the
22 other principals were willing to have her.  And
23 I -- I don't know the reason or anything.
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 1              And there was a situation that
 2 happened in July 2011 that they called her up,
 3 told her to pack up and --
 4        Q.    What happened in July 2011?
 5        A.    I had a brand-new floor man, one
 6 of my custodians -- part of our custodial team.
 7 And we were working really hard to get the
 8 school clean for the start of the next school
 9 year.  And Stephen worked at night.
10        Q.    What is Stephen's last name?
11        A.    Stephen -- this is when I get
12 nervous, I can't think of people's names.  I'm
13 sorry.  His last name will come to me in a
14 minute.
15        Q.    He was a custodian at Trace?
16        A.    Yes.  Yes.  And I was trying to
17 rearrange some of the rooms in the school.  And
18 the PTO didn't have a really good room, so I
19 was going to move them down the hallway to an
20 empty meeting room.
21              And I had asked the custodians to
22 clean the room out so that Stephen could do the
23 floor and we could get the PTO moved in.

Page 38
 1              When I came in that morning, and
 2 it was in July, one of my custodians, Joyce
 3 Whitt, came into my office, and she said,
 4 "Robin, you are going to be upset."  And I
 5 went, "What?"  She said, "That PTO room didn't
 6 get done."  And I said, "Why didn't it get
 7 done?"  And she said, "Because it didn't get
 8 cleaned out."  And I didn't hear it, but she
 9 told me that Dr. Smith told them to slow down
10 and not to finish cleaning it out.
11              And I said, "Well, we have got to
12 get it cleaned out."  I went upstairs with
13 her --
14        Q.    With Joyce?
15        A.    Joyce.  And Jerry, one of my other
16 male custodians -- I can't think of his last
17 name right now -- and we started cleaning the
18 room out.  And Dr. Smith was standing there
19 with her daughter doing something with
20 paperback books.
21              And I don't -- I don't recall
22 saying anything to her.  She said something to
23 the effect of, "I am working," you know, to get

Page 39
 1 the books.  And I went, "Well, I am not worried
 2 about that."  And we went to the other side of
 3 the room, started cleaning out.  We got it
 4 cleared out.
 5              Later, during the day, I was going
 6 to buy the custodians lunch.  I knocked on
 7 Dr. Smith's door, and she wouldn't answer and
 8 so I just opened the door.  I said, "Do y'all
 9 want lunch?"  And she was -- I could tell
10 something was bothering her, but she said,
11 "No."  And that is the only encounter I had
12 with her that day.
13              And then late that afternoon,
14 Carol Barber called me up, and she said,
15 "Robin, what happened with Debra Smith?"  And I
16 said, "I don't know, what happened to Debra
17 Smith?  What -- I don't know."  And she asked
18 me again, and I said, "What are you talking
19 about?"  And she said that Dr. Smith had called
20 up, I believe, Mary Veal and said that I had
21 verbally accosted her in front of her daughter.
22              And that -- I didn't -- I didn't
23 do it.  And I told her that didn't happen.  And

Page 40
 1 I said I had two other adults standing with me.
 2              And as soon as I hung up the
 3 phone, I went back to Joyce, I said, "Joyce" --
 4 Whit, I said, "Did I say something unkind, was
 5 I" -- and Joyce, she kind of laughed.  And she
 6 said, "No, Robin, you didn't do anything."  I
 7 said, "Do you remember me saying anything to
 8 her?"
 9              So that is the reasoning for me
10 assuming that -- and then when Carol said that
11 she was going to go in there and be the
12 principal and finish -- I mean, I had -- I felt
13 like I had cleaned up the lion's share of what
14 was wrong in that school operational-wise,
15 curriculum.  I mean -- but I felt like they
16 were trying to take care of me.
17        Q.    And in the meeting on the 15th,
18 neither Mr. Craig nor Ms. Barber mentioned
19 Debra Smith, correct?
20        A.    They did not use her name, no.
21        Q.    Okay.  Then you said that in the
22 meeting on November 15th in 2012, Mr. Craig
23 said something about a Board member was after
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 1 you?
 2        A.    Yes.
 3        Q.    Do you recall anything else about
 4 that?
 5        A.    No.
 6        Q.    Had you had any run-ins with any
 7 Board members?
 8        A.    No.
 9        Q.    Had you had any contact with any
10 Board members that made you think one of them
11 might not be happy with you?
12        A.    No.  I had had two Board members
13 come out to the school and they were very
14 complimentary.  In fact, there's an email, not
15 from the Board member but an email that I sent
16 the faculty after one of them came out.
17        Q.    Who were the Board members that
18 came out?
19        A.    Derrick Murphy came out multiple
20 times.  He helped me with carpool one morning.
21 And then I invited him to help me give out
22 Finley Awards the year before.
23              And he was a new Board member at

Page 42
 1 the time.  He came out, and Mr. Craig met us
 2 there -- it was my last year there -- to look
 3 at the new playground.  And I, before Mr. Craig
 4 arrived -- I am trying to think -- Presley,
 5 Mr. Presley showed him around the school.  We
 6 went into team meetings.  And --
 7        Q.    And you had a good interaction
 8 with Mr. Murphy?
 9        A.    Oh, yeah.  He said -- they both
10 said they liked the way the school felt,
11 that --
12        Q.    When you say "they both," that is
13 Mr. Murphy and Mr. Craig?
14        A.    Mr. Murphy, when he came out, was
15 very complimentary.
16        Q.    Okay.
17        A.    And then Mr. Presley, when he came
18 out, was very complimentary.
19        Q.    And Mr. Presley is another Board
20 member?
21        A.    Yes.
22        Q.    Okay.  About how long was the
23 meeting that you had with Mr. Craig and

Page 43
 1 Ms. Barber on November 15th?
 2        A.    It wasn't very long.  I can't even
 3 estimate time because I was in shock.
 4        Q.    Okay.  And then did you go back to
 5 Trace on the 16th?
 6        A.    Yes.
 7        Q.    And did you have the luncheon that
 8 you had planned?
 9        A.    Yes.  I had a -- I had four
10 luncheons a year, three or four a year for the
11 teachers that the PTO put on.
12              MR. JENT:  She just asked you if
13 you had one that day.
14        A.    Yes.  Sorry.
15        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  And then after
16 the luncheon you left?
17        A.    No, I left before it was over.
18        Q.    Okay.  And I think that you had
19 said that on the meeting on November 15th,
20 somebody had told you to send an email to your
21 staff?  Do you remember?
22        A.    I don't remember if it was
23 Ms. Barber or Mr. Craig.  One of them told me

Page 44
 1 to send the email.
 2        Q.    Okay.  And did you do that?
 3        A.    Yes.
 4        Q.    Okay.  And told them to do what?
 5        A.    That there was a mandatory faculty
 6 meeting, and that email is --
 7        Q.    Okay.  Have you been back to Trace
 8 since the 16th of November in 2012?
 9        A.    I went back that Saturday -- I
10 believe that was a Friday.  I went back
11 Saturday morning and packed and left.
12              And then I went back in one more
13 time, I think it was that Monday.  I told
14 Ms. Barber I had left some things.  And she
15 told me to wait, that she was -- I believe she
16 was having a meeting with the PTO.  So I
17 waited, and I went in, and I wasn't there five
18 minutes.
19        Q.    Just to pick up some things?
20        A.    Yes.
21        Q.    After November 16th, 2012, I have
22 read some stuff, and I am just unclear of
23 exactly what happened after that, until January
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 1 2nd.  Were you on professional leave?
 2        A.    I had a lot of vacation time and
 3 professional leave.  And they told me I had
 4 finished my coursework for my dissertation my
 5 first year -- I mean for my doctorate my first
 6 year.  And Mr. Craig and Ms. Barber gave me
 7 time -- also some professional time to work on
 8 my dissertation.
 9        Q.    Were you paid during that time?
10        A.    Yes.
11        Q.    And then at some point, you
12 started working at the Central Office, correct?
13        A.    Yes.
14        Q.    Do you remember when that was?
15        A.    It was the day after we got back
16 from the holidays.  It may have been the 2nd.
17              (Off-the-record discussion.)
18        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  And so was it
19 after the holidays you came to the Central
20 Office?
21        A.    Yes.
22        Q.    When you came to the Central
23 Office, who did you report to, if anybody?

Page 46
 1        A.    Mr. Craig.
 2        Q.    And did he give you assignments?
 3        A.    I sat for two days waiting for him
 4 to tell me what I was going to do.  He and I
 5 had met shortly after Thanksgiving at Brookwood
 6 Mall, at the coffee shop at Brookwood Mall.
 7 And he had told me that he was going to take
 8 care of me, that he was going to re -- I can't
 9 think of the word, reorganize the district in
10 the spring, and that when he did, he would take
11 care of me.
12              And I told him how important it
13 was for me to remain as a principal; I was
14 under a principal's contract.  He asked me if I
15 would accept like a director's position.  I
16 told him, you know, I would consider it.
17              So when I actually was at Central
18 Office, I had asked him repeatedly what my
19 title would be because I knew other men that
20 had been moved out of positions had been given
21 titles when they were moved out.
22              And he told me pretty much if I
23 would just be patient with him, that he was

Page 47
 1 going to take care of me.
 2              And so what I did, he just asked
 3 me if I would help him close out some things.
 4 And I helped with Safe and Drug-Free Schools.
 5 I did the -- there was a survey that I did.  I
 6 helped organize some of the coalition meetings.
 7 And that was also the time period that the
 8 shootings took place in Connecticut.
 9              And he asked me -- we talked about
10 that, and I did an environmental scanning and
11 an in-depth analysis of needs in all the
12 schools, I think except for three, for safety
13 concerns.
14        Q.    And did you close out the Safe and
15 Drug-Free Schools?
16        A.    Yes, I closed -- I had to get
17 assistance with it because it was not an area
18 that I knew a lot about.
19        Q.    Who assisted you?
20        A.    Catherine Rice and the person that
21 had been in charge of it that now works in
22 Homewood, Carissa Anthony.
23        Q.    Carissa?

Page 48
 1        A.    Carissa.  I don't know how to
 2 spell it.
 3        Q.    That is okay.
 4        A.    I had to finally get her to agree
 5 to help us out, because it -- (shaking head) --
 6 we didn't have the information we needed.
 7        Q.    And when did you ultimately get
 8 the program closed?
 9        A.    I believe I closed it right before
10 I left.
11        Q.    And right before you left, is
12 that --
13        A.    In April of '13.
14        Q.    Okay.
15        A.    The day I left, I packed
16 everything up, everything that I had been
17 working on and took it to Melody Greene.
18        Q.    And how about the safety analysis,
19 did you finish the safety analysis at all the
20 schools?
21        A.    Yes, I did.
22        Q.    Do you remember when you finished
23 those?
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 1        A.    I finished it, I would say the end
 2 of February, first of March, the first stage of
 3 it.  I felt like it was something that was like
 4 an ongoing work.  And I had reviewed the
 5 findings with Mr. Craig a couple of times.
 6        Q.    Was that something where you
 7 assessed the school, and then make
 8 recommendations?
 9        A.    Yes.  An environmental scan is
10 something before you do a strategic plan, where
11 I went out and worked with principals and
12 faculty on the areas of their schools that they
13 felt needed to be looked at.
14        Q.    You said you helped organize
15 coalition meetings?
16        A.    Yes.
17        Q.    What is a coalition meeting?
18        A.    It is part of the Safe and
19 Drug-Free Schools.  I don't know if they still
20 have it.  I think it was a multiyear grant.
21        Q.    Anything else that you did at the
22 Central Office between January and when you
23 left in April?

Page 50
 1        A.    Not that I can think of right now.
 2 I mean, I just pretty much was there to do
 3 whatever he asked me to do.
 4        Q.    You said that Mr. Craig had told
 5 you that he was going to take care of you and
 6 that he was reorganizing the district in the
 7 spring when you met at Brookwood.
 8        A.    Right.
 9        Q.    Any other meetings that you had
10 with Mr. Craig in which he told you he was
11 going to take care of you or his plans for you?
12        A.    Oh, there were a couple of times.
13 When I met with Mr. Craig at O'Henry's, we met
14 for an hour and a half.
15        Q.    And that is the meeting at the
16 coffee shop at Brookwood?
17        A.    Right.
18        Q.    Okay.
19        A.    It was after the article came out
20 in the paper about strife in a school, and I
21 was upset about that.  And he called me and
22 told me he would meet with me.
23        Q.    And you met for about an hour and

Page 51
 1 a half, you said?
 2        A.    It was a long time.
 3        Q.    Did you have any other meetings
 4 with Mr. Craig, other than the meeting at
 5 Brookwood --
 6        A.    Just informal --
 7        Q.    Sorry -- before you came to work
 8 at the Central Office?  Was that the only
 9 meeting that you had with him?
10        A.    Yes.
11        Q.    Did you have any telephone
12 conversations with him that you can recall?
13        A.    No, just emails.
14        Q.    Did you meet with Ms. Barber
15 during that time period, from November 16th
16 until you reported to work at the Central
17 Office?
18        A.    Yes.  She came in the morning of
19 the 16th, after they told me they were moving
20 me, she said to check on me.  And --
21        Q.    And that is before you had left
22 the school?
23        A.    Before I had left the school.  She

Page 52
 1 reassured me that I had done nothing, that she
 2 was going to take care of the remaining
 3 problems that may have existed in the school,
 4 that -- at one point, I looked at her -- and I
 5 had been very stoic about the whole thing, but
 6 I looked at her, and I said, "Why are -- why is
 7 this being done to me?"  And she looked at me,
 8 and she kind of teared up and she said, "What
 9 about me?  Look at what they are doing to me."
10              And at that point, I thought, you
11 know, I don't know what -- I didn't know what
12 was going on.  I didn't know whether her move
13 to Trace was -- I didn't know the context of
14 why she was being moved there.  But that
15 statement made me think there was more to it,
16 and it wasn't my business.  So I -- and she
17 assured me -- I met with her again that next
18 morning.
19        Q.    I want to stick to --
20        A.    Okay.
21        Q.    -- the first conversation.
22        A.    First meeting.
23        Q.    You are at Trace.
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 1        A.    I am at Trace.
 2        Q.    In your office?
 3        A.    In my office.  She -- she just
 4 assured me that it was okay.  And I mean, and
 5 understand, my mindset is I am a very compliant
 6 employee, worked for Hoover for over twenty
 7 years, and I did what my supervisors told me to
 8 do.
 9        Q.    Okay.  So then you said that you
10 and Carol met again that day?
11        A.    That Saturday morning -- and this
12 conversation happened at both points, where she
13 told me that -- she said, "Robin, you are going
14 to be in the school.  Nothing is going to
15 change.  I want these teachers to see you in
16 here working with me."  And I did help her at
17 that time, I said, "I don't know if I can come
18 back in right away.  I have got to have some
19 time."  I said, "I am going to have to meet you
20 off campus or something."  And that never
21 happened.
22        Q.    That you never met her off campus
23 or that you never went back to Trace?

Page 54
 1        A.    I never went back to Trace.  That
 2 next morning, I got up, that was the 17th, I
 3 believe it was a Saturday, I got up about 4:00
 4 in the morning, and I went over to pack up.  I
 5 just couldn't sleep, so -- at some point, the
 6 PTO president came and had only been there a
 7 few minutes -- her name is Kristi Tolbert.  She
 8 had been a teacher in the school; I have known
 9 her for a very long time.  And she came up to
10 check on me.
11              And Carol came in, and before she
12 left, I walked Carol to the door, and she told
13 me that three people had their hand in me being
14 moved.  She said that Dot Riley, Debra Smith
15 and Amanda Stone.  And she said, "Robin, don't
16 worry, I am going to take care of everything."
17              And I trusted her and left.
18        Q.    And so this is Ms. Barber who told
19 you that the three people who had a hand in
20 getting you moved from Trace were Dot Riley,
21 Debra Smith and I'm sorry, the third was --
22        A.    Amanda Stone.
23        Q.    -- Amanda Stone, who was the

Page 55
 1 assistant principal?
 2        A.    Yes.
 3        Q.    At that time, do you know what
 4 Debra Smith's position was?
 5        A.    She coordinated standardized
 6 testing for the district, and I -- she may have
 7 had some other responsibilities.  I don't know.
 8        Q.    What was Dot Riley's position at
 9 that time, do you know?
10        A.    She was retired.
11        Q.    And that, Ms. Barber told you that
12 on that Saturday?
13        A.    That Saturday.  It wasn't in front
14 of Kristi.  It was when I walked her to the
15 door.  The three of us sat in my office and
16 talked for a period of time.  Ms. Tolbert was
17 upset.
18        Q.    After that meeting on Saturday
19 morning, did you have any other meetings with
20 Ms. Barber before you started reporting to work
21 at the Central Office?
22        A.    Face-to-face, not that I recall,
23 no.

Page 56
 1        Q.    Did you have any telephone
 2 conversations with her?
 3        A.    I think we had several, and there
 4 were emails.
 5        Q.    So you emailed with Ms. Barber and
 6 you talked to her on the phone during that time
 7 period between November 17th and January 2nd?
 8        A.    I believe it was mainly emails,
 9 but there were some phone conversations.  We
10 had a phone conversation on, I think it was the
11 20th, when the newspaper article came out.
12        Q.    That is November 20th?
13        A.    The 20th or the 21st, because I
14 didn't see it until late in the evening, if
15 that is the date that it came out, I think it
16 was the 20th.
17        Q.    And tell me about your phone
18 conversation with Carol Barber on the 20th or
19 the 21st when you discussed the newspaper
20 article.
21        A.    I was, at the time, very confused
22 because I didn't realize that a second email
23 had gone out that I wasn't on the distribution
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 1 list.  The first email that went out stated
 2 what we had agreed on -- and we did talk about
 3 that before I left that meeting on the 15th,
 4 that -- I asked them what would be said, and we
 5 agreed that I was -- had been inquiring about
 6 other jobs at Central Office, and she had been
 7 wanting to get back in the school, and that is
 8 what people would be told.  And I believe the
 9 faculty was told something similar to that.
10        Q.    So on the November 15th meeting,
11 you agreed on a message?
12        A.    Yeah.  It was something to that
13 effect.
14        Q.    To the faculty and --
15        A.    Yes.
16        Q.    And kind of a public message?
17        A.    Yes.
18        Q.    Okay.
19        A.    And the email went -- I'm sorry.
20        Q.    That is okay.
21              (Defendant's Exhibit 1 was marked
22              for identification.)
23        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  I am going to

Page 58
 1 hand you what has been marked Defendant's
 2 Exhibit 1 to your deposition.
 3              MR. JENT:  Thank you.
 4        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  Is this the
 5 email that went out that had that message that
 6 had been agreed upon during the November 15th
 7 meeting?
 8        A.    Yes.
 9        Q.    Okay.  And the distribution list
10 for this, do you know who put together the
11 distribution list or how the people were
12 decided to be included?
13        A.    It -- she sent the email, so I am
14 assuming it was her distribution list for, it
15 looks like Central Office staff, principals,
16 administrators maybe, I mean, just any
17 administrative, clerical maybe.
18        Q.    Okay.  And you are on that list as
19 well, correct?
20        A.    Yes.  And I am on this.
21        Q.    Okay.  Is there anything in this
22 email that you think is inappropriate or that
23 shouldn't have been said in this email?

Page 59
 1              (Pause.)
 2        A.    Other than the fact it ultimately
 3 isn't -- didn't -- it wasn't why I was moved.
 4 It was something that, after I read it, I mean
 5 I just thought well, I will just have to live
 6 with that, yeah.
 7        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  But this was
 8 the message that was agreed upon on November
 9 15th?
10        A.    Yes, to my recollection, yes.
11        Q.    Okay.  Then you said that there
12 was a second email that went out.
13        A.    Yes.
14              (Defendant's Exhibit 2 was marked
15              for identification.)
16        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  I am handing
17 you what has been marked Defendant's Exhibit 2
18 to your deposition.  Is this the second email,
19 the one from Carol Barber that is in the middle
20 of the first page of Defendant's Exhibit 2, is
21 this the second email you are talking about?
22        A.    Yes.
23        Q.    And then I know that in

Page 60
 1 Defendant's Exhibit 2, there's another copy of
 2 the email that is Defendant's Exhibit 1,
 3 correct?
 4        A.    Yes.  When I finally figured
 5 out -- I couldn't figure out what email they
 6 were referring to in the newspaper article,
 7 because I didn't get it.  I was taken off
 8 the -- if it was her distribution list, I was
 9 taken off of it.  And I asked Deborah Camp if
10 she had gotten an email, and she said yes.  And
11 I asked her if she could forward it to me so I
12 could see what it was.
13        Q.    And I am looking at Defendant's
14 Exhibit 2.  And is Deborah Camp on this
15 distribution list, do you see?
16        A.    Apparently she was.  Now, I do
17 feel like with it being forwarded, something
18 may have been lost.
19        Q.    Okay.
20        A.    And the -- you know.
21        Q.    Ms. Camp told you she had received
22 it?
23        A.    Yes, Dr. Camp, yes.
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Page 61
 1        Q.    And she sent it to you?
 2        A.    Yes.
 3        Q.    Okay.  And on Defendant's Exhibit
 4 2, on the front page, there's a handwritten
 5 note.  Is that your note?  Is that your
 6 handwriting?
 7        A.    Yes.
 8        Q.    And then on the second page, there
 9 are some markings and another note.  Those are
10 your markings and your note?
11        A.    Yes.
12        Q.    Did you talk to Carol about why
13 she didn't copy you on this email that is
14 Defendant's Exhibit 2?
15        A.    No.
16        Q.    And in the email, on the second
17 page of Defendant's Exhibit 2, where it has got
18 the asterisk written in --
19        A.    Uh-huh.
20        Q.    -- where it says, "My first
21 challenge will be to try to restore some
22 respect of positive climate/culture to this
23 school."

Page 62
 1              Why did you underline that section
 2 and make that asterisk?
 3        A.    Because I found that statement to
 4 be real -- not true.
 5        Q.    What about that statement is not
 6 true?
 7        A.    There were issues in the school
 8 that were preexisting before I got there, and
 9 they had progressively gotten better.  And to
10 characterize that school in that manner was --
11 I just -- it just wasn't right.
12        Q.    And I am going to back you up.  So
13 the statement that her first challenge will be
14 to try to "restore some aspect of positive
15 climate/culture to this school," you believe
16 that that is not accurate?
17        A.    Yes.  I had never been talked to
18 about any -- that was not something that I had
19 ever been talked to about.
20        Q.    Okay.  So you believed that there
21 was a positive climate or a culture at this
22 school already?
23        A.    I believe the climate and the

Page 63
 1 situation at Trace Crossings had gotten
 2 progressively better under my leadership.
 3        Q.    Okay.  And in November of 2012, do
 4 you believe that there was a good culture and a
 5 positive climate at Trace Crossings?
 6        A.    I believe that the culture and the
 7 climate for a school that had just undergone
 8 what we had undergone, it was -- it wasn't as
 9 described in this email.
10        Q.    Where in the email --
11        A.    Am I going to see --
12        Q.    Where in the email?  And I am just
13 looking at this one place that you had marked.
14 Is there someplace else in this email that you
15 take issue with about the description of Trace
16 as a school or the climate?
17        A.    Yeah.  Where it says --
18        Q.    And you are looking at the first
19 page of Defendant's Exhibit 2?
20        A.    The first page, yes.  The first --
21 that second paragraph where she starts, "Robin
22 did exactly what we asked her to do, to hold
23 teachers and staff at Trace Crossings, TC,

Page 64
 1 accountable for high standards related to job
 2 performance.  As Robin unraveled the layers and
 3 layers of issues, feathers were ruffled,
 4 feelings were hurt, people started arguing
 5 oftentimes among themselves, lots of
 6 back-stabbing and throwing people under the
 7 bus.  In a nut shell, extremely low morale,
 8 poor climate and negative culture."
 9        Q.    You don't believe that that is
10 accurate?
11        A.    I don't believe that is accurate,
12 and I am not sure how she would be able to come
13 to that conclusion.
14              Every time she came out, and I
15 invited her to come to team meetings and
16 events, she was always very complimentary.
17        Q.    Do you know if, in holding
18 teachers and staff at Trace Crossings
19 accountable for high standards, whether or not
20 you had ruffled any teachers' or staff's
21 feathers?
22        A.    Starting in 2010, when they were
23 held accountable to the same standards that
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Page 65
 1 other teachers in Hoover were held accountable
 2 to, yes, some of them were not pleased --
 3        Q.    Okay.
 4        A.    -- with -- but I never asked them
 5 to do anything that any other teacher in Hoover
 6 or across the state of Alabama weren't expected
 7 to do.
 8        Q.    And so in 2010, when you first
 9 arrived, you would agree that feathers were
10 ruffled?
11        A.    Were people upset about being held
12 accountable?  Yes.
13        Q.    Okay.
14        A.    I would assume they were, some of
15 them.
16        Q.    And people who were being held
17 accountable under your leadership, do you think
18 any of their feelings were hurt?
19        A.    You know, I don't know.
20        Q.    Okay.
21        A.    I am a very -- I talk to teachers
22 a lot.  I tell them to tell me how they are
23 feeling about things.  Some of the changes were

Page 66
 1 hard for them.  I am very sympathetic to that,
 2 and they knew it.  They were asked to do some
 3 things they had never had to do before, turn in
 4 lesson plans, teach to the written curriculum.
 5 So it was -- I was told to go into the school
 6 and fix these things, and I did it, I felt like
 7 with a lot of compassion.
 8        Q.    Okay.  And in Ms. Barber's email
 9 that is marked Defendant's Exhibit 2, she says,
10 "Robin did exactly what we asked her to do," so
11 you would agree with that, correct?
12        A.    That I did what they asked me to
13 do in terms of the holding teachers
14 accountable, yes.
15        Q.    Correct.  And what you disagree
16 with in Defendant's Exhibit 2 -- that is what I
17 am trying to get to, is what in Defendant's
18 Exhibit 2 do you disagree with?
19        A.    I disagree with the way it was
20 characterized.  It makes it look like there was
21 a chaotic -- the term "strife" that was used in
22 the newspaper article.
23        Q.    Does Ms. Barber's email use the

Page 67
 1 term "strife"?
 2        A.    I don't know.  I will have to read
 3 it.  I'm not reading it word for word.  It may
 4 or may not be in here.
 5        Q.    Okay.  But you know that the term
 6 "strife" was used in the newspaper article?
 7        A.    Yes.
 8        Q.    In the newspaper article that you
 9 are referring to, they kept referring back to
10 an email from Carol Barber, correct?
11        A.    Yes.
12        Q.    And you believe that Defendant's
13 Exhibit 2 is the email that they were referring
14 to?
15        A.    Yes, because it quotes parts of
16 it.
17        Q.    Okay.  Do you know who gave
18 Defendant's Exhibit 2, this email --
19        A.    No.
20        Q.    -- to the reporter?
21              MR. JENT:  Let her finish.
22        A.    I thought you were finished.  I am
23 doing pretty good, though.

Page 68
 1        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  So do you know
 2 who gave the November --
 3        A.    No.
 4        Q.    -- 18th, 2012 email from Carol
 5 Barber to the newspaper reporter?
 6        A.    No.
 7        Q.    Okay.  Do you know if any teachers
 8 at Trace Crossings had reported to the Central
 9 Office that the morale at Trace Crossings was
10 very low?
11        A.    At that time, no.
12        Q.    Okay.  At that time did you or do
13 you know -- let me back that up.  Let me try
14 that again.
15              Do you know if any teachers at
16 Trace Crossings had reported that there was a
17 poor climate and a negative culture at Trace
18 Crossings?
19        A.    Prior to my removal, no.
20        Q.    Okay.  Do you know if any teachers
21 or staff at Trace Crossings had complained of
22 back-stabbing or people being thrown under the
23 bus?
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Page 69
 1        A.    No.
 2        Q.    Okay.  Is there anything else in
 3 the November 18th, 2012 email from Carol Barber
 4 that is marked as Defendant's Exhibit 2 that
 5 you believe is inaccurate or not truthful?
 6        A.    "Once respect and trust are lost,
 7 it becomes a lost battle.  When the good
 8 teachers begin to complain, and threatening to
 9 leave due to lack of trust and respect" -- I'm
10 not real sure how Carol Barber would know who
11 the good teachers in the building were.  And
12 "it became apparent we had to make some type of
13 change."
14              The fact that, if this was going
15 on and it was never brought to my attention, I
16 was never given any corrective means or told
17 anything about this until I was pulled in on
18 the 15th, you know, I mean -- I was -- I
19 didn't -- okay.
20        Q.    Do you know if any teachers at
21 Trace Crossings were threatening to leave?
22        A.    There were teachers that I think
23 had put in for transfers the year before, but I

Page 70
 1 don't know that I would consider that a threat
 2 to leave.
 3        Q.    Do you remember who had put in for
 4 transfers the year before?
 5        A.    I know that Lea Underwood, she
 6 lives in Greystone, and she said she wanted to
 7 be closer.  I believe Stella White had put in,
 8 both full years that I was there.
 9              There were like the last full year
10 I was in, like Ellen Anson, who was
11 self-contained.  She wanted a -- the wheelchair
12 bound children over at Rocky Ridge.  So that
13 was -- you know, I had that, those kinds of
14 moves, professional moves.  They weren't for
15 reasons like you are referring to.
16        Q.    I am just asking, did you have
17 anybody who had put in for transfers.  I wasn't
18 trying to suggest any motive.
19        A.    Oh, okay.
20        Q.    I am just asking.
21        A.    Oh, that had put in for transfers,
22 yes.  And some of them may have put in, and I
23 wasn't made aware of it.

Page 71
 1        Q.    One of your claims in this
 2 lawsuit --
 3              MR. JENT:  Before you start the
 4 next topic, can I get a glass of water or
 5 something?
 6              (Off-the-record discussion.)
 7              (Whereupon, a break was had from
 8              11:27 p.m. until 11:37 p.m.)
 9              (Record read.)
10        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  Okay.  So
11 let's get back on course.  Ms. Litaker, one of
12 your claims in this lawsuit are that Andy Craig
13 and Carol Barber libeled or slandered you.
14        A.    Yes.
15        Q.    And I am looking at Page 9 of your
16 Complaint.
17        A.    Yes.
18        Q.    And in Paragraph 44, it says,
19 "Barber sent an email to all administrators,
20 except for plaintiff, who she excluded from the
21 distribution list, and Central Office
22 employees, stating that the plaintiff was
23 removed because of strife in the school."

Page 72
 1              Is the email that Paragraph 44 of
 2 the Complaint refers to Defendant's Exhibit 2,
 3 that email that we just talked about?
 4        A.    Yes.
 5        Q.    Do you know if there was anyone
 6 who was on the list for Defendant's Exhibit 1
 7 who was not on the list for Defendant's Exhibit
 8 2, other than you?
 9        A.    That, I don't know.
10        Q.    Okay.  And further on in Paragraph
11 44, it says, "This email was given to an al.com
12 reporter and subsequently published in the
13 paper."  And you have told me that you don't
14 know how the al.com reporter got it, correct?
15        A.    Correct.
16        Q.    In Paragraph 45 of your Complaint,
17 it says, "When the plaintiff asked Defendant
18 Craig why he had allowed Barber to write
19 something that was not true, he chuckled and
20 said, 'I don't know why Carol does things like
21 that.'  He acknowledged to the plaintiff that
22 the statement was not true; however, he did
23 nothing to correct the issue."
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Page 73
 1              First of all, what statement are
 2 you referring to that was not true?
 3        A.    Just the overall general
 4 understanding that there -- "However, as Robin
 5 unraveled the layers and layers of issues,
 6 feathers were ruffled, feathers began" -- the
 7 overall statement of that, that there was that
 8 extreme -- that people were arguing in the
 9 school, that type of thing.
10        Q.    You believe that that is untrue?
11        A.    To my knowledge, yes, that is
12 untrue.
13        Q.    Okay.  And when you say, "He
14 acknowledged to the plaintiff that the
15 statement was not true," when did Mr. Craig
16 tell you that he disagreed with any statement
17 in Ms. Barber's email?
18        A.    The meeting that I had with him at
19 the coffee shop at Brookwood Mall.  I believe
20 it is O'Henry's.
21        Q.    Did you have a copy of
22 Ms. Barber's email when you met with Mr. Craig?
23        A.    At that time, I don't believe I

Page 74
 1 had been able to get a copy of the email but I
 2 am not sure.  I may have had one by then.
 3        Q.    I know that the date on the email
 4 from Ms. Camp to you is November 19th, 2012.
 5 Do you believe you had it on November 19th,
 6 2012?
 7        A.    I had it after the article came
 8 out.  I didn't realize it existed until the
 9 article came out.  So maybe that is --
10        Q.    At the meeting with Mr. Craig at
11 the coffee shop --
12        A.    Uh-huh.
13        Q.    -- did you bring a copy of the
14 email with you?
15        A.    No.
16        Q.    Did Mr. Craig have a copy of the
17 email with him?
18        A.    He sent me an email, and I have it
19 in there, that said, "I don't" -- it is
20 something to the effect of, "I don't know, I am
21 confused also."  And he called me and we met
22 after Thanksgiving.
23        Q.    And that is when you met at

Page 75
 1 O'Henry's?
 2        A.    Yes.
 3        Q.    And at O'Henry's, did you
 4 specifically discuss the email that is
 5 Defendant's Exhibit 2?
 6        A.    We discussed the newspaper article
 7 as it referenced the email.
 8        Q.    Okay.  And when you discussed the
 9 newspaper article, did Mr. Craig tell you that
10 he believed that the statements in the
11 newspaper article that were attributed to Carol
12 Barber were not true?
13        A.    Yes.
14        Q.    Tell me exactly what he said.
15        A.    He said -- I said, "Andy,"
16 something to the effect, "I don't understand
17 what is going on.  This is not true.  This has
18 ruined my reputation."
19              I was upset about the perception
20 this was going to have on my reputation.  And
21 he said, "I know.  Robin, I am going to fix it.
22 I am going to rebuild your reputation.  I am
23 going to take care of you."

Page 76
 1        Q.    Did he say anything else?
 2        A.    About that topic, about the email
 3 and the newspaper article?
 4        Q.    Yes.
 5        A.    Not after he assured me that he
 6 was going to take care of me.
 7        Q.    He was going to rebuild your
 8 reputation?
 9        A.    Yes.
10        Q.    Okay.  Let me back up.  So he
11 didn't say that any particular statement in
12 Ms. Barber's email was untrue?  Am I right
13 about that?
14        A.    Let me follow what you are saying.
15 Did he say there was any truth to --
16        Q.    What I am trying to get to the
17 bottom of, Ms. Litaker, is in Paragraph 45 of
18 your Complaint, it says that "he acknowledged
19 to the plaintiff that the statement was not
20 true."
21              And I want to know what he said to
22 acknowledge that the statement wasn't true.
23        A.    I said, "Andy, I don't know
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 1 what -- you know, this is not true."  He
 2 said -- he laughed and he said -- he just kind
 3 of chuckled, he didn't do it in a disrespectful
 4 way or anything.  He said, "I don't know why
 5 Carol does things like that.  I know.  I am
 6 going to take care of you, I am going to
 7 rebuild your reputation" -- that is not a
 8 quote.  But he acknowledged by saying, "I know,
 9 I don't know why Carol does things like this."
10        Q.    Did he tell you whether or not
11 Carol was going to send the email before she
12 sent it?
13        A.    I don't have knowledge of that.
14        Q.    Okay.  In Paragraph 46 of your
15 Complaint, it says, "The final statement is
16 untrue and unfounded."  Is that referring to
17 the statement that "faculty started arguing and
18 back-stabbing one another, leading to extremely
19 low morale, a poor climate and negative
20 culture"?
21        A.    Yes.
22        Q.    And then it states, "There was not
23 extremely low morale or a poor climate or a

Page 78
 1 negative culture at this school."  So you take
 2 issue that there was any morale problem or poor
 3 climate or a negative culture at the school,
 4 correct?
 5        A.    With any -- yes, I take -- you
 6 are -- say that again.
 7        Q.    I am trying to, again, look back
 8 on Paragraph 46 of your Complaint where it
 9 says, "There was not extremely low morale or a
10 poor climate or a negative culture at the
11 school."
12              You believed that there was not
13 extremely low morale or a poor climate or a
14 negative culture at the school, correct?
15        A.    Extremely, yeah.  I --
16        Q.    Okay.  Do you believe there was
17 low morale?
18        A.    We had just not made AYP, adequate
19 yearly progress.  We were all upset about that,
20 but we were all working together to remedy that
21 situation.
22        Q.    So you believe that there was low
23 morale at the school, but that the reason was

Page 79
 1 because the school hadn't made AYP?
 2        A.    I didn't say there was low morale.
 3 I said the morale -- I would put it, it had
 4 affected all of us.
 5        Q.    Had it affected the morale?
 6        A.    I'm not trying not to answer your
 7 question.  It is a hard question to answer.
 8 Day-to-day, no.  But like was it a cloud
 9 hanging over all of us?  Yeah, we knew it was
10 there.  And again, I'm not trying not to answer
11 your question.
12        Q.    So if there are people who say
13 that there was low morale at Trace Crossings
14 during this time, would you disagree with that?
15        A.    Yes, because morale is affected by
16 a lot of different variables.
17        Q.    I am not asking about the cause --
18        A.    Yes.  Yes.
19        Q.    -- of any morale problem.
20        A.    With reason.
21        Q.    I am simply asking whether or not
22 you would dispute that there was low morale at
23 Trace Crossings, regardless of the reasoning

Page 80
 1 for it.
 2        A.    Yes.
 3              MS. YUENGERT:  And I'm sorry.
 4 Could you read that back to me?  I got lost in
 5 it.
 6              (Record read.)
 7        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  Before you
 8 left Trace Crossings, did you have any teachers
 9 who were at odds with one another?
10        A.    I had a fourth grade teacher that
11 was not wanting to plan with her team.
12        Q.    Who was that?
13        A.    Dana Joiner.
14        Q.    And what, if anything, did you do
15 to address that?
16        A.    I had just become aware of it
17 right before I left.  She told her team that
18 she did not have to plan with them, that the
19 only person she had to plan with was Amanda
20 Stone, the assistant principal.
21              I addressed it with Amanda and I
22 addressed it with Dana and told them that was
23 not an option.
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Page 81
 1        Q.    Did you talk to Carol Barber about
 2 the issues about Dana Joiner?
 3        A.    Did I?
 4        Q.    Yes.
 5        A.    No.
 6        Q.    Did you ever tell Carol that you
 7 thought that there was an inappropriate
 8 relationship between Dana and Amanda?
 9        A.    Yes.
10        Q.    When did you tell her that?
11        A.    The summer before.
12        Q.    So in the summer of 2012?
13        A.    Yes.
14        Q.    And tell me what you told Carol
15 about an inappropriate relationship between
16 Dana Joiner and Amanda Stone.
17        A.    I just felt that she showed
18 extreme favoritism.
19        Q.    That is Amanda?
20        A.    Amanda -- I'm sorry, yes, Amanda
21 did, to Dana, provided technology that the
22 other teachers didn't get, that it was supposed
23 to be for everyone, but when it came down to

Page 82
 1 it, it was just for Dana and it caused -- that,
 2 I believe, was the beginning of her not wanting
 3 to plan with her team.
 4        Q.    Was there some unrest among the
 5 fourth grade teachers during this time?
 6        A.    During -- right before I left?
 7        Q.    Yeah, in that semester.
 8        A.    I called a meeting -- and I don't
 9 have the date.  It was right before I left --
10 about Space Camp.  And that was when I really
11 realized they were having some -- Dana was
12 having an issue planning with them.
13        Q.    And when you say "a meeting," was
14 that just with the fourth grade teachers?
15        A.    Fourth grade teachers.  It was
16 about Space Camp, so I had my bookkeeper in the
17 room.
18        Q.    And is that Ms. Drake?
19        A.    Yes, Debbie Drake.
20        Q.    And that is the first indication
21 you had that Ms. Joiner wasn't planning with
22 the rest of the fourth grade team?
23        A.    That she wasn't wanting to plan

Page 83
 1 with them, yes.
 2        Q.    And then did you just meet with
 3 her and tell her that she had to?
 4        A.    During the meeting, she said
 5 something to the effect, "I don't" -- that she
 6 didn't need to work with anybody but Amanda.
 7 And I told her in that meeting, I said, "Well,
 8 Dana, that is not an option.  We are all here
 9 to work together."
10              And the other team members and the
11 male teacher was not there.  They were very
12 cordial to her, and when we left the meeting, I
13 felt like we had resolved --
14        Q.    Who were the other team members in
15 that fourth grade group?
16        A.    It was Rhonda Vines, Stephanie
17 Watson, Christine Stephens and -- those three
18 were in the meeting.
19        Q.    And who is the male teacher who
20 was not there?
21        A.    Dean Addison.
22        Q.    Other than this meeting that you
23 said resolved pretty well --

Page 84
 1        A.    I felt like it did.
 2        Q.    -- did you have any other
 3 indication that the fourth grade teachers were
 4 not working well together?
 5        A.    No.
 6        Q.    Did you ever have a meeting with
 7 the fourth grade team where you -- well, let me
 8 strike that.
 9              Other than the November 18th email
10 that we have discussed that is marked as
11 Defendant's Exhibit 2, is there any other
12 comment or publication from Carol Barber that
13 you believe was slanderous or libelous?
14        A.    Other than things that were sent
15 directly to me, no.
16        Q.    When you say "other than things
17 sent directly to you," what do you mean?
18        A.    Well, I don't believe it would be
19 slander or libel that she, after I left, began
20 to send me emails asking for information that
21 was either at the school or that I had left for
22 her.  And I felt that some of it could have
23 been resolved by just sitting down with me,
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 1 like -- so we could have transitioned
 2 appropriately.
 3        Q.    You said that she would ask about
 4 information that you had left at the school for
 5 her --
 6        A.    Yes.
 7        Q.    -- do you believe that she was
 8 sending you these emails just in spite of the
 9 fact that she had the things that she was
10 looking for?
11        A.    I don't know.  That, I don't know.
12 It is just like the questions could have been
13 resolved quickly.
14        Q.    And so you thought it was
15 ineffective for her to send an email asking
16 about this information?
17        A.    Sending an email asking for the
18 CIP when it was on the school website --
19        Q.    What is a CIP?
20        A.    Continuous Improvement Plan.
21        Q.    Did you just tell her it was on
22 the school website?
23        A.    Yes.  And there was a password.

Page 86
 1        Q.    And did --
 2        A.    To review it, you could go onto
 3 the school website or you could use your
 4 password to access it.
 5        Q.    And so when she asked about the
 6 CIP you told her it was on the website.  And
 7 did she ask about it after that?
 8        A.    I included some emails.  Yeah,
 9 there were several other things that I felt
10 like she was -- it was looking like I hadn't
11 completed or done some things that had already
12 been done in the building.
13        Q.    So do you think that she had
14 information that showed that you had done
15 things, and that she was acting like she didn't
16 have the information?
17        A.    I can't answer that.  I mean, all
18 I know is I did not feel like we transitioned
19 appropriately.  And I left her extensive files
20 and information.
21        Q.    But as part of that, you don't
22 think that that was defamatory, correct?
23        A.    I --

Page 87
 1              MR. JENT:  Just object to the
 2 extent that she knows the legal meaning of the
 3 term.
 4              MS. YUENGERT:  Understood.
 5        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  I am asking
 6 what you know.  What I am trying to find out
 7 is, you have brought a claim against Ms. Barber
 8 saying that she has defamed you, that she has
 9 said false and defamatory statements.  And we
10 have talked about what you believe was false or
11 defamatory in Defendant's Exhibit 2.
12              I am just trying to find out, is
13 there anything else that you, in this lawsuit,
14 are claiming that Ms. Barber said or wrote,
15 that was false or defamatory?
16        A.    If any of those emails asking me
17 for materials that were in the school and for
18 deadlines and things like that, that were met,
19 were shared with anyone else, yes.
20        Q.    But you don't know if Ms. Barber
21 didn't have those materials when she asked you
22 those questions?
23        A.    Those materials were there.
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 1        Q.    But you don't know if she had them
 2 in her hands and was still sending you emails
 3 asking you about them, do you?
 4        A.    At one point, she sent me an email
 5 and said she had the test materials.
 6        Q.    Okay.
 7        A.    It was obvious.
 8        Q.    So do you think that she was doing
 9 that just to be mean-spirited?
10        A.    She may have been.  I can't answer
11 that.  It was very odd.
12        Q.    In your discovery responses, in
13 response to Interrogatory Number 7, you
14 state -- and here is a copy.  That is the
15 Complaint.
16        A.    Do you want this back?
17        Q.    We will get back to that.
18              In response to Interrogatory
19 Number 7, which is on Page 6, I had asked you
20 to identify each and every statement made about
21 you by any current or former employee of the
22 Board or current or former member of the Hoover
23 Board that you claim is defamatory.

Case 2:14-cv-02176-MHH   Document 21-1   Filed 01/15/16   Page 23 of 135



Robin Litaker 23

Tyler Eaton Morgan Nichols & Pritchett 877-373-3660

Page 89
 1              In response to that, if you will
 2 look at the next to last entry on Page 6, where
 3 it says, "I have been referenced in zoning
 4 meetings."  Do you see that?
 5        A.    What number is that?
 6        Q.    It is on Page 6.
 7        A.    Oh, on 6, yes.
 8        Q.    And in response, what it says is,
 9 "I have been referenced in zoning meetings,
10 neighbor of Carol Barber's stated at a zoning
11 meeting that I had left the school in 'a mess'
12 and she knew this because Carol told her."
13              Who is the neighbor of Carol
14 Barber's that told you about this?
15        A.    I don't know the neighbor.  I
16 was -- it was the Bluff Park zoning meeting.
17        Q.    Do you remember when the Bluff
18 Park zoning meeting was that this statement was
19 allegedly made?
20        A.    It was during the zoning stuff
21 they went through before Andy Craig left
22 Hoover.
23        Q.    So who told you what was said at
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 1 the zoning meeting?
 2        A.    I don't -- I don't remember.
 3 Somebody that was at the meeting.  I --
 4        Q.    So someone who was at the meeting
 5 told you that Carol Barber said that you had
 6 left Trace Crossings in a mess?
 7        A.    Uh-huh, that the previous
 8 principal had left the school in a mess.
 9        Q.    Was it reported to you that
10 Ms. Barber said anything other than that the
11 previous principal had left the school in a
12 mess?
13        A.    That is what I was told.
14        Q.    Was it reported to you that Carol
15 Barber mentioned your name in this statement?
16        A.    That, I don't know.
17              MS. YUENGERT:  Now is a good time
18 to take a break for lunch.
19              (Off-the-record discussion.)
20              (Whereupon, a lunch break was had
21              from 12:07 p.m. until 1:10 p.m.)
22        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  Ms. Litaker,
23 before lunch, I was asking you some questions
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 1 about your libel and slander claim.  And I
 2 wanted to kind of close that out.  You told me
 3 about your conversation with Andy Craig in
 4 which he commented about he didn't know why
 5 Carol did those things, referring to the email
 6 that she had sent.
 7        A.    (Nodding.)
 8        Q.    Other than that comment, is there
 9 any comment or written something from Andy
10 Craig that you believe was libelous or
11 slanderous about you?
12        A.    I believe that his inaction, when
13 given the opportunity to respond to the
14 newspaper article, when even in meetings like
15 the one at Bluff Park, he could have given some
16 clarification on that --
17        Q.    But that is a failure to say
18 something rather than an actual statement,
19 correct?
20        A.    Yes.  And when a School Board
21 member says that I had been put on probation,
22 that leads me to believe that that is what they
23 had been told.  And I had never been put on any
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 1 probation.
 2        Q.    And you said that leads you to
 3 believe, but you don't know who would have told
 4 them that, correct?
 5        A.    The School Board -- he reports
 6 directly to the School Board.
 7        Q.    Do you have any information --
 8        A.    No.
 9        Q.    -- that Andy Craig told the School
10 Board that you had been put on probation?
11        A.    Sorry, no.
12        Q.    Okay.  Anything else that you
13 believe that Andy Craig said or wrote that you
14 believe is libelous or slanderous?
15        A.    Not that I am aware of.
16        Q.    In Paragraph 47 of your Complaint,
17 it says, "As a result of Defendant's deliberate
18 libel and slander, plaintiff was caused to
19 suffer not only certain monetary losses but was
20 also caused to suffer severe emotional distress
21 and pain."
22              What monetary losses did you
23 suffer as a result of Carol Barber's or Andy
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 1 Craig's deliberate libel and slander of you?
 2        A.    I may not be able to list all of
 3 them off the top of my head.  It affected my
 4 retirement, my future possible earnings -- are
 5 you talking in regards to what I am right now
 6 or future, now --
 7        Q.    All I am trying to find out is
 8 that in Paragraph 47 it says that you suffered
 9 certain monetary losses --
10              MR. JENT:  As a result of the
11 libel and slander.
12        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  -- as a result
13 of the libel and slender.  I want to know what
14 monetary losses you have suffered.
15        A.    I lost a considerable amount on my
16 monthly income.
17        Q.    Is that your retirement income or
18 some other way?
19        A.    The check -- the pay that I was
20 getting while I was employed with Hoover City
21 Schools, when I retired, my pay decreased
22 considerably.
23        Q.    Because your retirement was not
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 1 the same --
 2        A.    Yes.
 3        Q.    -- as your monthly salary as a
 4 principal?
 5        A.    Yes.
 6        Q.    Okay.  Any other monetary losses
 7 that you suffered as a result of the libel or
 8 slander?
 9        A.    Just some increased expenses.
10        Q.    Such as?
11        A.    Doctor.
12        Q.    Doctor who?
13        A.    Stephen Bair.
14        Q.    When did you start seeing
15 Dr. Stephen Bair?
16        A.    I don't know the exact date.  It
17 is probably in his file.  I don't know the
18 exact date.
19        Q.    Do you know the year?
20        A.    I believe it is 2013.
21        Q.    Do you recall if it was before or
22 after you stopped reporting to work at the
23 Central Office?
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 1        A.    No, it was after.
 2        Q.    And what kind of doctor is Stephen
 3 Bair?
 4        A.    He is a psychologist, I believe.
 5        Q.    Before you started seeing
 6 Dr. Bair, had you ever seen a psychologist
 7 before?
 8        A.    No.
 9        Q.    Had you ever seen any kind of
10 mental health professional?
11        A.    Other than I talked to one of the
12 system counselors, no.
13        Q.    When you say the "system
14 counselor," who is that?
15        A.    Marion Kellough.
16        Q.    And when you say "the system,"
17 that was which system?
18        A.    School system, Hoover.
19        Q.    When did you talk with
20 Dr. Kellough?  Is it Dr. Kellough?
21        A.    Ms. Kellough.
22        Q.    Ms. Kellough?
23        A.    It was -- I don't really remember
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 1 the exact date.  It may have been in March of
 2 2013.  I was at old Berry, where her office
 3 was, and she asked me to come in and talk to
 4 her.
 5        Q.    Old Berry, what is that?
 6        A.    It is where Berry High School used
 7 to be and they use it for Crossroads School and
 8 for some Central Office.
 9        Q.    Okay.  So had you sought out a
10 meeting with Ms. Kellough to talk or you just
11 happened to be over there and she said --
12        A.    I happened --
13        Q.    -- "Why don't you come in and we
14 will talk"?
15        A.    I happened -- excuse me.  I
16 happened to be over there, and I have known her
17 a long time.  And she asked me if I needed to
18 talk with her.
19        Q.    So you think you started seeing
20 Dr. Bair sometime after you quit reporting to
21 the Central Office in 2013?
22        A.    Yes, uh-huh.
23        Q.    Why did you start seeing Dr. Bair?
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 1        A.    Partly because of discussion I had
 2 had with Marion Kellough.
 3        Q.    Did she recommend that you see
 4 somebody?
 5        A.    She said that I might want to and
 6 because of a friend of mine that is a counselor
 7 that I had talked with for an extended period
 8 of time, and --
 9        Q.    Who is that friend?
10        A.    Her name is Dr. Nancy Fox.
11        Q.    Did you consult Dr. Fox in a
12 professional capacity or simply as a friend?
13        A.    Just as a friend.
14        Q.    How did you get Dr. Bair's number
15 or name?
16        A.    From Nancy Fox.
17        Q.    When you first started seeing
18 Dr. Bair, how often did you see him?
19        A.    Every week.
20        Q.    How often do you see him now?
21        A.    Twice a month.
22        Q.    When did you start seeing him
23 twice a month?
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 1        A.    I think it was shortly after my
 2 official retirement, because I couldn't afford
 3 but twice a month -- twice a month.
 4        Q.    Has Dr. Bair diagnosed you with
 5 any particular issue?
 6        A.    Yes.
 7        Q.    What is your diagnosis?
 8        A.    He said I have post-traumatic
 9 stress disorder.
10        Q.    I know if he is a psychologist, he
11 can't prescribe.  Has he asked anybody to
12 prescribe any medication for you?
13        A.    We have discussed it, but I don't
14 like to take medicine.  I don't react to it
15 very well.
16              So we -- it is something that is
17 on the table if I need it.  But I tried not to.
18        Q.    Other than seeing Dr. Bair, have
19 you done anything else or have you seen anybody
20 else for treatment of your post-traumatic
21 stress disorder?
22        A.    No.
23        Q.    And the damages, the monetary
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 1 damages, that you told me about, what you are
 2 telling me is that your monthly income from the
 3 retirement is less than your monthly income as
 4 a principal at Trace Crossings?
 5        A.    Yes.
 6        Q.    Okay.  When I first asked you
 7 about why you believed that your move from
 8 Trace Crossings to the Central Office was based
 9 on your sex, one of the things you told me was
10 that after you had been moved, there were male
11 principals who had been treated better than you
12 were in their moves?
13        A.    Administrators, yeah.
14        Q.    Is that a fair assessment, kind of
15 summary of what you had told me?
16        A.    That after my move, people that
17 had been moved in different situations had been
18 treated better, yes.
19        Q.    And they were males?
20        A.    Yes.
21        Q.    Okay.  Tell me who those males
22 are.
23        A.    Bob Lawry.
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 1              MS. YUENGERT:  That is L-A-W-R-Y.
 2        A.    That had actually been moved or
 3 been on some type of plan?  You said moved.
 4        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  I want you to
 5 tell me what males were treated better than you
 6 were --
 7        A.    Okay.
 8        Q.    -- that makes you think that your
 9 treatment was because of your sex.
10        A.    Bob Lawry, David Fancher, Brian
11 Cain.
12              MS. YUENGERT:  C-A-I-N.
13        A.    Rush Propst.  I forget names.
14        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  David Shores?
15        A.    David Shores, and then the
16 principal from Spain Park.
17        Q.    Shaw?
18        A.    Shaw, Chris Shaw.
19        Q.    Simmons?
20        A.    That is the school.
21        Q.    We will come up with it.
22 Mitchell, Scott Mitchell, did you --
23        A.    I think Scott's name was used as
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 1 an example of a principal that had made AYP --
 2 had not made AYP and didn't get moved.
 3        Q.    Okay.  Any others, sitting here
 4 today, that you think were treated better than
 5 you?
 6        A.    Not that I can think of right now.
 7        Q.    I want to go through those, and I
 8 want you to tell me.  Let's start with Bob
 9 Lawry.  How is it that Mr. Lawry was treated in
10 a way that you think shows that he was treated
11 better because of his sex or that you were
12 treated worse because of your sex?
13        A.    Bob is a very good friend of mine
14 and shared a lot of information with me.
15        Q.    What did he share with you?
16        A.    During the school year, '11-'12,
17 he was not overly happy in principal, and had
18 had some problems.  And I don't --
19        Q.    I want to back you up.  You said
20 he was not overly happy?
21        A.    Yes.
22        Q.    And he was the principal at South
23 Shades Crest Elementary?
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 1        A.    Yes.
 2        Q.    And he told you that he wasn't
 3 happy in that role?
 4        A.    I am not going to say he wasn't
 5 happy in the role.  He just wasn't overly happy
 6 period.
 7        Q.    Okay.  And you said that he had
 8 had some problems?
 9        A.    He had shared some problems he had
10 had with me and he said --
11        Q.    What problems?
12        A.    I don't remember specifically, but
13 with his faculty.  And he had talked with
14 Mr. Craig.  And he was under the impression
15 that when his contract was finished during, I
16 think, the '12-'13 year, that he would be put
17 in another lateral position.
18        Q.    Do you know when his contract
19 ended?
20        A.    I think it ended '12-'13, I
21 believe.  I am guessing.
22        Q.    That is the school year,
23 2012-2013?
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 1        A.    Yes.
 2        Q.    Did Mr. Lawry tell you what
 3 administrative position he was going to be put
 4 in?
 5        A.    Yes.
 6        Q.    When?
 7        A.    He told me during the school year,
 8 during the summer of -- it was pretty common
 9 knowledge that he was going to be put with -- I
10 can't remember the guy's name.  I think they
11 call it student services, but it involves
12 transportation -- leases, residency.
13        Q.    And was he ultimately put in that
14 job?
15        A.    Yes.
16        Q.    And do you remember when that
17 happened?
18        A.    Right after I left the system.
19        Q.    Do you know if that job was
20 posted?
21        A.    It was posted after I put in my
22 job, my --
23        Q.    Your resignation?
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 1        A.    My plan to resign.
 2        Q.    Do you know if anybody other than
 3 Mr. Lawry applied?
 4        A.    I have no knowledge of that.
 5        Q.    Okay.  Did Mr. Lawry tell you that
 6 he was moved involuntarily?
 7        A.    No.
 8        Q.    And I don't want to put words in
 9 your mouth.  I want to find out what he told
10 you or what your understanding is.  Did he ever
11 tell you that he was being removed from South
12 Shades Crest Elementary?
13        A.    He led me to believe that he would
14 not be getting another contract.
15        Q.    Tell me what exactly he told you
16 about that.
17        A.    He said that -- basically it was
18 that he wasn't happy, that he -- again, he had
19 had some problems of which I can't remember
20 exactly what he told me.  We talked --
21        Q.    But they were with his faculty?
22        A.    Yes.
23        Q.    So he led you to believe that he
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 1 would not get another contract because he
 2 didn't want another contract as a principal?
 3        A.    I don't -- I don't feel like I
 4 am -- that was what I --
 5        Q.    Concluded?
 6        A.    -- concluded.
 7        Q.    I understand.  And you can't speak
 8 for Mr. Lawry.  I am trying to find out what he
 9 told you.
10        A.    That was my impression of all the
11 discussions we had.
12        Q.    Is that he wanted to leave South
13 Shades Crest or didn't want to be a principal
14 anymore?
15        A.    Didn't want to leave, and felt
16 like -- I felt like he said that wasn't going
17 to be an option.
18        Q.    Okay.  Did he ever tell you that
19 Mr. Craig told him it wasn't going to be an
20 option?
21        A.    He told me that he and Mr. Craig
22 had had some pretty tough conversations about
23 things.  I don't know.
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 1        Q.    Did he ever tell you that
 2 Mr. Craig told him he was not going to offer
 3 him another contract?
 4        A.    I don't remember if he told me
 5 that or not.
 6        Q.    When the student services job that
 7 Mr. Lawry got was posted, did you apply for it?
 8        A.    I had already been given notice
 9 that I was going to be moved to an assistant
10 principal's position, and my only option was to
11 retire.
12        Q.    And so is the answer to my
13 question that you didn't apply for the student
14 services job?
15        A.    I didn't have the opportunity, no.
16        Q.    Okay.  And you say you didn't have
17 the opportunity.  How did people apply for the
18 jobs that are posted?
19        A.    That are posted?  They are
20 typically posted on Teach in Alabama, and they
21 apply through the system.
22        Q.    So was there anything that
23 prevented you from applying for the job online?
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 1        A.    Yes.
 2        Q.    What?
 3        A.    I had been told that my only
 4 option was to go to Crossroads as an assistant
 5 principal.
 6        Q.    So tell me, who told you that?
 7        A.    Dr. Ron Dodson.
 8        Q.    And when did he tell you that?
 9        A.    He told me that, it was prior to
10 the April Board meeting.  And I have the dates
11 someplace.  He came -- do you want me to tell
12 you what he said?
13        Q.    Well, I want to back you up just a
14 little bit.
15        A.    Okay.
16        Q.    If you will look at Paragraph 16
17 of the Complaint --
18              MR. JENT:  No.
19        A.    That one?
20        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  Are you on
21 Paragraph 16?
22        A.    Yes.
23        Q.    It says, "On or about April 1st or
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 1 2nd, 2013, the plaintiff was informed she was
 2 being assigned to the Crossroads Alternative
 3 School as the assistant principal, which was a
 4 demotion."  Do you see that?
 5        A.    Yes.
 6        Q.    And that was when Dr. Dodson told
 7 you that?
 8        A.    Yes.
 9        Q.    And do you believe that was on
10 April 1st or 2nd?
11        A.    I believe it was around that date.
12 It was prior to the April Board meeting.
13        Q.    And when does the Board typically
14 meet?  Do you have the second Tuesday or
15 something like that or do you know?
16        A.    I can't remember something -- I
17 think the Board meeting, he said -- I believe
18 he told me April 10th --
19        Q.    Okay.
20        A.    -- that I had better be at
21 Crossroads the next morning.
22        Q.    Okay.  And I am going to refer to
23 it as April 1st or 2nd because that is what is
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 1 in your Complaint, okay?
 2        A.    Okay.
 3        Q.    You said that you have something
 4 that indicates the date?
 5        A.    I believe I have something --
 6        Q.    What do you believe you have?
 7        A.    I think I sent Earl Franks, the
 8 executive director of class, a text message.
 9              MR. JENT:  I will look for that.
10        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  I haven't seen
11 any communications between you and Mr. Franks.
12        A.    That would have the exact date on
13 it.
14        Q.    Okay.  You believe that was a text
15 message?
16        A.    I believe it was.
17        Q.    Okay.  So on whatever the date is,
18 it was sometime before the April Board meeting,
19 you met with Dodson?
20        A.    Yes.
21        Q.    Where was that?
22        A.    In my office at Central Office.
23        Q.    Was anybody other than Dodson
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 1 there?
 2        A.    Melody Greene.
 3        Q.    And who is Ms. Greene?
 4        A.    She was -- now she is an assistant
 5 superintendent.  At the time she was like me,
 6 no job title.
 7        Q.    Okay.  The meeting with Dodson and
 8 Greene, they just dropped into your office, or
 9 was it a scheduled meeting?  Do you know?
10        A.    It was, I think, close to 4:00
11 because everybody had already left.  And they
12 called me in the hallway and asked me if I had
13 a minute to talk to them.  So we went back to
14 my office, so it was not scheduled.
15        Q.    And what was Dodson's job?
16        A.    He -- assistant superintendent of
17 curriculum instruction, I believe.
18        Q.    Okay.  So they catch you in the
19 hall.  It is close to 4:00 or late in the
20 afternoon --
21        A.    Uh-huh.
22        Q.    -- asked do you have a minute.
23 You go into your office.  Everybody sits down?
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 1        A.    Uh-huh.
 2              MR. JENT:  Is that "yes"?
 3        A.    Yes.
 4              MR. JENT:  You can't say "uh-huh"
 5 or you can but --
 6        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  And then tell
 7 me what happened in the meeting.
 8        A.    Ron looked at me, and again, I
 9 didn't know what they wanted.  And he said, "We
10 have decided what we are going to do with you
11 next year."  And I said, "What?"  And he said,
12 "You are going to be the assistant principal at
13 Crossroads School," and then his whole demeanor
14 changed.  And he kind of leaned across, and he
15 said, "And you had better be there the morning
16 after the Board meeting.  They will pass it at
17 the next Board meeting."
18              And I asked him where Andy was,
19 and he said, "Andy sent us up here."
20        Q.    Anything else in that meeting that
21 you said or either of them said?
22        A.    Mr. -- I asked where Andy was, and
23 I said, "I am supposed to only talk to Andy
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 1 about this."  And he said, "Don't worry, we are
 2 not going to cut your pay."  And I looked at
 3 him and I said, "Ron, you can't cut my pay.  I
 4 have a principal's contract."  And then I
 5 indicated to him that I would not discuss it
 6 with him any further, and I looked down until
 7 he got up and left.
 8        Q.    Okay.  Did he leave or did both he
 9 and Greene leave?
10        A.    He left and Greene stayed there.
11        Q.    Did you and Ms. Greene have any
12 conversation after Mr. Dodson left?
13        A.    Yes.
14        Q.    Tell me about your conversation
15 with Ms. Greene after Mr. Dodson left.
16        A.    I was upset -- that was probably
17 the only time I really broke down.
18        Q.    And what do you mean by "broke
19 down"?
20        A.    I got -- I got -- I'm sorry.  I
21 got really emotionally upset because I just
22 felt like at that moment, I had been totally
23 misled.
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 1              And, in fact, I told her, I
 2 said --
 3        Q.    You told Ms. Greene?
 4        A.    Yes.  I told her that -- I said,
 5 "I don't know what I have to do to get somebody
 6 to, you know, pay attention to what is going on
 7 with me.  I mean, I am" -- the -- there's a
 8 sheet that you submitted that had my
 9 conversation with her on it.
10              MR. JENT:  In her filed response
11 and everything.  I don't know if that is what
12 she --
13        A.    No, I think it is the
14 interrogatories, some of the evidence that you
15 gave from people, there's a sheet that says
16 this was a discussion I had with Carol Barber,
17 but that was the discussion I had with Melody
18 Greene.
19        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  Okay.
20        A.    I mean, I am --
21        Q.    And I am going to show you this.
22 I do not have an extra copy of it.  Is this --
23        A.    No.
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 1        Q.    Is this what you are talking
 2 about?  I am looking --
 3        A.    No.  It is a little piece of paper
 4 with handwriting on it.
 5        Q.    Okay.  Is this what you are
 6 talking about?
 7        A.    Yes.
 8        Q.    Okay.
 9        A.    Yeah -- wait a minute.
10        Q.    Because it is my understanding
11 that those are notes from a meeting you had
12 with Mary Veal.  And I am not going to let you
13 look through that stack --
14        A.    No, I'm sorry.
15        Q.    -- because that is my stack.
16        A.    I'm sorry.
17        Q.    That is okay.  I'm just trying to
18 identify what you are talking about.
19        A.    My understanding, looking at it
20 when I had the stack, that I thought it was a
21 conversation that I had with Carol Barber.  But
22 I had a very similar conversation with --
23        Q.    Mary Veal?
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 1        A.    No, with --
 2        Q.    Melody?
 3        A.    Melody.
 4        Q.    So tell me what it is that you
 5 recall about your conversation with Melody that
 6 day.  And you have already told me that you
 7 said, "I don't know what I have to do to have
 8 someone pay attention to what is going on with
 9 me."
10        A.    Yeah.
11        Q.    What did she say, if anything?
12        A.    She just -- I felt like she was
13 listening as a friend.  She said -- I told her
14 how many issues I had found at the school when
15 I first moved in there, and some of the stuff
16 which was against School Board policy, against
17 Alabama Code book.  And --
18        Q.    And these were all issues that you
19 were addressing when you were principal,
20 correct?
21        A.    Yes.  This was a conversation I
22 had, and I was extremely upset because I had
23 just found out that a promise that I felt like
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 1 had been made to me in a system that I had
 2 worked in for over twenty years, I was just --
 3 I was just upset.
 4        Q.    So do you recall anything else you
 5 told Ms. Greene that day?
 6        A.    Right now I don't.
 7        Q.    Do you recall anything that she
 8 said?
 9        A.    She asked me, after I talked --
10 she said, "Do you want me to talk to Andy for
11 you?"  And I said, "Melody, I just don't think
12 you need to get involved.  I don't really know
13 what is going on, and I wouldn't ask you to get
14 involved in this."
15        Q.    Did you ever go and talk with Andy
16 about the issue about your being sent to
17 Crossroads?
18        A.    He wouldn't see me.
19        Q.    Tell me how you know he wouldn't
20 see you.
21        A.    I emailed his secretary.  I
22 emailed him.  And he wouldn't see me.
23        Q.    Who is his secretary?
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 1        A.    Oh, shoot.  One of those names.  I
 2 used to work with her.  Louise White, I'm
 3 sorry.
 4        Q.    And when you emailed his
 5 secretary, what was her response to you?
 6        A.    That she would have to get with
 7 Andy to make an appointment.
 8        Q.    And when you emailed Andy, did he
 9 respond?
10        A.    No.
11        Q.    When you emailed Louise about it,
12 did you just say "I need to talk with Andy," or
13 did you say why?
14        A.    No.  I told her -- I didn't want
15 to share that with her.
16        Q.    When you emailed Andy, did you say
17 that you needed to talk to him or did you tell
18 him why?
19        A.    I believe I told him why.
20        Q.    When you emailed Andy, were you
21 emailing from your email account at Hoover or
22 from home?
23        A.    It would have been from my Hoover
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 1 account.  And I believe I have it.
 2        Q.    And you said you contacted Earl
 3 Franks?
 4        A.    Yes.  I had contacted him on
 5 January 28th after I had a meeting with Carol
 6 Barber.
 7        Q.    Okay.  So on January 28th, you had
 8 a meeting with Carol Barber --
 9        A.    Yes.
10        Q.    -- after which you contacted Earl
11 Franks?
12        A.    Yes.
13        Q.    And who is Earl Franks?
14        A.    I'm sorry.  He is the Executive
15 Director of CLAS, which is the professional
16 organization for administrators.
17        Q.    And that is C-L-A-S-S, all caps?
18        A.    It is just C-L-A-S, all capital.
19        Q.    Okay.  And when you contacted
20 Mr. Franks on January 28th, what did you talk
21 to him about?
22        A.    I talked to him about a meeting
23 that Carol had requested.  I was under the
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 1 impression that we were just going to talk
 2 about operational things, you know --
 3        Q.    From Trace Crossings?
 4        A.    From Trace Crossings.  Make sure
 5 she -- you know, transition type things.
 6 And --
 7        Q.    Where did you meet?
 8        A.    In Mary Veal's office.
 9        Q.    Okay.
10        A.    Up until the moment she got there,
11 I didn't know I was meeting in Mary Veal's
12 office.  I felt -- for the first time, I
13 felt -- besides the first email she sent me
14 asking for things and insinuating that I hadn't
15 turned in things, I felt like I was being
16 attacked about my performance.  And after the
17 meeting --
18        Q.    How long was that meeting with
19 Carol and Mary?
20        A.    It was probably close to fifty
21 minutes.
22        Q.    Did you make a recording of that?
23        A.    Yes.
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 1        Q.    Did you record the entire meeting?
 2        A.    All but the last few minutes were
 3 cutoff.
 4        Q.    Okay.
 5              MS. YUENGERT:  Kevin, what I have
 6 got and what you sent me was about two minutes.
 7 So I need to get whatever recording you have of
 8 that meeting.  I only have a piece of it.
 9 Okay?
10              MR. JENT:  Okay.  Yes.
11              MS. YUENGERT:  That is fine.  We
12 just need to make sure that I get it all.
13              MR. JENT:  The email you had sent
14 to us, that is what was on the email, so I will
15 check with her and figure out about that.
16              MS. YUENGERT:  Sure.  I just want
17 to make sure that I get the whole recording.
18              MR. JENT:  Okay.
19        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  But you did
20 record the whole thing, the entire meeting?
21        A.    Yes.
22        Q.    You said up until the last few
23 minutes?
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 1        A.    Yeah, it cutoff.
 2        Q.    And so tell me what happened in
 3 the meeting on January 28th with the meeting
 4 with Mary and Carol that made you feel you were
 5 being attacked for your performance.
 6        A.    When Carol came into my office,
 7 like I said, I thought we were just going to
 8 sit and talk about some transitioning things.
 9 And she said something to the effect of, "I
10 feel like we need to have this meeting in
11 Mary's office."
12        Q.    Okay.
13        A.    And we went downstairs, and
14 something was said about Mary keeping notes.
15 And that is when I flipped on my phone
16 recorder, because I just knew something
17 wasn't -- wasn't right.  That wasn't -- I was
18 misled.  And --
19        Q.    Did you tell them that you were
20 recording it?
21        A.    No, I didn't.
22        Q.    Did you keep your phone in your
23 purse or in your pocket?
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 1        A.    It was sitting on top of the
 2 table.  I told Mary Veal afterwards that I had
 3 recorded it.
 4        Q.    Okay.  Tell me what you can recall
 5 happened in the meeting on January 28th.
 6        A.    The first thing was she said
 7 something to me about stirring parents up.  And
 8 I had not.
 9        Q.    Did she tell you why she thought
10 you had stirred parents --
11        A.    No.
12        Q.    -- up?
13        A.    No.
14        Q.    Okay.  Did you tell her that you
15 had not?
16        A.    Yes.  Now, there were a bunch of
17 things, and I may not hit them all.
18        Q.    Sure.
19        A.    She said something about the
20 parents, the PTO parents, had had a Christmas
21 luncheon; they always did.  And I had been
22 invited to it.  And I sent Carol and Andy both
23 an email, and I had discussed it with them, and
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 1 I went to it.
 2              Nothing was discussed about the
 3 school.  I --
 4        Q.    And Carol brought that up at the
 5 January 28th meeting?
 6        A.    Yes.
 7        Q.    What did she say about it?
 8        A.    Something about what was that
 9 about, why was I, you know, there.  And my -- I
10 had been given permission to go to it.  I would
11 not have attended that without permission.
12        Q.    Is that what you told her on
13 January 28th?
14        A.    I'm not sure what I told her.
15        Q.    Okay.  What else did she talk
16 about or did you talk about in the meeting?
17        A.    We talked about RTI, which is
18 Response to Intervention.  We talked about how
19 I had the teams in the school.  I can't -- I
20 mean, if you had asked me some other time, I
21 could rattle off everything and I can't right
22 now.
23        Q.    And with regard to Response to

Page 124
 1 Intervention, do you remember anything you
 2 discussed about that?
 3        A.    I didn't feel like she fully
 4 understood how RTI was supposed to run in the
 5 school.  And understand, I was trying to be
 6 respectful also.  But she specifically said a
 7 student that we had been -- that had been
 8 referred -- RTI was still relatively new in the
 9 system, and there were a lot of kinks in it
10 from school to school.
11              And she made a comment to me
12 about -- and it is in that document -- that, in
13 reference -- it made it sound like we weren't
14 doing it correctly at Trace Crossings, but we
15 most certainly were.
16              And I had received students from
17 other schools in Hoover where I hadn't gotten
18 the documentation -- it was a -- no-excuses, it
19 was something we were transitioning to and that
20 they hadn't even started when I became the
21 principal there.
22        Q.    Is this all being discussed in
23 this January 28th meeting?
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 1        A.    Yes.
 2        Q.    Okay.  And you said that you don't
 3 think that Carol understood how RTI was
 4 supposed to run in the school?
 5        A.    Yes.
 6        Q.    And so did you explain to her how
 7 it was supposed to?
 8        A.    Yes, I did.
 9        Q.    And how did that conversation
10 about RTI end?
11        A.    She just moved on to something
12 else.
13        Q.    Okay.
14        A.    I mean, she -- also, I felt like I
15 was being attacked on the way that I did
16 placement in the school.
17        Q.    And that is different than RTI?
18        A.    Yes, for classes, and that I had
19 given preferential treatment, which I did not.
20 And I later sent --
21        Q.    And I'm sorry.  I don't mean to
22 interrupt you.  But when you are talking about
23 placement, you are talking about how students
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 1 get put in a particular teacher's class?
 2        A.    Yes.
 3        Q.    Okay.
 4        A.    And she --
 5        Q.    Tell me what you can recall that
 6 Carol said about placement in the school.
 7        A.    From what I recall, she said that
 8 I had given preferential treatment -- it may
 9 not have been worded exactly that way -- to
10 parents, PTO parents.
11        Q.    So you allowed parents to pick the
12 class their child would go to?
13        A.    That is -- yeah.
14        Q.    Okay.
15        A.    And that didn't happen.
16        Q.    Okay.  And did you tell Carol that
17 that hadn't happened?
18        A.    Yes.  And I followed it up with an
19 email with what I sent out to parents.  And she
20 said she would do it the same way.
21        Q.    Okay.  And so when you said you
22 followed up with email, after the January 28th
23 meeting, did you send Carol in an email
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 1 information about how you would assign children
 2 to classes?
 3        A.    Yes.
 4        Q.    And she said she would do it the
 5 same way?
 6        A.    In the meeting she said.
 7        Q.    So in the meeting, did she ask you
 8 to send that or did you tell her that you were
 9 going to send that as a follow-up?
10        A.    No.  I felt like I had to to
11 defend myself.
12        Q.    Okay.  So in the meeting there was
13 no discussion about you emailing anything to
14 her?
15        A.    No.
16        Q.    But in the meeting, she said she
17 would do it as you had described?
18        A.    She indicated, or "That is the way
19 I would do it" --
20        Q.    Okay.
21        A.    -- or something to that effect.
22        Q.    Okay.  You said there was
23 discussion about how you had the teams in the
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 1 school?
 2        A.    Yes.
 3        Q.    Are those the grade level teams?
 4        A.    Yes.
 5        Q.    Tell me about the discussion about
 6 how you had the teams in the school.
 7        A.    What she said, she said it wasn't
 8 working.
 9        Q.    So Carol said that the teams in
10 the school weren't working?
11        A.    Yes.
12        Q.    Okay.  Then what did you say?
13        A.    I believe I said that is not true,
14 it was a teacher/leader model.  It was a -- it
15 was a teacher/leader model that I was using.
16        Q.    She said the teams weren't working
17 and you said yes, they are.
18        A.    Yeah.
19        Q.    Any other discussion about the
20 teams?
21        A.    Not that I can recall, no.
22        Q.    Anything else you can recall that
23 was discussed in the January 28th meeting?
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 1        A.    No.  Except at the end, she said
 2 to Mary, "I want a copy of those minutes."  And
 3 I said, "I want one too."  And Mary said, "Of
 4 course."  And I followed up repeatedly, and I
 5 finally got an email that said there were no
 6 minutes from the meeting, that I had clarified
 7 everything.
 8        Q.    And the email that said there were
 9 no minutes, that is from Mary?
10        A.    Yes.
11        Q.    Okay.  Have you told me everything
12 you can recall about the January 28th meeting?
13        A.    Uh-huh.
14              MR. JENT:  Is that a "yes"?
15        A.    Yes.  Sorry.
16        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  After the
17 January 28th meeting, you told me that you
18 texted or you contacted Earl Franks?
19        A.    I went to see Andy first, and then
20 when I got back to my office, I went to see --
21 I mean I got in touch with Earl Franks.
22        Q.    You went to see Andy, that is the
23 same day as the January 28th meeting?
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 1        A.    Immediately afterwards.
 2        Q.    And did you get to talk to him?
 3        A.    For a minute, yes.
 4        Q.    Tell me about your conversation
 5 with Andy on January 28th.
 6        A.    I asked him if he knew that Carol
 7 had called a meeting, I think I said "to attack
 8 me."  And he said, "No."  And I said I don't
 9 understand, you know, what is going on.  And he
10 reassured me that I was okay, he was going to
11 take care of me, I was doing a good job doing
12 what I was doing.
13        Q.    Anything else that you and Andy
14 talked about that day?
15        A.    Not that I can remember.
16        Q.    So then after you spoke with Andy,
17 you contacted Earl Franks?
18        A.    Yes.  I contacted a principal, and
19 she got Earl Franks on the phone for me.
20        Q.    What principal?
21        A.    Sonia Carrington.
22        Q.    And what school is Sonia
23 Carrington at?
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 1        A.    She is retired from Rocky Ridge.
 2        Q.    Was she retired from Rocky Ridge
 3 at that time?
 4        A.    No, but she is now.
 5        Q.    So at the time she was at Rocky
 6 Ridge?
 7        A.    Uh-huh.  Yes.  I am sorry.
 8        Q.    Why did you contact Carrington
 9 instead of just calling Earl Franks?
10        A.    Because I knew she knew him.  And
11 I was upset.  And I needed some advice.  That
12 was the first time that I felt like something
13 wasn't -- something wasn't right with what I
14 had been promised.
15        Q.    And what advice did Ms. Carrington
16 give you that day?
17        A.    She told me I needed to talk to
18 Earl Franks and get him to get me an attorney.
19        Q.    Okay.  So then after you talked
20 with Ms. Carrington, did you call or contact
21 Earl Franks?
22        A.    She called him, and then sometime
23 later that evening, I talked to him personally.
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 1        Q.    Tell me about your conversation
 2 with Earl Franks on January 28th.
 3        A.    I told him about the meeting I had
 4 had -- I told him everything that had
 5 transpired to that point.  And that I had had
 6 that meeting with Carol Barber, and I felt like
 7 something just wasn't right with what I felt
 8 like I had been promised.  And he said that he
 9 would meet with me, and we met in person a
10 couple of days later.
11        Q.    Where did you meet?
12        A.    We met at a hotel near the
13 Galleria.  I don't remember the name of it.
14        Q.    Just you and Mr. Franks?
15        A.    No.  His -- the Assistant
16 Executive Director, I can't remember his name,
17 it starts with a C, he was there also.
18        Q.    Okay.  Tell me about your
19 conversation at the hotel near the Galleria
20 with Mr. Franks and his Assistant Executive
21 Director.
22        A.    I gave him a rundown of what had
23 happened to me, and he told me that he had had
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 1 discussions with Andy before, and he said, "Let
 2 me -- let me get in touch with Andy and I will
 3 intervene for you."
 4              So I just let him handle it.
 5        Q.    Do you know if he talked with
 6 Andy?
 7        A.    Yes, he told me he did.  He said
 8 that Andy was very complimentary of the job I
 9 had been doing and specifically talked about
10 the safety report I had done for him, and that
11 he pretty much said the same thing that Andy
12 had said, that he was going to restructure in
13 the spring, and that he wasn't ready to tell me
14 what my position would be.
15              But I was reassured that I was
16 going to be okay.
17        Q.    About when was that conversation
18 with Mr. Franks where he was reporting to you
19 what he had talked to Andy about?
20        A.    It probably would have been the
21 first or second week in February.  It was right
22 after the meeting with Carol.
23        Q.    So when is your next contact with
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 1 Mr. Franks after this conversation the first or
 2 second week of February?
 3        A.    After he had talked with
 4 Mr. Craig, he contacted me.  I don't know what
 5 time period went by.  He called Mr. Craig, had
 6 a discussion -- no, I think he actually saw
 7 Mr. Craig.
 8              And then we touched base over the
 9 next few weeks.  And then the next time I
10 contacted him was the day that Dr. Dodson came
11 in and told me I was being demoted.
12        Q.    So after the meeting with Dodson,
13 you sat and talked with Melody for a while,
14 correct?
15        A.    Uh-huh.  Yes.
16        Q.    And then you contacted Earl that
17 same day?
18        A.    Yes.
19        Q.    And you think you sent him a text?
20        A.    I believe so.
21              MS. YUENGERT:  Kevin, we don't
22 have a copy of that.  So if you could provide
23 that.
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 1        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  And so when
 2 you contacted Mr. Franks after the meeting with
 3 Mr. Dodson and Ms. Greene, you think you sent
 4 him a text.  Did you talk to him that day?
 5        A.    I believe I did.
 6        Q.    On the phone or in person?
 7        A.    On the phone.  He told me he would
 8 talk to Andy.
 9        Q.    And then what is your next contact
10 with Mr. Franks on this issue?
11        A.    At some point, because I had a
12 deadline that I had to submit, that I either
13 had to report to Crossroads that the Board
14 would move on my -- moving me to Crossroads at
15 that meeting.  I think April 10th, for some
16 reason, I keep --
17        Q.    Okay.
18        A.    And that may not be the date.
19        Q.    Understood.  There will be a
20 record that shows when the Board met, right?
21        A.    And I said, "I don't know what to
22 do."  I don't think Andy returned his phone
23 calls.
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 1        Q.    Mr. Franks?
 2        A.    Mr. Franks, Dr. Franks.  I said,
 3 "I can't accept a demotion.  This will ruin --
 4 this is ruining my career."
 5              And at that point, Mark Boardman
 6 was involved in it, the attorney.  And I
 7 said --
 8        Q.    How did Mr. Boardman get involved
 9 in it?
10        A.    Earl Franks assigned him to me as
11 an attorney.
12        Q.    When did that happen?
13        A.    That happened almost immediately,
14 when I called Earl Franks.  I mean, the exact
15 order in which I called him, got the
16 attorney -- I don't remember the exact order,
17 but it happened fairly quickly.
18        Q.    Over the course of a day or two
19 days or how long?
20        A.    I would say over the course of two
21 days.
22        Q.    You have produced a number of
23 documents, communications between you and
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 1 Mr. Boardman in this case.
 2        A.    Yes.
 3        Q.    Are you waiving your attorney
 4 client privilege with regard to Mr. Boardman
 5 about his advice to you, or your discussions
 6 with him about your retirement or what you were
 7 going to do?
 8        A.    Why would I -- I don't understand
 9 why I would need to.
10              MR. JENT:  As to what she has
11 produced, she has waived.  I mean, you can ask
12 about those documents and what is reflected
13 there.
14              MS. YUENGERT:  Okay.
15              MR. JENT:  She has not waived the
16 entire attorney-client communication.
17              MS. YUENGERT:  Okay.
18        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  Did you meet
19 with Mr. Boardman or just email with him or
20 talk with him on the phone?
21        A.    I talked with him on the phone
22 mainly.
23        Q.    When did you decide that you would
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 1 retire?
 2        A.    When Earl Franks could not get --
 3 and Mr. Franks can clarify this -- any
 4 discussion with Mr. Craig, and I said, "Well,
 5 what do I need to do, retire?  Do I have to
 6 retire to keep from being demoted?"
 7              And I felt like that was my only
 8 option.
 9        Q.    What did Mr. Franks tell you about
10 whether you needed to retire to avoid being
11 demoted?
12        A.    He told me that at that time, that
13 might be my best option, because he could not
14 get any -- as I said, he could not get anything
15 from Mr. Craig.
16              At that point, I think Mr. Craig
17 was not talking with him.
18        Q.    Do you know if Mr. Boardman had
19 talked with Mr. Craig?
20        A.    Yes.
21              (Defendant's Exhibit 3 was marked
22              for identification.)
23        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  I am handing
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 1 you what has been marked Defendant's Exhibit 3
 2 to your deposition.  This is a series of emails
 3 that your lawyer has produced to me in this
 4 case.  The top one appears to be one between
 5 you and Mr. Boardman on April 3rd, 2013,
 6 correct?
 7        A.    Yes.
 8        Q.    And the earliest one in the chain,
 9 from what I can tell, if you will look at the
10 next to the last page, there is an original
11 message from Mark Boardman to Donald Sweeney,
12 dated March 29th, 2013, correct?
13        A.    And that should help with the date
14 that I was told.  Yes.
15        Q.    Had you authorized Mr. Boardman to
16 make some kind of offer to the Board or to
17 Mr. Craig about under what terms you would
18 retire?
19        A.    Yes.
20        Q.    What were the terms of that offer?
21        A.    I had just gotten a brand-new
22 three-year contract in July of 2012.  And I
23 requested a buyout of my contract.
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 1        Q.    Such as pay out the three years --
 2        A.    Yes.
 3        Q.    -- or what was remaining on the
 4 three years?
 5        A.    Yes.
 6        Q.    And so your offer was pay me
 7 that -- would you continue to work at the
 8 Central Office?  Was that part of the offer?
 9        A.    No.  That was part of my agreement
10 to submit my retirement.
11        Q.    And so, in the original offer that
12 you authorized Mr. Boardman to make --
13        A.    Uh-huh.
14        Q.    -- was it essentially, "I will
15 submit my retirement, but you will pay me
16 through the end of the term of my contract"?
17        A.    That is what I originally asked
18 for.
19        Q.    Okay.  And in Defendant's Exhibit
20 3, on the next to last page, there is an email
21 between Donald Sweeney and Mark Boardman that
22 Andy Craig is copied on.  Do you see that?  It
23 says, "Andy Craig would like to settle the

Case 2:14-cv-02176-MHH   Document 21-1   Filed 01/15/16   Page 36 of 135



Robin Litaker 36

Tyler Eaton Morgan Nichols & Pritchett 877-373-3660

Page 141
 1 matter with Litaker on the following terms and
 2 conditions," do you see where I am?
 3        A.    Yes.
 4        Q.    Is that the response you got to
 5 your original offer of buying out your contract
 6 and you would retire?
 7        A.    My original -- the original
 8 response was I would get nothing.
 9        Q.    Okay.  And who was that original
10 response from?
11        A.    Mr. Boardman told me that --
12 originally he told me that Mr. Craig was a
13 class member and he had to represent both of
14 us.  And that it was far-fetched for me to
15 think that I could get any kind of buyout.
16        Q.    Okay.  So your original offer was
17 what you told Mr. Boardman you wanted?
18        A.    Yes.
19        Q.    And do you know if he made that
20 offer to Andy?
21        A.    He told me he had a discussion
22 with Andy and --
23        Q.    So Mr. Boardman told you that he
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 1 had conveyed your offer?
 2        A.    Yes.
 3        Q.    Did he tell you what Mr. Craig
 4 said in response to your offer?
 5        A.    I am assuming he just said no.
 6        Q.    You say you are assuming.  Did
 7 Mr. Boardman tell you that he said no?
 8        A.    He told me no, there would not be
 9 a buyout.
10        Q.    Anything else that Mr. Boardman
11 told you that Mr. Craig said in response to
12 your offer?
13        A.    To the original offer?
14        Q.    Yes.
15        A.    Not that I can recall.
16        Q.    And you said that Mr. Boardman
17 told you that it was far-fetched for you to
18 think that you could get your contract bought
19 out?
20        A.    Yes.
21        Q.    Okay.  Did he tell you anything
22 else about that offer?  Was that after he came
23 back to you after his conversation with
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 1 Mr. Craig?
 2        A.    All right.  When he came back to
 3 me, it upset me.  And I said, "No, other
 4 people's contracts have been bought out.  And I
 5 feel like, because I am being -- I feel like I
 6 am being forced to retire."  And I also had a
 7 discussion with him about buyout and future
 8 litigation that I might want to pursue.
 9        Q.    So then what is the next thing
10 that happened in regard to your negotiation
11 with the Board about your retirement or your
12 exit?
13        A.    I contacted Earl Franks again, and
14 I didn't know Mr. Boardman.  And I had found
15 out that he had represented the City Council.
16 And I felt like that may have been a conflict
17 of interest and he assured me it wasn't.  And
18 Mr. Boardman went back to Mr. Craig and I got a
19 partial buyout of my contract.
20        Q.    And that was the pay through the
21 end of 2013?
22        A.    Right, yes.  Sorry.
23        Q.    And in Defendant's Exhibit 3, on
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 1 that third page where the email from
 2 Mr. Sweeney to Mr. Boardman said "Litaker will
 3 submit now her resignation effective December
 4 31, 2013.  And Litaker will work from her home
 5 to do assignments at the discretion of the
 6 superintendent," that was what Mr. Sweeney was
 7 saying that Mr. Craig would like to settle the
 8 matter with you, those terms, correct?
 9        A.    Yes.
10        Q.    Were those the terms you
11 ultimately agreed on?
12        A.    That I would submit my resignation
13 so I would not be demoted, yes.
14        Q.    Did you ever talk with Mr. Craig
15 about the demotion?
16        A.    He wouldn't see me.
17        Q.    Is that a "no," you never talked
18 with him?
19        A.    No.
20        Q.    And I'm sorry.  I want to make
21 sure.  You never talked with him, correct?
22        A.    Yes.
23        Q.    Did Mr. Franks or Mr. Boardman
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 1 ever tell you that they had spoken with Andy
 2 about the demotion?
 3        A.    Mr. Franks did the negotiating for
 4 me.  And whether Mr. Craig actually discussed
 5 it with him, I can't remember.
 6        Q.    What I am trying to find out is
 7 did Mr. Franks ever tell you that he talked to
 8 Andy about your assignment to Crossroads?
 9        A.    No, not to my knowledge.
10        Q.    Okay.  Did Mr. Boardman ever tell
11 you that he talked to Andy about your
12 assignment to Crossroads?
13        A.    No, not to my knowledge.
14        Q.    Did you ever have any more
15 conversations with Mr. Dodson about it?
16        A.    No.
17        Q.    How about Ms. Greene?
18        A.    No.
19        Q.    Did you ever talk to Mary Veal
20 about it?
21        A.    About --
22        Q.    The assignment to Crossroads.
23        A.    Yes.

Page 146
 1        Q.    When did you talk to Mary Veal
 2 about it?
 3        A.    It was during the time period that
 4 Dr. Dodson had come in and talked to me.  I
 5 just felt like things weren't as they should
 6 be, and I requested to see my personnel file
 7 with Mary.
 8              And I discussed -- I discussed
 9 some of it with her.  I don't recall exactly
10 because I was upset.
11        Q.    When you said you requested to see
12 your personnel file, is this while you were
13 still at the Central Office?
14        A.    Yes.
15        Q.    Okay.  Is it before you submitted
16 your letter of resignation?
17        A.    Yes.  I believe so, yes.
18        Q.    From when you spoke with Mr. Veal,
19 did you talk with her about being assigned to
20 the Crossroads job?
21        A.    I am sure I did, but I don't
22 remember my exact conversation with her.
23        Q.    Do you remember anything about

Page 147
 1 what she said in response to anything about
 2 Crossroads?
 3        A.    No.
 4              (Defendant's Exhibit 4 was marked
 5              for identification.)
 6        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  I am handing
 7 you what has been marked Defendant's Exhibit 4
 8 to your deposition.  Is this the resignation
 9 letter that you submitted?
10        A.    Yes.
11        Q.    And is that your signature on
12 Exhibit 4?
13        A.    Yes.
14        Q.    How did you deliver this?
15        A.    I gave it to Mary Veal, or it
16 looks like it may have been an email.  But I
17 gave her a copy of it.  I don't remember doing
18 that.
19        Q.    And in Exhibit 4, it says, "I will
20 retire from the Hoover City School System
21 effective the last day of December 2013."  But
22 you didn't report to work through December
23 31st, 2013, correct?

Page 148
 1        A.    Yes.
 2        Q.    And was your last day reporting to
 3 work at Hoover April 4th, 2013?
 4        A.    The day I turned this in, it -- as
 5 far as I can remember, yes.  I don't know if I
 6 came the next day.  I don't know what day of
 7 the week this is.
 8              I finished up what I was working
 9 on before I left.
10        Q.    And you got paid through December
11 31st, 2013?
12        A.    Yes.
13        Q.    Did you get a raise between April
14 4th and December 31st, 2013?
15        A.    Yes.
16        Q.    Pursuant to the contract?
17        A.    And the raise that was given that
18 year.
19        Q.    Okay.  So your salary was treated
20 like you were still coming to work?
21        A.    Yes.
22        Q.    Okay.  When we started this
23 conversation after lunch, I had asked you about
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 1 the male employees that you felt were treated
 2 better than you.  And we talked about
 3 Mr. Lawry.
 4        A.    Yes.
 5        Q.    And we started talking about the
 6 Crossroads job and your retirement, because you
 7 told me that you didn't apply or you couldn't
 8 apply for Mr. Lawry's job because you were told
 9 that the only option you had was to go to
10 Crossroads.
11        A.    Yes.
12        Q.    The next name was David Fancher.
13 Tell me how Mr. Fancher was treated, what you
14 think indicates you were discriminated against
15 on the basis of your sex.
16        A.    My understanding is that
17 Mr. Fancher has been on corrective action
18 plans.  He has had opportunities to correct
19 problems and issues in the school where he is
20 the principal.
21        Q.    You say it is to your
22 understanding.  What do you base that
23 understanding upon?

Page 150
 1        A.    I worked in Hoover for, like I
 2 said, over twenty years.  Common knowledge, was
 3 in meetings with the principals.  There were
 4 several times that he discussed problems
 5 without giving specifics that he was having.
 6 And --
 7        Q.    Did he ever tell you he was on a
 8 corrective action plan?
 9        A.    Personally, no.
10        Q.    Did anybody ever tell you that he
11 had told them that he was on a corrective
12 action plan?
13        A.    That he had told them?
14        Q.    Yes.
15        A.    That, I can't say for sure.
16        Q.    Did you just assume he was on some
17 kind of corrective action plan?
18        A.    No.
19        Q.    Okay.  So you say it is common
20 knowledge --
21        A.    Yes.
22        Q.    -- that he was on a corrective
23 action plan or that he was having problems at

Page 151
 1 Bluff Park?
 2        A.    Both.
 3        Q.    So you say it is common knowledge
 4 that he was on a corrective action plan, but he
 5 never told you that and nobody else ever told
 6 you that.  So why is it that you believe he was
 7 on a corrective action plan?
 8        A.    But I heard -- I'm sorry.  That is
 9 not what I said or meant to say.
10              I overheard him talking in a
11 principals' meeting in the spring of I think it
12 was -- it was -- I remember we were at Rocky
13 Ridge.  I think it was 2012.  He was very upset
14 because he was having to report to Central
15 Office.
16              And at that principals' meeting, I
17 mean, it was just real apparent he was upset.
18 And then I was told by Dr. Camp, Deborah Camp,
19 that he had been -- he had had many performance
20 problems.
21        Q.    Did she tell you what those
22 performance problems were?
23        A.    One in particular was a problem

Page 152
 1 with a female employee.
 2        Q.    Do you know who that female
 3 employee was?  Did Dr. Camp tell you that?
 4        A.    She told me her name and right now
 5 I can't think of her name even.  And this
 6 female employee had come to Dr. Camp and
 7 expressed to her the situation that had
 8 happened.  And that is how I know about it.
 9        Q.    Did Dr. Camp tell you what the
10 situation that the female employee was
11 complaining about was?
12        A.    It related to sexual harassment.
13        Q.    Other than that it related to
14 sexual harassment, did Dr. Camp give you any
15 details about it?
16        A.    I didn't ask.  No.  Sorry.
17        Q.    Other than Dr. Camp telling you
18 that a female employee had come to her about a
19 sexual harassment issue regarding Mr. Fancher,
20 what other performance problems, if any, did
21 Dr. Camp tell you about regarding Mr. Fancher?
22        A.    Just related to him leaving work,
23 not staying at school during the day, that type
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 1 of thing.
 2        Q.    Did Dr. Camp tell you that
 3 Mr. Fancher was on a corrective action plan?
 4        A.    Yes.
 5        Q.    Okay.  Do you know anything else
 6 about Mr. Fancher's performance problems or
 7 corrective action plan, other than what you
 8 have already told me?
 9        A.    I didn't ask.  No.
10        Q.    Okay.
11              MR. JENT:  You have got to listen
12 to her question and answer her question.
13        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  It will be
14 shorter if you will just answer my question,
15 Ms. Litaker.
16        A.    I'm sorry.  I am getting tired.
17        Q.    So you are saying that Mr. Fancher
18 was given an opportunity to correct problems,
19 and you were not?
20        A.    Yes.
21        Q.    Do you believe that Mr. Fancher's
22 situation was disciplinary?
23        A.    It was performance-based.  So

Page 154
 1 whether it was disciplinary or actual school
 2 function, I don't know how to answer that.
 3        Q.    Okay.  Another name you gave me is
 4 Brian Cain.
 5        A.    Yes.
 6        Q.    Who is Mr. Cain?
 7        A.    He is the principal at Simmons
 8 Middle School.
 9        Q.    How was Mr. Cain treated that
10 makes you think that you were discriminated
11 against based on your sex?
12        A.    He was on a corrective action
13 plan, details I don't know.  But he was given
14 an opportunity to improve his performance in
15 the school and address whatever issues there
16 might have been.
17        Q.    Do you know who put him on a
18 corrective action plan?
19        A.    No.
20        Q.    And you don't know any of the
21 details about what performance issues he needed
22 to address, correct?
23        A.    I didn't ask, yes.

Page 155
 1        Q.    Did you ever talk to Mr. Cain
 2 about his corrective action plan?
 3        A.    Not specifically about his plan,
 4 no.
 5        Q.    Did you talk nonspecifically with
 6 him about his plan?
 7        A.    Not about his plan, no.
 8        Q.    So are you telling me that you
 9 have talked with Mr. Cain?
10        A.    I talked with Mr. Cain just once
11 when I was in his school with the -- when I was
12 working on school safety stuff.
13        Q.    What did you talk to him about,
14 other than school safety stuff?
15        A.    He just said some real encouraging
16 things to me, to keep my head up.  They
17 supported me.  That type of thing.  That he had
18 been in my shoes.
19              And I didn't inquire.
20        Q.    Did you ever talk to Mr. Fancher
21 about his performance issues or corrective
22 action plan?
23        A.    No.

Page 156
 1        Q.    And when you said you had
 2 overheard him talking at a principals' meeting,
 3 who was he talking to?
 4        A.    He was talking to -- he was
 5 sitting with Maurine Black, and we were all
 6 sitting there eating lunch, and they were
 7 talking openly at lunch.  And I was just
 8 sitting there.
 9        Q.    The next thing you had given me or
10 another name that you had given me is Rush
11 Propst.
12        A.    Yes.
13        Q.    Who is Mr. Propst?
14        A.    He is a former football coach at
15 Hoover High School.
16        Q.    And how was Mr. Propst treated
17 that makes you think that you were
18 discriminated against based on your sex?
19        A.    Mr. Propst had a very public
20 dismissal from Hoover High School.  And he was
21 given a position as some type of athletic
22 director -- I may not have the exact title
23 correct -- until -- I believe until the end of
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 1 the school year before he moved on to something
 2 else.  And there may be other details of it
 3 that I am not aware of.
 4        Q.    And you don't know what title
 5 Mr. Propst was given?
 6        A.    I read in the paper.  I believe it
 7 was some type of athletic director position.
 8        Q.    Okay.  But you have never seen
 9 anything from Hoover System that told you what
10 his title was?
11        A.    No.
12        Q.    Okay.  Is that correct, yes?
13        A.    Yes.
14        Q.    Okay.  Do you know if Mr. Propst
15 had any kind of settlement agreement with the
16 Board regarding potential or pending
17 litigation?
18        A.    I don't know.
19        Q.    Do you know how long Mr. Propst
20 was paid?
21        A.    No.
22        Q.    Okay.  Another name you gave me is
23 David Shores.  Who is Mr. Shores?

Page 158
 1        A.    He was a head football coach at
 2 Spain Park High School.
 3        Q.    How was Mr. Shores treated that
 4 makes you think you were discriminated against
 5 based on your sex?
 6        A.    There were allegations against
 7 him, and he was removed from his position and
 8 given a position with Mr. Craig as some type of
 9 athletic director or special assistant or
10 something.
11        Q.    Do you know any other details,
12 other than what you have already told me?
13        A.    Only what I read in the paper.
14        Q.    Do you know if Mr. Shores had any
15 kind of settlement agreement with the Board
16 regarding threatened or pending litigation?
17        A.    All I know -- no.
18        Q.    And do you know how long the Board
19 paid Mr. Shores?
20        A.    Until he found another position,
21 I'm assuming.
22        Q.    Do you know that for a fact, or
23 are you just assuming it?

Page 159
 1        A.    From what I read on Mr. Shores off
 2 the internet, until he found another position.
 3        Q.    Okay.
 4        A.    Can I take a time?
 5              MS. YUENGERT:  Sure.
 6              (Whereupon, a break was had from
 7              2:45 p.m. until 2:59 p.m.)
 8              MS. YUENGERT:  Okay.  Are we
 9 ready?
10              MR. JENT:  Yes.
11        A.    Yes.
12              (Off-the-record discussion.)
13        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  Ms. Litaker,
14 other than the males that we talked about
15 before the break, are there any other male
16 principals or employees that you thought were
17 treated better or were treated in such a way
18 that makes you think that the way you were
19 treated was sex discrimination?
20        A.    We didn't talk about Chris Shaw.
21        Q.    Who is Mr. Shaw?
22        A.    He was the principal at Spain Park
23 High School.

Page 160
 1        Q.    Tell me about what happened with
 2 Mr. Shaw.
 3        A.    There were some issues.
 4        Q.    Do you know what they were?
 5        A.    I am getting tired and I can't
 6 remember everything right now.  But there were
 7 some things in the paper, things that people
 8 talked about in the district.  And he was
 9 removed from his position, and Mr. Craig made
10 him the director of something, like Mr. McBay,
11 who had been director of, I think it was
12 operations or those types of services.
13        Q.    Do you know if Mr. Shaw was
14 involuntarily removed from Spain Park?
15        A.    I believe so.
16        Q.    And why do you believe that?
17        A.    First of all, he left in the
18 middle of a year, and because of information
19 that was in the paper, there was a decision to
20 move him.  And he was given the position,
21 something of the effect what I told you.  And
22 he spent his time coming around to schools.
23 And he actually did come to Trace Crossings.
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 1 And he and I had a conversation.
 2        Q.    Tell me about your conversation
 3 with Mr. Shaw.
 4        A.    He -- you have to understand the
 5 kind of person I am.  I am not intrusive into
 6 people's business.  But he told me something to
 7 the effect that he was just going around asking
 8 principals questions.  He didn't really know
 9 what it was he was doing.  It had something to
10 do with maintenance that we needed in the
11 building.
12        Q.    Do you know if the job that he
13 went to after he left Spain Park was posted?
14        A.    I have no idea.
15        Q.    Okay.
16        A.    It would have to be, by law.
17        Q.    Any other male principals or
18 employees that you thought were treated better
19 than you were?
20        A.    None that I can think of right
21 now.
22        Q.    Were there any female principals
23 who were treated better than you were?

Page 162
 1        A.    Treated better than me?  I don't
 2 know.
 3        Q.    Okay.  Were there other female
 4 principals that you think were mistreated
 5 because of their sex?
 6        A.    That, I don't know.
 7        Q.    When you were telling me about
 8 Mr. Cain being on a corrective action plan, who
 9 told you that Mr. Cain was on a corrective
10 action plan?
11        A.    It was, as I said, within -- when
12 you work in a school district as small as
13 Hoover, you hear things; people talk.  It was
14 common knowledge that he was having some
15 difficulties, and I asked -- I am trying to
16 remember who I asked.  I asked somebody other
17 than Deborah Camp, but I can't remember who.
18 But I also asked her.
19        Q.    You also asked Ms. Camp, Dr. Camp?
20        A.    Dr. Camp, yes.
21        Q.    Did Dr. Camp tell you that
22 Mr. Cain was on a corrective action plan?
23        A.    She was one of the people that

Page 163
 1 did.  And I can't remember who else did.  They
 2 said they saw Mr. Cain regularly meeting with
 3 Ms. Barber, I think Ms. Barber, at Central
 4 Office.
 5        Q.    And did Dr. Camp tell you that
 6 Mr. Cain was on a corrective action plan or
 7 that she had seen him meeting --
 8        A.    Both.
 9        Q.    Okay.  And the other person who
10 told you something about it that you can't
11 remember who, did they tell you that Mr. Cain
12 was on a corrective action plan?
13        A.    I believe so, yes.
14        Q.    Okay.  Was the person that you
15 can't remember who, do you recall if it was
16 somebody from the Central Office?
17        A.    I don't know because it was before
18 all of this happened.  And I -- as I said, I
19 don't typically try to listen in those type of
20 things, I don't --
21        Q.    Ms. Litaker, one of your claims in
22 this lawsuit is for breach of contract.
23        A.    Uh-huh.

Page 164
 1        Q.    Correct?
 2        A.    Yes.
 3        Q.    And I have looked through the
 4 various records, and I find two different
 5 principal employment contracts; is that
 6 correct?
 7        A.    For me?
 8        Q.    Yes.
 9        A.    The first one I had was my first
10 two-year --
11        Q.    As a probationary contract?
12        A.    Probationary.  And at the end of
13 two years, I was awarded a three-year contract.
14              (Defendant's Exhibit 5 was marked
15              for identification.)
16        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  And I am
17 handing you what has been marked Defendant's
18 Exhibit 5 to your deposition.  Is that the
19 principal employment contract when you are a
20 probationary contract principal?
21        A.    This looks like the one that I
22 signed, yes.
23        Q.    Is that your signature on the last
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 1 page?
 2        A.    Yes, it is.
 3        Q.    And in your claims in this
 4 lawsuit, do you claim that the Board or
 5 Mr. Craig breached that contract that is
 6 Defendant's Exhibit 5?
 7        A.    This contract was no longer -- no.
 8        Q.    Okay.  So you are not claiming
 9 that Defendant's Exhibit 5, that that contract
10 was breached in any way, correct?
11        A.    No.
12              MR. JENT:  Yes.
13        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  Yes, correct?
14        A.    Yes, you are correct.  I'm sorry.
15 I am getting tired.
16        Q.    That is all right.  And under the
17 terms of that contract that is Defendant's
18 Exhibit 5, you were evaluated annually; is that
19 correct?
20        A.    Yes.
21        Q.    And who did your evaluations?
22        A.    Carol Barber.
23        Q.    And that is in her role as the

Page 166
 1 Assistant Superintendent?
 2        A.    Yes.
 3              (Defendant's Exhibit 6 was marked
 4              for identification.)
 5        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  I am handing
 6 you what has been marked Defendant's Exhibit 6
 7 to your deposition.  Is that the first
 8 evaluation you had as a probationary principal?
 9        A.    Yes.
10        Q.    In your first year at Trace
11 Crossings, how often did you meet with
12 Ms. Barber?
13        A.    You know, it is hard to say.  She
14 checked in with me fairly often because of the
15 issues that existed in the school.
16        Q.    And those were the issues that you
17 were implementing changes to fix.
18        A.    That I found that I had to fix.
19        Q.    When you said she would check in
20 with you fairly often, would she come by the
21 school?  Would she visit classrooms?
22        A.    She would come by the school, she
23 would call me, email me.  And I can't remember

Page 167
 1 any specific time walking through -- yeah, I
 2 do.  We did walk through the school some.
 3        Q.    Do you know if Ms. Barber met with
 4 the teachers during that first year, or did she
 5 just come by and talk with you?
 6        A.    I don't know.
 7        Q.    This evaluation that is
 8 Defendant's Exhibit 6, did you think that it
 9 was a fair evaluation?
10        A.    Yes.
11        Q.    In your first year, did you think
12 that Ms. Barber was supportive of you as a new
13 principal at Trace Crossings?
14        A.    Yes.
15        Q.    Let me back up.  Did Ms. Barber
16 meet with you to administer this evaluation, or
17 did she just send it to you?  Was it done
18 online?
19        A.    No, we met.
20        Q.    Okay.  Did you meet at her office
21 or at your office?
22        A.    From what I recall, it was at
23 Trace Crossings, in my office.

Page 168
 1              (Defendant's Exhibit 7 was marked
 2              for identification.)
 3        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  I am handing
 4 you what has been marked Defendant's Exhibit 7
 5 to your deposition.  Is this your second
 6 evaluation as a probationary contract
 7 principal?
 8        A.    Yes.
 9        Q.    And did Ms. Barber meet with you
10 to administer this evaluation?
11        A.    Yes.
12        Q.    Do you recall if you met at her
13 office or at your office?
14        A.    I think we met at my office.  I
15 didn't like to leave school, so she would
16 typically come to me.
17        Q.    And the date on Defendant's
18 Exhibit 7 is February 8th, 2012.  Is that about
19 when you met; do you recall?
20        A.    That would be with PEPE.  That
21 would probably be the date that we signed off.
22 It is an ongoing assessment during the year.
23 So I am assuming that is the date we signed
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 1 off.
 2        Q.    And when you say "with PEPE," is
 3 that all caps P-E-P-E?
 4        A.    Yeah.
 5        Q.    And that is the system for the
 6 evaluations?
 7        A.    Yes.  It was, yes.
 8        Q.    Okay.  And when you say it was,
 9 did it change the next year to a different
10 system?
11        A.    It changed to Lead Alabama.
12        Q.    And so after Defendant's Exhibit
13 7, the next year would have been a different
14 type of evaluation or a different form?
15        A.    Yes.
16        Q.    Okay.  Under Lead Alabama?
17        A.    Right.
18        Q.    In your second year at Trace
19 Crossings, did Ms. Barber spend about the same
20 amount of time at Trace or more or less?
21        A.    Probably less, I think.
22        Q.    Did you think that in your second
23 year at Trace that Ms. Barber was supportive of

Page 170
 1 you as the principal at Trace?
 2        A.    Yes.
 3              (Defendant's Exhibit 8 was marked
 4              for identification.)
 5        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  I am handing
 6 you what has been marked Defendant's Exhibit 8
 7 to your deposition.  Is this the three-year
 8 contract that you referenced earlier?
 9        A.    Yes.
10        Q.    And is that your signature on the
11 last page of Defendant's Exhibit 8?
12        A.    Yes.
13        Q.    And so the term for this contract,
14 according to Section 1, was through June 30th,
15 2015, correct?
16        A.    Yes.
17        Q.    In your Complaint, you say, in
18 Paragraph 13 on Page 4, "In violation of her
19 contract, plaintiff was not evaluated for the
20 2012-2013 year."
21              Do you see where I am in the
22 Complaint?
23        A.    Yes, on 13.  Yeah.

Page 171
 1        Q.    Who should have done your
 2 evaluation in the 2012-2013 year?
 3        A.    I asked Dr. Dodson who was going
 4 to do my evaluation.  And he said, "I guess it
 5 will be me."
 6        Q.    Had the evaluation process already
 7 begun with you in the fall under Lead Alabama?
 8        A.    Yes.
 9        Q.    And what was the first step of
10 that?
11        A.    The first step to -- remember, I
12 haven't worked with this in multiple years now.
13        Q.    Understood.
14        A.    But you set goals that you wanted
15 to work on during the year, and you -- and I
16 set those goals -- I signed -- Carol Barber
17 signed off on it; I signed off on it.  And then
18 you began the process of the professional
19 learning to achieve those goals.
20        Q.    Okay.  And you said you asked
21 Mr. Dodson about who would do the review, and
22 he said that he assumed he would or guessed he
23 would?

Page 172
 1        A.    Yes, because there was -- with
 2 Ms. Barber no longer being at Central Office,
 3 all the principals were kind of in limbo about
 4 who was going to do their evaluations.
 5        Q.    When did you talk to Mr. Dodson
 6 about that?
 7        A.    I can't even guess.  Sometime
 8 while I was at Central Office.  I was diligent
 9 about making sure I did the stuff on it.
10        Q.    Under the Lead Alabama, when was
11 the next step in the evaluation due, if you
12 remember?
13        A.    I don't remember.  I had completed
14 all of my goals and I believe I had signed off
15 on it.  That --
16        Q.    So the next step would have been
17 what in the evaluation process?
18        A.    I'm sorry.  To sit down and talk
19 to whoever was going to evaluate me.  And with
20 Educate Alabama for Teachers and Lead Alabama,
21 you do an electronic signature after the
22 discussion.
23        Q.    In Paragraph 14 of your Complaint,
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 1 it says, "Plaintiff was removed without any
 2 reason from the principal position at Trace
 3 Crossings Elementary School on November 16,
 4 2012 and placed at the Central/Administrative
 5 Office for months without being given a
 6 permanent job assignment.  This move was done
 7 without the required Board approval, therefore,
 8 invalid."
 9              Do you see where I am?
10        A.    Yes.
11        Q.    When Andy and Carol talked to you
12 about moving you to the Central Office on
13 November 15th, 2012, did you ask for a hearing?
14        A.    I didn't think I needed to.  No.
15        Q.    Did you object to the move?
16        A.    Not at the time, no.
17        Q.    And after your move to the Central
18 Office, your salary didn't change, correct?
19        A.    Correct.
20        Q.    Did you have any conversation
21 either on November 15th, 2012 or thereafter
22 with Andy about your contract?
23        A.    Specifically my contract?

Page 174
 1        Q.    Yes.
 2        A.    Not that I recall, no.
 3        Q.    And your contract ended when you
 4 retired; is that true?
 5        A.    That is my assumption, yes.
 6        Q.    Okay.  In Paragraph 18 of your
 7 Complaint, and I am looking at the last
 8 sentence in Paragraph 18 on the top of Page 5,
 9 it says, "Under her contract, the plaintiff
10 should have automatically been moved to another
11 principal's position and could only be moved
12 upon approval by vote of the Board."
13              Where in your contract does it say
14 that you should have automatically been moved
15 to another principal's position?
16        A.    I should have been moved to a
17 position only after Board approval that is
18 specified in the contract.
19        Q.    Is there anything in your contract
20 that you understand to say that you should have
21 automatically been moved to another principal
22 position?
23        A.    My interpretation of the

Page 175
 1 agreement, based on my evaluations and my
 2 performance.
 3        Q.    And what in your agreement are you
 4 interpreting that says that you should have
 5 automatically been moved to another principal's
 6 position?
 7              MR. JENT:  You can look through
 8 all that.
 9        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  You can look
10 through the contract.  I am just trying to find
11 out --
12        A.    Yeah, because I had very good
13 evaluations, very good feedback.  I had no
14 performance problems.  I had been promised that
15 I would move -- be moved into a principal's
16 position.
17        Q.    And I understand all that.  What I
18 am asking you, is there anything in your
19 employment contract that is marked Defendant's
20 Exhibit 8 -- right?
21              MR. JENT:  Yes.
22        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  -- that says
23 that you automatically would be moved to

Page 176
 1 another principal's position?
 2        A.    Other than I fulfilled what was
 3 asked of me within the contract.  The contract
 4 itself has an agreement --
 5              MR. JENT:  She is asking for a
 6 specific provision that governs transfers.
 7        A.    I'm tired.  I'm sorry.  Section 5,
 8 where it says, "The Board, upon the written
 9 recommendation of the superintendent, is
10 authorized to transfer the contract for
11 principal without loss of salary to any other
12 administrative position in the school system."
13        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  Okay.  In
14 Paragraph 19 of your Complaint, the first
15 sentence says, "Superintendent Craig
16 continually assured the plaintiff that he would
17 take care of her and find her a position that
18 met her qualifications and track record."
19              Did he say that, that he would
20 find you a position that met your
21 qualifications and track record?
22        A.    He said he would find -- he
23 would -- when he reorganized the district, that
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 1 I would either be a principal, and I told him
 2 that I would consider accepting a director's
 3 position.
 4        Q.    I am confused by your answer,
 5 because what you said was, he said that when he
 6 reorganized the district, you would be either a
 7 principal.
 8        A.    Uh-huh.
 9        Q.    And then you said you told him
10 that you would accept a director position.
11        A.    I'm sorry.  I am getting --
12        Q.    So that is not an either from what
13 I can see.  So if you could explain that, that
14 would help.
15              MR. JENT:  What did he tell you,
16 what came out of his mouth?
17        A.    Originally he told me that I would
18 be in a principal's position.
19        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  Okay.
20        A.    I'm sorry.
21        Q.    At some point, did he ask you if
22 you would accept anything other than a
23 principal position?

Page 178
 1        A.    Yes.
 2        Q.    And what did you say?
 3        A.    I said I would accept a director's
 4 position.
 5        Q.    And what did he say to that?
 6        A.    He indicated that -- he
 7 acknowledged that I told him that.
 8        Q.    When you say "he acknowledged
 9 that" --
10        A.    He --
11        Q.    Nodded?
12        A.    Nodded -- he nodded, yes.
13        Q.    Okay.  In Paragraph 21 of your
14 Complaint, it says, "Furthermore, by the end of
15 the year, 2012-2013, the plaintiff, along with
16 the other female principal whose school had not
17 made AYP, had been moved out of her school.
18 The male principal (Mr. Scott Mitchell), whose
19 school did not make AYP, was left unscathed and
20 given a new three-year contract."
21              Who was the other female principal
22 whose school had not made AYP?
23        A.    Dr. Kathy Wheaton at Berry Middle

Page 179
 1 School.
 2        Q.    And in Paragraph 21, it says that
 3 Dr. Wheaton had been moved out of her school?
 4        A.    Yes.
 5        Q.    Where was she moved to?
 6        A.    Greystone Elementary.
 7        Q.    What, if anything, do you know
 8 about the circumstances surrounding her to
 9 Greystone Elementary?
10        A.    My understanding is, that -- and I
11 don't know who told her, but she was just told
12 that she was being moved to Greystone
13 Elementary.
14        Q.    And what do you base that
15 understanding on?
16        A.    A discussion with her on the
17 phone.  She called me up.
18        Q.    When did Dr. Wheaton --
19        A.    No, wait a minute.  Dr. Wheaton
20 called me up when I was first moved away from
21 Trace.
22        Q.    Okay.  And what did you and
23 Dr. Wheaton talk about then?

Page 180
 1        A.    She was just like other people,
 2 very supportive of me.  Told me if I needed
 3 somebody to talk to, I could call her up, that
 4 type of thing.
 5        Q.    Did you ever call her just to talk
 6 or get support?
 7        A.    No, not that I remember, no.
 8        Q.    So then that was right after you
 9 left Trace, correct?
10        A.    Correct, yes.
11        Q.    So what do you base your testimony
12 on that you told me that Dr. Wheaton was told
13 she would be moved to Greystone?
14        A.    That was my understanding from --
15 and I don't remember who told me that.  They
16 said that she was very upset about it.
17        Q.    Dr. Wheaton was?
18        A.    Dr. Wheaton was.  I did not talk
19 to her directly about it.
20        Q.    And you don't remember who told
21 you that Dr. Wheaton was upset about the move?
22        A.    No, I don't.
23        Q.    Did you ever talk to Dr. Camp
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 1 about it?
 2        A.    I really don't think I had that
 3 discussion with her.
 4        Q.    Did whoever told you about
 5 Dr. Wheaton being upset about moving to
 6 Greystone, did they tell you that Dr. Wheaton
 7 had been told she was going to be moved because
 8 of her school not making AYP?
 9        A.    I don't know.
10        Q.    In Paragraph 27 of your Complaint,
11 it says, "Defendants did violate plaintiff's
12 due process rights under the 14th Amendment by
13 removing her from her position as principal at
14 Trace Crossings Elementary School without
15 notice or hearing and without vote of the
16 Hoover Board of Education."
17              What notice and hearing do you
18 believe you were entitled to before you could
19 be moved?
20        A.    I was given no indication that
21 there was anything wrong with my performance,
22 the way I was running the school.
23              I had been given no sit-down

Page 182
 1 corrective action, this is what you need to do,
 2 this is what you are not doing, that type of
 3 thing.  And the School Board never moved on my
 4 transfer out of the school.
 5        Q.    So you believe that you were
 6 entitled to a corrective action or some sort of
 7 notice about your deficiencies before Mr. Craig
 8 could move you from Trace Crossings, correct?
 9        A.    When I was not -- when I realized,
10 after I was moved, that the reason for moving
11 me was not as they told me it was, after I came
12 back in January -- at that point.
13        Q.    And when you said that you
14 realized that the reason for moving you was not
15 as what you were told, and you have told me
16 what they told you on November 15th, correct?
17        A.    Yes.
18        Q.    So what did you learn in January
19 was -- I don't know how to put this any other
20 way -- the real reason that you got moved?
21        A.    And I'm sorry.  I am getting
22 tired, so I am not --
23        Q.    Do we need to stop?

Page 183
 1        A.    No.
 2        Q.    I mean, are you getting to a point
 3 where you can't continue?
 4        A.    No.  But I am -- I am just getting
 5 a little tired, so I am not being clear.  By
 6 the time that I was told that I was going to be
 7 moved to Crossroads as the assistant
 8 principal -- I didn't apply for the position; I
 9 was just told I was being moved, that was the
10 point when I felt like I had not been given any
11 notice that there was anything wrong with my
12 performance or anything that I had done at
13 Trace Crossings or while I was at Central
14 Office.
15        Q.    And did Dodson or Greene tell you
16 that the reason that you were going to go to
17 Crossroads as the assistant principal was
18 because of your performance?
19        A.    No.
20        Q.    They didn't give you any reason at
21 all, they just told you that was what was going
22 to happen?
23        A.    Correct.

Page 184
 1        Q.    At any point, did anybody give you
 2 a reason that you were moved out of Trace
 3 Crossings, other than what Craig and Barbara
 4 had told you on November 15th?
 5        A.    No.
 6        Q.    When you were moved from Trace
 7 Crossings in November of 2012, did you contact
 8 Mary Veal or any board members to complain
 9 about that decision?
10        A.    No, I didn't think I needed to.
11        Q.    Did you contact any board members
12 about your being told that you were going to be
13 moved to Crossroads?
14        A.    No.
15        Q.    In Paragraph 39 of your Complaint,
16 it says, "There were available principal
17 positions in which the plaintiff could have
18 been placed pursuant to her contract."
19              What available principal positions
20 were there that you believe you should have
21 been placed in?
22        A.    South Shades Crest was going to be
23 open, based on what Bob Lawry told me, and
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 1 Greystone Elementary.
 2        Q.    Any others?
 3        A.    Not that I can think of right now.
 4        Q.    Okay.  Do you know if both of
 5 those positions were posted?
 6        A.    I am sure they were, yes.
 7        Q.    On Page 11 of your Complaint, in
 8 the Prayer for Relief, Paragraph 3, you request
 9 that "the Court grant plaintiff an order
10 requiring the defendant to make her whole by
11 awarding her the position or positions she
12 would have occupied in the absence of the
13 aforementioned sex discrimination, due process
14 violations, and breach of contract by awarding
15 her" -- damages.
16              What positions do you believe you
17 would have occupied but for the alleged sex
18 discrimination, due process and breach of
19 contract?
20        A.    I would have remained in my
21 principal's position and then I would have
22 eventually pursued the other goals I had.
23        Q.    Which were?

Page 186
 1        A.    I wanted to be a superintendent.
 2        Q.    And so the position that you would
 3 have occupied in the absence of the alleged sex
 4 discrimination and those other things is the
 5 principal at Trace Crossings Elementary?
 6        A.    Yes.
 7        Q.    And you were replaced at Trace
 8 Crossings by Carol Barber, correct?
 9        A.    I believe they -- she was put
10 there.
11        Q.    Was she the acting principal after
12 you left?
13        A.    Yes.
14              (Defendant's Exhibit 9 was marked
15              for identification.)
16        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  I am handing
17 you what has been marked Defendant's Exhibit 9
18 to your deposition.  Do you recognize this
19 document?
20        A.    Yes.
21        Q.    This is, I believe, a document
22 that your lawyer provided to me that appears to
23 me to be an email from you to Mary Veal on

Page 187
 1 April 1st, 2013, correct?
 2        A.    Yes.
 3        Q.    And you are talking to her about a
 4 hostile letter from Amanda Stone that Mary and
 5 Carol Barber were copied on, correct?
 6        A.    Yes.
 7        Q.    Do you have a copy of the email
 8 from Ms. Stone?  I couldn't find it in what had
 9 been produced.
10        A.    I thought it was included.  I can
11 get that.
12        Q.    If you can check for that, that
13 will be helpful.  If you don't have a copy of
14 it, I understand.
15        A.    No, I have it.
16        Q.    Okay.  It could be I just didn't
17 recognize what it was.  And you can read over
18 Defendant's Exhibit 9.  I am trying to find out
19 what the gist of Ms. Stone's email was.
20        A.    It was written on Trace
21 Crossings's stationery.  She had written me an
22 email earlier in the month or I guess it would
23 have been in March, asking for her PEPE

Page 188
 1 portfolio, which was her evaluation portfolio.
 2 I don't have it.  I didn't have it.
 3              I had a lot of -- I found it to be
 4 troubling that she was asking me for it,
 5 because I had had so much trouble getting her
 6 to do her evaluation.
 7        Q.    And the PEPE evaluation would have
 8 been for the prior year?
 9        A.    Yes.
10        Q.    Okay.  And I'm sorry.  I am going
11 to back you up.  You said you don't have it,
12 you didn't have it.  Is it something, when you
13 were the principal at Trace, that you would
14 have had?
15        A.    She would have given -- she gave
16 it to me to review, and it was not in a
17 condition that I viewed as scorable.  And I
18 called other principals and asked them what
19 they were doing with their assistants, because
20 this was being phased out.
21        Q.    Because the PEPE was being phased
22 out?
23        A.    Yes.  And they were opting just to
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 1 evaluate using the ESR, which is the form that
 2 teachers -- this (indicating).
 3        Q.    You are pointing to Defendant's
 4 Exhibit 7?
 5        A.    Yeah.
 6        Q.    In that form?
 7        A.    Yes.
 8        Q.    So this was a form for the
 9 assistant principals?
10        A.    Yes.  So -- and I found it to be
11 troubling because she had used my assistant
12 principal's PEPE that I had, I gave her mine to
13 use.  It is pretty cumbersome the first time
14 you do it.
15              And I repeatedly asked her for it.
16 And then for her to -- I took the letter as a
17 very hostile -- I didn't know why, after I
18 emailed her back, "I don't have it," when she
19 had it in an electronic form too -- that -- I
20 mean, I had -- I still have some of her
21 electronic -- I think I have her ESR.  And I
22 felt that she was attacking me.  And I talked
23 with Mark Boardman about it, and he told me

Page 190
 1 just not to respond to her and to just make
 2 sure somebody in the district knew.
 3              So I told -- I sent this to Mary
 4 Veal, and I also sent her some examples of
 5 things that I had done in the school
 6 organization-wise.
 7        Q.    Well, that was another question I
 8 had.  In your email to Mary, near the bottom it
 9 says, "I have attached a copy of the job
10 responsibility listing for this year."
11        A.    Yes.
12        Q.    I just want to make sure if I know
13 that this was the attachment.
14        A.    Yes.
15        Q.    Is this what was attached?
16        A.    Yes.
17        Q.    Okay.  I am going to mark it as an
18 exhibit, if you will hand it back.
19        A.    I mean, I am looking.  I think
20 that was the current one.  Let me look at the
21 names on it, because I had one every year.
22              (Defendant's Exhibit 10 was marked
23              for identification.)

Page 191
 1        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  I am handing
 2 you Defendant's Exhibit 10 to your deposition.
 3 Do you believe that this was the attachment to
 4 the email to Mary Veal that was Defendant's
 5 Exhibit 9?
 6        A.    Yes.
 7        Q.    Okay.  And this just shows
 8 assignments?
 9        A.    Just things, yeah, that we were --
10 there were additional things, in addition to
11 what is listed here.  But these were the
12 primary day-to-day --
13        Q.    This was just an example you were
14 giving to Mary?
15        A.    It was what I had in place, yes.
16              MS. YUENGERT:  Kevin, I am pretty
17 sure I have never seen a letter from Amanda
18 Stone on Trace Crossings letterhead, so if you
19 can track that down.
20              MR. JENT:  We will look for it.  I
21 have given you everything --
22              MS. YUENGERT:  Understood.  But if
23 you can look for it --

Page 192
 1              MR. JENT:  Yeah.
 2        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  Did Mary Veal
 3 respond to Defendant's Exhibit 9; do you
 4 recall?
 5        A.    You know, here is the point where
 6 I am getting tired.  I think she did.  And if
 7 she did, I included it.
 8        Q.    Did you have any other contact
 9 with Amanda --
10        A.    No.
11        Q.    -- after the letter?
12        A.    No.
13        Q.    Earlier I had asked you about a
14 report or a comment or -- I don't know how I
15 characterized it or how you characterized it --
16 that you had made to Carol Barber about Amanda
17 Stone and Dana Joiner about an inappropriate
18 relationship.  And you told me that you felt
19 that Amanda was favoring Dana, correct?
20        A.    That she provided things to Dana
21 that other teachers were not -- didn't have
22 available to them.  And that can cause
23 problems.
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 1        Q.    Like what types of things?
 2        A.    Laptop computers.  At one point,
 3 she was going to provide Google email accounts
 4 to the students in the room, and I had asked
 5 her not to do that.
 6              There were conferences that --
 7 there was a conference before I was moved out
 8 of Trace Crossings that I sent Amanda to, and I
 9 had just become aware that the faculty and
10 parents were talking about -- talking about
11 them, and that --
12        Q.    Okay.  I'm sorry.  You sent Amanda
13 to a conference?
14        A.    Yeah, again, I do apologize, I'm
15 sorry.  I sent Amanda to an ISTE, I believe it
16 was an ISTE conference.
17        Q.    That is I-S-T-E?
18        A.    Yeah, I don't remember.  I
19 included that registration.  And he had asked
20 me if Dana could go with her.  And I said,
21 "No."  This -- I wanted whatever it was that
22 was going on, it needed to stop because it
23 showed favoritism, and that can cause a problem

Page 194
 1 on a team and in a school.
 2              And it -- Dana apparently went on
 3 the conference with her.  She asked me if she
 4 could take a personal -- a couple of personal
 5 days and go on a trip to South Carolina with
 6 her family.  And then I told her -- she said
 7 that she had some kind of medical condition, a
 8 heart murmur, something -- I don't remember,
 9 that she just wanted to take some time off.
10              And I got home and started
11 thinking about it, and it was the exact same
12 days.  And I went to Dana -- and this was prior
13 to going on the trip -- and I said, "Dana" --
14        Q.    To the conference?
15        A.    To the conference.  And I said,
16 "If your doctor told you to take the time off,
17 then you can take sick days for that instead of
18 using your personal days."  She had requested
19 personal days.  And she said, "No, no, I will
20 just take my personal days."
21              And then she went to the
22 bookkeeper and told the bookkeeper that she was
23 going on a girls weekend -- that is Debbie

Page 195
 1 Drake.  And I had no proof that it was the
 2 exact same time, exact same weekend or days for
 3 the trip -- I'm sorry.  It wasn't over a
 4 weekend.
 5              And then when they got back, I
 6 asked Amanda if she had gone with her, and
 7 Amanda got really upset with me.  And she said,
 8 "I did not go to meetings with that woman."
 9 And I took that as they went to the conference,
10 but they didn't go to meetings together.
11              And I said, "Amanda, this has got
12 to stop."  I mean, I can't tell -- I couldn't
13 tell people who to be friends with, but when
14 you put on the appearance in the school that
15 you are favoring certain teachers, it causes a
16 problem.
17        Q.    Did you ever tell anyone that you
18 believed that Amanda and Dana were having some
19 kind of sexual or romantic relationship?
20        A.    No.
21        Q.    Has anybody else suggested that to
22 you?
23        A.    Yes.

Page 196
 1        Q.    Who?
 2        A.    A couple of parents implied it --
 3 and I can't tell you who -- on the PTO.  And
 4 you know, for me to say it was implied when it
 5 specifically -- when I remember it coming out
 6 of somebody's mouth -- it wasn't a good
 7 situation.  It needed to stop.
 8        Q.    Do you know when that first came
 9 up?
10        A.    To me, sometime in October, but I
11 had talked to her the previous year.
12        Q.    When you say "her," --
13        A.    I'm sorry.
14        Q.    Amanda?
15        A.    Amanda Stone, yes, about it.
16        Q.    You had talked to her about
17 showing favoritism to Dana?
18        A.    Yes.  And to any teacher.
19 Don't -- you know, don't provide something for
20 one that you are not going to provide --
21              (Defendant's Exhibit 11 was marked
22              for identification.)
23        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  I am handing
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 1 you what has been marked as Defendant's Exhibit
 2 11 to your deposition.  This is the EEOC charge
 3 that you filed in this matter.
 4        A.    (Nodding).
 5        Q.    You have to say "yes."
 6        A.    Yes.  I'm so sorry.
 7        Q.    Is that your signature on
 8 Defendant's Exhibit 11?
 9        A.    Yes.
10        Q.    And is that date 9/24/2013?
11        A.    Yes.
12        Q.    This is the only EEOC charge you
13 have ever filed?
14        A.    Yes.
15        Q.    In Paragraph 1 of Defendant's
16 Exhibit 11, the last sentence says, "I was told
17 that I had done nothing wrong to cause the move
18 and that I was being moved to 'protect me.'"
19              Who told you that you were being
20 moved to protect you?
21        A.    That was part of the meeting on
22 November 15th when I met with Carol and Andy.
23        Q.    Did they both tell you that you

Page 198
 1 were being moved to protect you, or can you
 2 recall if one or the other said it?
 3        A.    I think both of them at different
 4 times told me, and --
 5        Q.    Since your announcement of
 6 retirement back in April of 2013, have you had
 7 any paid jobs?
 8        A.    No.
 9        Q.    Have you been offered any jobs
10 that you didn't take?
11        A.    No.
12        Q.    Do you have any applications that
13 are outstanding that you haven't heard back
14 from?
15        A.    Yes.
16        Q.    I think that in your discovery
17 responses you had put a number in Number 10
18 that said "waiting on response."  Is that what
19 you mean?
20        A.    Yes.
21        Q.    Okay.  One of the aspects of the
22 damages that you are seeking in this lawsuit is
23 emotional distress; is that correct?

Page 199
 1        A.    Yes.
 2        Q.    And I want you to tell me about
 3 the emotional distress that you have suffered
 4 as a result of the Board's, Mr. Craig's or
 5 Ms. Barber's conduct.
 6        A.    Again, I am getting tired.  But
 7 prior to this, I am a very well-known educator
 8 around the state.  I have worked very hard -- I
 9 have always been on state committees and
10 national committees, spoken at conferences and
11 that type of thing.
12              And since this has happened, I
13 don't really go out of the house much.  I --
14 I -- I rarely go to Hoover, only if I
15 absolutely have to.
16              There are things like when -- and
17 my doctor can tell you more, but when I walk
18 into any kind of public room, I am -- the first
19 thing I do is scan the room to make sure
20 there's nobody I know.
21              I mean, it is -- it is -- I mean,
22 it is -- I mean, it has completely ruined my
23 career.  I can't get a job.  You know, I Google

Page 200
 1 my name on the computer, and the first thing
 2 that comes up is "Trace Crossings principal
 3 Robin Litaker moved because of strife in the
 4 school."
 5              I mean, I am just not the same
 6 person that I was.
 7        Q.    When you say that you don't go out
 8 of the house or you don't go to Hoover or you
 9 scan the room when you walk into a public
10 place --
11        A.    Yeah.
12        Q.    -- is that out of fear, is it out
13 of embarrassment?  Tell me what is causing
14 that.
15        A.    And again, that is something that
16 Dr. Bair is helping me with.  It is
17 humiliation, embarrassment, fear.
18              When I do see people -- like one
19 time I did run into Melody Greene at Costco's
20 one Sunday morning, and when they say, "How are
21 you," I just put on a good face and say, "I am
22 doing great and everything," but inside,
23 anytime something like that happens, it just
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 1 really sets me back.
 2              I do have friends that try to get
 3 me to go out, and I do go out, but not -- not
 4 like I used to.
 5        Q.    When you say "not like you used
 6 to," how did you used to go out?
 7        A.    Well, I know that was kind of an
 8 open-ended thing.  I have always been fairly --
 9 you know, I am a quiet person, but I am social.
10              Like most everyday people are, you
11 know, pick up the phone, call somebody and see
12 if they want to go out and eat or do you want
13 to go to a show or something like that.  And
14 unless somebody initiates it with me, it is
15 typically -- it is not going to happen.
16              And like I said, I do have
17 friends, and I am not saying I never say, "Hey,
18 will you go out and eat with me?"  But out of a
19 hundred times, it might be once.  And other
20 than that, I -- I stay at home, and I just kind
21 of keep to myself.
22              I have -- I mean, I am trying, and
23 Dr. Bair has stuff that he has me doing.

Page 202
 1        Q.    Like what?
 2        A.    Well, he has -- it is -- I am
 3 laughing because I'm not doing very good with
 4 it.  He has this zone thing for me where Trace
 5 Crossings is like the hot zone, and then you
 6 come out here and out here (demonstrating).
 7              And how close can I get without
 8 feeling like I am feeling right this minute.
 9 And --
10        Q.    And when you say when you are
11 "feeling right this minute" --
12        A.    I am visibly upset right now.  It
13 upsets me, just the whole topic about what
14 happened to me and why or -- I don't know why
15 it happened.
16              And being where I can't be with
17 children in school.
18        Q.    When you say you can't be with
19 children in school, have you attempted to be
20 with children at school?
21        A.    I have attempted to get jobs.
22        Q.    Okay.
23        A.    That is what I mean by that.

Page 203
 1        Q.    So it is not that you enter a
 2 school and you can't stay?
 3        A.    No.
 4        Q.    It is --
 5        A.    No.  In fact, one of the things, a
 6 friend of mine, I was helping with her
 7 dissertation, it is a principal at Edgewood
 8 Elementary was the first school I went into
 9 last spring or winter or sometime, but just not
10 being with kids and teachers has really hurt
11 me, set me back.
12        Q.    Other than this agitation or
13 visible upset that you are describing to me,
14 have you had any physical manifestations of
15 your emotional distress?
16        A.    Gained a lot of weight.
17        Q.    When you say "a lot" -- I'm not
18 asking how much you weigh.  I am just asking
19 how much weight you say you have gained as a
20 result of this.
21        A.    Oh, I have gained thirty plus
22 pounds.
23        Q.    Anything else?

Page 204
 1        A.    Not that I can think of right now.
 2 I am sure there are other things.
 3        Q.    Do you attend church regularly?
 4        A.    I -- I watch internet every Sunday
 5 morning.
 6        Q.    What do you watch on the internet
 7 on Sunday mornings?
 8        A.    I am thinking -- Daily Hope, Rick
 9 Warren.
10        Q.    Okay.
11        A.    And I do it daily also.
12        Q.    But you don't attend a bricks and
13 mortar church in town?
14        A.    No.
15        Q.    When did you move your dad to
16 Fairhope?
17        A.    A few weeks ago.  I can't remember
18 the date.  I can look on my calendar if you
19 need the date.
20        Q.    Why was he moved to Fairhope?
21        A.    In part -- if I am completely
22 honest in part, because of this.  I have hidden
23 it from him, and I do not want him to be
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 1 exposed to it.  He is ninety.
 2        Q.    When you say "exposed," to what?
 3        A.    To what has happened to me.  He
 4 doesn't -- he doesn't know.
 5        Q.    He doesn't know that you are no
 6 longer at Trace?
 7        A.    No.  He doesn't know -- I told him
 8 that Mr. Craig was moving me from Trace, and he
 9 was going to take care of me.  And then I told
10 him that I had decided to retire.  I didn't --
11 he is almost ninety, and I didn't want to
12 overly upset him.
13        Q.    In your third year at Trace, which
14 would have been the 2012-2013 school year,
15 right --
16        A.    (Nodding.)
17        Q.    -- I think you had produced some
18 newspaper articles about the Central Office
19 providing support at Trace about math; am I
20 right?
21        A.    Yes.
22        Q.    Okay.  Tell me kind of, in a
23 general sense, what that is about.  What had
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 1 happened?
 2        A.    The school didn't make AYP.
 3        Q.    Okay.  In math or --
 4        A.    In math.
 5        Q.    Okay.
 6        A.    And of seventeen cells, we made it
 7 in fifteen.  I -- at that point, one of the
 8 issues when I moved in the school was
 9 instruction in math.  And because we didn't
10 make AYP, I asked Carol Barber and Ron Dodson,
11 Linda Gurosky, Deborah Camp, Amanda Stone and
12 myself to do walk-throughs.
13        Q.    And who is Linda Gurosky?
14        A.    She was the Title I, Director of
15 Title I.  I don't know her official title, and
16 she is now retired.  And she was housed at
17 Trace.
18              So I initiated the walk-throughs.
19 I wanted them to see how hard the teachers were
20 working, plus I wanted the teachers to
21 understand how serious not making AYP was.  And
22 that is just a simple way of putting it but --
23        Q.    Okay.  And what is the purpose of

Page 207
 1 a walk-through?
 2        A.    A walk-through is a snapshot.  It
 3 is supposed to be five, eight minutes at the
 4 most.  It is not an observation.  And you are
 5 supposed to go in and look for targeted teacher
 6 behaviors or student behaviors.  They can be
 7 done a variety of different ways.  But the
 8 outcome is you tell the teacher one good thing,
 9 and then one good thing you can have a
10 conversation about.
11        Q.    And so in this walk-through, are
12 all the people you listed doing the
13 walk-through together?
14        A.    No.
15        Q.    Okay.
16        A.    I asked Deborah Camp and Linda
17 Gurosky to do fourth grade.  I asked Amanda
18 Stone and Carol Barber to do third, and Ron
19 Dodson and I did second.  And then we were
20 going to do the other grade levels in-house.
21        Q.    So when you do the walk-throughs,
22 do you immediately give the teachers feedback,
23 or is that something that is later provided?

Page 208
 1        A.    Actually, textbook, you are
 2 supposed to.  But --
 3        Q.    Immediately?
 4        A.    Immediately.  But I didn't want
 5 anybody but me giving the teachers the
 6 feedback.  So sometimes it came after that.
 7 And sometimes -- you know, sometimes I would
 8 see them in the hallway and say, "Hey, I want
 9 to talk to you about the walk-through."  It
10 wasn't done exactly as it should have been.  I
11 didn't want to interrupt them when they were
12 teaching.
13        Q.    When did you find out that the
14 school didn't make AYP?
15        A.    Officially, it was before school
16 started in August.  Unofficially, I knew it
17 when I opened the test scores.
18        Q.    And is that something that you
19 would have received over the summer as well?
20        A.    Yes.
21        Q.    Did you ever tell some parents at
22 Trace Crossings that the faculty had failed
23 their students because of the test scores?
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 1        A.    Do I tell the parents that the
 2 faculty had failed --
 3        Q.    Their children.
 4        A.    No.
 5        Q.    Okay.  Did you ever talk to any
 6 group of parents about the test scores?
 7        A.    Yes.
 8        Q.    When did you do that?
 9        A.    The first time I addressed it in
10 the Trace Tribune, which is the newsletter for
11 the school.  The first time I talked about it
12 was the first day that teachers came back and
13 the PTO came in.
14              And I took full responsibility for
15 it.  I told parents that it laid with me.  And
16 I did understand that some teachers did say
17 that I threw them under the bus, but that is
18 not what I said in the faculty meeting.  I took
19 responsibility.
20        Q.    When you say the "faculty
21 meeting," this is the meeting where there are
22 teachers there and PTO parents as well?
23        A.    PTO provided breakfast.  And
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 1 before the PTO left, I spoke to them.
 2        Q.    And it is your recollection that
 3 you told them that you took responsibility for
 4 the test scores?
 5        A.    Yes.
 6        Q.    And you said that you understand
 7 that some teachers felt that you threw them
 8 under the bus?
 9        A.    That I had -- yeah.  And that is
10 not what was said.
11        Q.    Okay.  Do you know which teachers
12 felt that you threw them under the bus?
13        A.    No.  Amanda Stone told me that
14 some of the teachers had said that.
15        Q.    And I don't know how to
16 characterize it, I guess, but the plan to
17 address the test scores was this team that you
18 had asked to do walk-throughs and things like
19 that?
20        A.    That was part of it.
21        Q.    Okay.  And that was your idea?
22        A.    Yes.
23        Q.    And who did you take that idea to,
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 1 or did you just ask these people individually?
 2        A.    After the test scores, when I saw
 3 them on -- it was July 3rd, 2012.  Mr. Craig
 4 called me up shortly afterwards to talk to me
 5 about the new playground.  And during our
 6 discussion, we talked about a meeting.  And in
 7 the meeting, it was Carol Barber, Ron Dodson, I
 8 believe -- I'm not sure if Barbara Mayer was
 9 there or not.  She was in and out at some point
10 with some of the meetings.  She is Special Ed
11 Director.
12        Q.    Was Dr. Camp there?
13        A.    Dr. Camp was there.  And I came
14 into the meeting, and one of the things that I
15 said I wanted to do was walk-throughs.
16        Q.    And you said that the
17 walk-throughs were part of the plan.  What were
18 the other parts of the plan?
19        A.    For us to continue the way that I
20 had the schools set up, which was very similar
21 to the way that we operated when I was at
22 Shades Mountain.
23        Q.    Is that the team?

Page 212
 1        A.    Yes.  And I had a three-year plan
 2 for school, and we were moving into the third
 3 year.  And so we were continuing some of that.
 4 And I had a new math coach.  I had given up a
 5 teaching unit to have a math coach.  And I
 6 had --
 7        Q.    Who was the new math coach?
 8        A.    Tami Puchta.  And I had a new
 9 reading coach, Gail -- Dr. Gail Morrison.
10        Q.    Did you have to get approval to
11 hire a math coach or a reading coach?
12        A.    When we went into staffing at the
13 end of my first year as principal, I asked Andy
14 Craig if I could have a math coach.  I felt
15 like it was very badly needed at the school.
16 And I told him I would be willing to give up a
17 physical education teacher for it.
18        Q.    And what did he say?
19        A.    He said yes.
20        Q.    And so who did you bring on as
21 math coach at the end of your first year?
22        A.    Tina Moratz.
23        Q.    That is M-O-R-A-T-Z?
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 1        A.    Correct.
 2        Q.    But then at the end of your second
 3 year, she was no longer there?
 4        A.    Her husband got a job in another
 5 state.
 6        Q.    And you hired Ms. Puchta?
 7        A.    Correct, yes.
 8        Q.    That is P-U-C-H-T-A.  Had you had
 9 a reading coach before Ms. Morrison?
10        A.    Yes.
11        Q.    Who was that?
12        A.    Judy Anderson.
13        Q.    What happened to Ms. Anderson?
14        A.    Judy had one more year before she
15 retired, and she -- when I came to Trace, she
16 did not want to remain as the reading coach,
17 but I asked her if she would.  And I was given
18 another Title I teacher part-time.  So I asked
19 her if she would like to move into that
20 position, and she did.  And Dr. Morrison had
21 wanted to come with me when I left Shades
22 Mountain, and that was an opportunity to have
23 her.

Page 214
 1        Q.    You gave me a date of July 3, when
 2 you said that Mr. Craig had called about the
 3 new playground?
 4        A.    Yeah, we were building a new
 5 playground.
 6        Q.    And so how did you meet with this
 7 group on July 3rd, or how does that relate to
 8 that date?
 9        A.    On July 3rd, I can't remember what
10 they call it but when you are able to open the
11 raw scores from your testing data.  And I was
12 at home, and I opened mine.  And I was -- I
13 opened it three times.  I was very shocked.
14        Q.    In relation to that, when do you
15 think you met with the group you told me about:
16 Dodson, Barber, Craig, Camp, maybe Mary?
17        A.    It was not long after that.  I
18 think as soon as everybody got back from the
19 4th of July holidays.
20        Q.    Other than meeting with that group
21 about kind of a plan to address what Trace
22 Crossings needed, did you talk to your teachers
23 about the test scores that summer?
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 1        A.    That summer, yes.
 2        Q.    Which teachers did you talk to?
 3        A.    When the scores came back like
 4 they did, I asked the fourth grade team to come
 5 in, because I wanted them to hear it from me.
 6        Q.    And they came in?
 7        A.    And they came in, and Dean Addison
 8 was not there.  And at the time, Erica Whited
 9 was one of the fourth grade teachers.  And her
10 husband had been transferred, but she came in
11 for a short time.
12        Q.    So did she come to the meeting
13 about the test scores?
14        A.    Just for a short period.  She may
15 not have been there when the whole group was
16 there.  It was Dana Joiner, Rhonda Vines,
17 Stephanie Watson.  Amanda Stone was there off
18 and on during the meeting and myself.
19        Q.    Did you give them their test
20 scores then?
21        A.    Actually hand them to them, give
22 them to them?  No, because I had them on a
23 very -- what we received them on was like a
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 1 real crude database.  But we did start going
 2 through them.
 3        Q.    Other than this meeting when you
 4 talked to them that summer, when was the next
 5 time you talked to the fourth grade team about
 6 their test scores?
 7        A.    I can't tell you exactly, but we
 8 had ongoing conversations about specifically
 9 the math score, because it was --
10        Q.    Did you meet with them again that
11 summer, or did you wait until school started?
12        A.    I don't think I did.  I may have.
13        Q.    Ms. Litaker, you have produced to
14 me a tape-recording, what appears to be a
15 School Board meeting.
16        A.    Yes.
17        Q.    Tell me why you think that is
18 relevant to your claims, if you do.
19        A.    And I am -- again, I am too tired
20 to quote what was said during the meeting.  I
21 can't exactly remember it.
22              But during the course of the
23 meeting, I believe the Trace Crossings group of

Case 2:14-cv-02176-MHH   Document 21-1   Filed 01/15/16   Page 55 of 135



Robin Litaker 55

Tyler Eaton Morgan Nichols & Pritchett 877-373-3660

Page 217
 1 parents were there asking for rezoning.  And
 2 Paulette Pearson said something that made
 3 reference to me, and I felt like my
 4 performance.
 5        Q.    And in your discovery responses
 6 that we looked at earlier, in response to
 7 Interrogatory Number 7, you have an entry that
 8 says, "Paulette Pearson, School Board
 9 President, referred to me in a Board meeting as
10 an ineffective principal.  She also talked
11 about me to a professor, Dr. Lynn Kirkland at
12 UAB, at a Christmas party, December 2012."
13              And you said -- it says audiotape
14 of meeting.
15              So the audiotape that you
16 produced, the significance of it, you believe,
17 is that it records Ms. Pearson's comment about
18 you being an ineffective principal?
19        A.    Yes.
20        Q.    And tell me about Ms. Pearson's
21 comment to Dr. Kirkland.
22        A.    It was actually to Dr. Kirkland
23 and to Dr. Maryann Manning, but she has passed
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 1 away.  That is why I didn't include her on
 2 this.  They were at a Christmas party, and
 3 Paulette Pearson referred to me as a mistake,
 4 and when we make mistakes in Hoover, we fix it.
 5        Q.    Anything else that Dr. Kirkland or
 6 Dr. Manning reported to you about what
 7 Ms. Pearson had said at the Christmas party?
 8        A.    No.
 9              MS. YUENGERT:  This is a good
10 place for a break.
11              (Whereupon, a break was had from
12              4:37 p.m. until 4:51 p.m.)
13        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  Ms. Litaker,
14 one of the many things that your lawyer has
15 provided to me as part of this litigation is
16 what we call Initial Disclosures.  And part of
17 the Initial Disclosures is a list of people
18 that are believed to have discoverable,
19 nonprivileged, personal knowledge concerning
20 the factual issues raised in the Complaint.
21        A.    Yes.
22        Q.    Okay.  And so I want to go through
23 the people that are identified in your Initial
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 1 Disclosures and find out what you believe they
 2 know that relates to your Complaint.
 3        A.    Okay.
 4        Q.    In asking that, I want, as a kind
 5 of ground rule, to say you don't have to repeat
 6 anything to me.  If you have already talked
 7 about in your deposition what you believe they
 8 know, then you can just say, "We have already
 9 talked about that."  Okay?
10        A.    Okay.
11        Q.    So I am looking for new things
12 that we haven't already talked about.  Do you
13 understand?
14        A.    Yeah.  So like, example --
15        Q.    For example, if I say "Kathy
16 Wheaton," you can say, "Well, she called me
17 after I left Trace, and I think she knows
18 something about her move to Greystone."
19        A.    Okay.
20        Q.    And if there's anything you need
21 to add to that, you can tell me that.  But I
22 don't need you to just repeat what we have
23 already talked about.

Page 220
 1        A.    Okay.
 2        Q.    All right.
 3        A.    Okay.
 4        Q.    I think it will be easier than I
 5 have made it sound.
 6              MR. JENT:  If you have already
 7 discussed what they know, you don't have to
 8 tell it again.
 9        A.    Okay.
10        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  Number 5 is
11 Dr. Deborah Camp and it says, "Former
12 Curriculum Director, Hoover City Schools,
13 knowledge of plaintiff's performance as
14 principal; knowledge of the performance of male
15 principals in the district."  And why do you
16 believe that she has knowledge of the
17 performance of male principals in the district?
18        A.    I believe because of what I told
19 you about Dr. Fancher and I believe she also
20 told me she had worked with Bob Lawry on some
21 things.
22        Q.    Did she tell you what things she
23 had worked with Bob Lawry on?
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 1        A.    Not specifically.  I mean, I think
 2 she told me some things, but I can't recall.
 3 CIP is all I can think about right now.
 4        Q.    Again, what is CIP?
 5        A.    Continuous Improvement Plan.
 6        Q.    Is that something that a school
 7 has?
 8        A.    All schools have them, and Title I
 9 schools are a little -- a lot different.
10        Q.    Other than what we have already
11 talked about regarding Dr. Camp, what other
12 information do you believe she has that is
13 relevant to your claims in this lawsuit?
14        A.    She was part of the walk-throughs
15 we did.  She worked at Trace Crossings with me
16 as a teacher, so she knows me in that way.  But
17 she was also in that building prior to my
18 arrival, so she knows, firsthand knowledge,
19 what was going on in the building, prior to my
20 time being the principal.
21        Q.    When you say "she was in that
22 building" --
23        A.    She was Curriculum Director, so
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 1 she worked with Dr. Riley and Dr. Smith.  And
 2 she was also in the building with me from time
 3 to time when requested.  And she provided --
 4 when I asked her for certain professional
 5 development stuff, so she has knowledge of all
 6 that.
 7        Q.    Anything else that you believe
 8 Dr. Camp knows that is relevant to your claims?
 9        A.    Not that I can think of right now.
10        Q.    Next name is Dr. Linda Gurosky,
11 G-U-R-O-S-K-Y.
12        A.    Uh-huh.
13        Q.    What do you believe Dr. Gurosky
14 knows?
15        A.    As I stated, she was part of the
16 walk-throughs.  She was actually housed at
17 Trace Crossings daily, and she had also worked
18 with Dr. Debra Smith.
19        Q.    Has she ever given you opinions
20 about Dr. Debra Smith's competence or
21 abilities, anything at all?
22        A.    Performance?  Recently.
23        Q.    What did she recently tell you?
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 1        A.    I ran into her and she told me
 2 that she had had problems with her undermining
 3 her when she was the principal of South Shades
 4 Crest and Dr. Smith was her assistant
 5 principal.  And Linda also has knowledge of how
 6 -- the process I went through, filling out CIP
 7 and what I did with the Title I Program at
 8 Trace.
 9        Q.    And why is that relevant to your
10 claims?
11        A.    The Title I and the CIP and the --
12 just to show that I was diligent about doing --
13 I was trying to put down everybody I could
14 think of that knew something about my --
15        Q.    Understood.  I just wanted you to
16 explain --
17        A.    I'm sorry.
18        Q.    So do you believe that Dr. Gurosky
19 can testify about your efforts at Trace?
20        A.    Yes.
21        Q.    Is there anything else you believe
22 she can testify about other than what we have
23 already talked about?
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 1        A.    Not that I can think of right now.
 2        Q.    The next name is Mary Veal.  What
 3 do you believe Ms. Veal knows about this?
 4              MR. JENT:  Other than what you
 5 have already talked about her today.
 6        A.    Just that she is familiar with my
 7 performance.
 8        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  And you said
 9 that you talked with Ms. Veal after your
10 meeting with Dodson and Greene, correct?
11        A.    Yes.
12        Q.    At some point, did you ask
13 Ms. Veal for a copy of your personnel file?
14        A.    Yes.
15        Q.    Why did you want a copy of your
16 personnel file?
17        A.    Because at that point, I was
18 afraid something might be put in there.  I knew
19 I had a very good personnel file, and I wanted
20 to make sure nothing had been added in there
21 that I didn't know about.
22        Q.    And did Ms. Veal give you a copy
23 of your file or let you look at your file?
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 1        A.    We had to go through a process,
 2 because my evaluations had been taken out.
 3        Q.    When you say taken out --
 4        A.    Carol Barber took my evaluations
 5 out of the file and took them to Trace
 6 Crossings with her.
 7        Q.    Okay.  And the evaluations you are
 8 talking about are the ones that we looked at
 9 that are Exhibits 6 and 7?
10        A.    The primary one is 7.  I think
11 both of them were gone, but --
12        Q.    Anything else that you thought was
13 missing from your personnel file or that had
14 been added to your personnel file?
15        A.    Yes, there were a few items that I
16 felt were missing.  I had -- I actually had a
17 letter from Cathy Antee commending me on having
18 a perfect audit at the school.  I had letters
19 from Don Siegelman, Bob Riley, Jim Folsom, when
20 I was Alabama State Teacher of the Year.  They
21 are not in the file.  I actually had a letter
22 from Carol Barber, commending me on being the
23 outstanding educational leadership student at
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 1 the University of Montevallo.  It was not in my
 2 file.
 3        Q.    Did you find copies of these
 4 letters and add them back to your file?
 5        A.    I have to go up in my attic to see
 6 if I even have them.
 7        Q.    Okay.  So you didn't do anything
 8 to replace those in your file?
 9        A.    No.
10        Q.    Okay.
11        A.    And my file is massive, and I
12 can't really tell what is not there.
13        Q.    On the things that you have
14 identified that you believe are missing from
15 your file, do you have any idea of why they
16 were missing?
17        A.    No.
18        Q.    Okay.  I mean, I am trying to find
19 out, do you think somebody pulled them out to
20 hurt you or --
21        A.    I don't make accusations like
22 that.  They are missing out of my file.
23        Q.    Okay.  Had anything been added to

Page 227
 1 your file or was there anything in your file
 2 that you were surprised to find?
 3        A.    Not that I noticed, no.
 4        Q.    The next name is Dr. Maurine,
 5 M-A-U-R-I-N-E, Black.  Tell me what you believe
 6 Dr. Black knows that is related to your claims.
 7        A.    Dr. Black was the principal at
 8 Greystone Elementary, and she was non-renewed,
 9 I think right before I was told that I would be
10 demoted to Crossroads.  And Dr. Black shared
11 with me a situation that she had had with Carol
12 Barber, insinuating that her teachers were not
13 happy with her and the whole process she had to
14 go through, very similar to mine, to show that
15 that was not an accurate account of what was
16 going on in her school.
17        Q.    When did that occur?  When did
18 Dr. Black tell you that had occurred?
19        A.    She told me when I was in her
20 school doing the safety thing.  I had not
21 talked to her, and she sat me down and asked me
22 what had happened.  And I gave her a synopsis
23 of the reason why I felt like I was moved.  And
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 1 she said let me -- she may not have used the
 2 word "warn," but "Let me warn you, something
 3 very similar happened to me."
 4        Q.    While she was at Greystone?
 5        A.    Yes.  And I don't know when that
 6 happened.
 7        Q.    But it had happened sometime in
 8 the past?
 9        A.    Recent, yeah.
10        Q.    Did she talk to you about the fact
11 that she had been non-renewed?
12        A.    Yes, afterwards.
13        Q.    And what did she tell you?
14        A.    She told me that she was non-
15 renewed because of her test scores.
16        Q.    Did Greystone not make AYP?
17        A.    No, they made AYP.
18        Q.    Anything else that you believe
19 that Maurine Black knows that is relevant to
20 your claims?
21        A.    Not right now.
22        Q.    When did you last speak with
23 Dr. Black?
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 1        A.    I went out to eat with her for
 2 lunch one day.  It may have been the fall of
 3 2014.  I don't know exactly.  I know school was
 4 going on.
 5        Q.    Where was she working at the time?
 6        A.    She was not working.  She had
 7 retired.  When they told her they were not
 8 going to renew her contract, she retired.
 9        Q.    The next name is Earl Franks.
10        A.    Earl, Executive Director of CLAS.
11 He can tell you exactly what Mr. Craig shared
12 with him.
13        Q.    Okay.  When did you last speak
14 with Mr. Franks?
15        A.    I sent him a text message to let
16 him know that I had filed an EEOC.  So it was
17 about that time.
18        Q.    Have you spoken with him since?
19        A.    I don't think I sent him a text
20 message about the lawsuit being filed.  But if
21 I -- that may have been the only other thing,
22 but, no, I have not spoken to him.
23        Q.    The next name is Mark Boardman.

Page 230
 1        A.    I have not spoken to Mr. Boardman
 2 since --
 3              MR. JENT:  What does he know?
 4        A.    What does he know?  He knows the
 5 negotiation conversation that went on with me.
 6        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  Number 11 is
 7 Anna Johnston Whitney.
 8        A.    I was told she is the principal of
 9 Crossroads, and she can verify that I did not
10 speak to her personally, but that was one thing
11 Dr. Dodson told me, was that she had been
12 informed that I would be her assistant
13 principal.
14        Q.    And you haven't talked with
15 Ms. Johnston Whitney?
16        A.    No.
17        Q.    Do you know her at all?
18        A.    Yes.
19        Q.    Dr. Vivian Elliott.
20        A.    Dr. Elliott was our cultural
21 diversity expert that outsourced with the
22 system.  And she was in the school an awful
23 lot.  And --
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 1        Q.    During what time period?
 2        A.    During my first two years, and
 3 into the third year.  At some point during my
 4 first year, she -- early on, started coming
 5 into the school.  And she observed some of the
 6 segregated issues that were going on in the
 7 school.  And --
 8        Q.    What segregated issues?
 9        A.    The way that they were doing math,
10 they segregated children where you would have
11 like twenty-three minorities in one room and
12 then you would go down the hall and there were
13 fourteen whites in another room.
14              And this was something that I had
15 to change immediately.
16        Q.    And so that is something you
17 changed your first year?
18        A.    Actually, I had to wait.  But I
19 let the word go out that those classes had
20 better not be that way again after they
21 reconfigured them.  And they got better.
22        Q.    When was Dr. Elliott last at Trace
23 while you were there?
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 1        A.    Right before they moved me,
 2 sometime in October 2012.
 3        Q.    And how often was she at Trace?
 4        A.    She was there, I don't know
 5 exactly, like maybe every nine weeks.  And then
 6 we emailed, and we had things that we were
 7 working on during the times that she wasn't
 8 there that she left us with.
 9        Q.    When did you last talk with her?
10        A.    I email her occasionally.  We stay
11 in touch.  May have been Merry Christmas,
12 something like that, it may have been since
13 then.  Maybe a comment on Facebook or
14 something.  But --
15        Q.    What do you think she can testify
16 to that is relevant to your claims in this
17 lawsuit?
18        A.    The climate in the school.
19        Q.    The next name on the list is Bob
20 Lawry.  Have we already talked about what you
21 believe Mr. Lawry knows about your claims?
22        A.    Yes.
23        Q.    The next name is Juli Feltham.
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 1        A.    Because she was my supervisor.
 2        Q.    So you think she can testify about
 3 your performance as an assistant principal for
 4 her?
 5        A.    As an assistant principal, and
 6 then the dialogue we had while I was a
 7 principal, and some of the things we did for
 8 each other, supportive things.
 9        Q.    And when you say the dialogue that
10 you and Ms. Feltham had, like what?  Give me a
11 for instance.
12        A.    I consider her to be my mentor.
13 And if -- I can't think of an example but if
14 there was an issue with something in the
15 school, I would call her up, and Bob was the
16 same way, and say, "Hey, how do y'all handle
17 this when this happens," and they would call me
18 too.
19        Q.    So you just called them to bounce
20 stuff off of them?
21        A.    Yeah.  And they would call me
22 also.
23        Q.    The next name is Sonia Carrington.
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 1        A.    Yes.
 2        Q.    Tell me again --
 3        A.    She was the principal at Rocky
 4 Ridge, retired now.  She is the one -- the
 5 person that got me in touch with Earl Franks,
 6 and she also shared some situations that she
 7 had had with Carol Barber with her performance,
 8 saying that her teachers were not happy.
 9        Q.    So Dr. Carrington told you that
10 Carol Barber told her that her teachers weren't
11 happy?
12        A.    Yeah.  At some point, yeah.
13        Q.    Other than telling you that Carol
14 Barber told her that, anything else that
15 Dr. Carrington told you with regard to
16 situations with Carol Barber?
17        A.    She didn't -- she just alluded
18 that she had had issues.  And --
19        Q.    Issues with Carol?
20        A.    Yes.
21        Q.    Do you recall anything else, other
22 than Carol telling her that teachers weren't
23 happy?
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 1        A.    I don't know if that was the exact
 2 issue.  There was some issue.  And she was like
 3 Maurine Black, telling me that I had better get
 4 an attorney or get some advice or something.
 5        Q.    And did Dr. Carrington tell you
 6 what the issue with Carol was, and you can't
 7 remember or she didn't tell you what it was?
 8        A.    I think she just alluded to it.
 9 She didn't get into details.  I didn't ask.
10 She can share that.
11        Q.    Dr. Tommy Bice is the next name.
12        A.    That is the State Superintendent.
13 I went to him in November 2013 about the test
14 scores that weren't being investigated, as I
15 had reported them.  And he has had several
16 discussions with, I know, Mr. Craig.  And I
17 feel like whatever Mr. Craig shared with him
18 about me is something that may or may not be
19 true.
20        Q.    Did Dr. Bice tell you that
21 Mr. Craig was sharing information about you
22 with him?
23        A.    Dr. Bice, his entire demeanor
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 1 towards me has changed.  I had a fairly good
 2 relationship with him, and he told me after I
 3 went to him, that he would follow up with me
 4 about the test infraction.  And very
 5 uncharacteristic of him, he has not.  So I feel
 6 like something has happened.
 7        Q.    Do you know if he investigated?
 8        A.    I don't believe the test
 9 infraction has ever been investigated as I
10 reported it.  He said there was no apparent
11 infraction in the newspaper, but -- and he
12 alluded to something that I had reported to
13 him, but it was not specifically what had been
14 asked to look into.
15        Q.    What specifically did you ask
16 Dr. Bice to look into?
17        A.    This is a long one.  Originally,
18 that was why I had the teachers come in to meet
19 with me, one of the reasons.
20        Q.    In the summer of 2012?
21        A.    In the summer, because the test
22 scores did not correlate to the other
23 assessments that we had in the building, and it
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 1 did not match up with Scholastic Math
 2 Inventory, SMI.  There was a dramatic --
 3        Q.    You say it didn't match up with
 4 the other assessments in the building, is that
 5 SMI or is it something else?
 6        A.    We had other things.  We had
 7 Hoover assessments that the teachers gave.  We
 8 had, you know, their daily anecdotal notes,
 9 that type of thing.  The performance indicators
10 that we had did not match or come close to
11 matching what the math outcome for fourth grade
12 was.
13              When we started looking into it
14 and desegregating the data and comparing it to
15 the year before, there was, I think, either
16 twenty-four or twenty-seven students that had
17 been within one or two answers of being
18 proficient.  We had that many that had dropped
19 from threes and fours to twos.  I waited until
20 November to talk to Dr. Bice, because I waited
21 until the test scores came back, because I had
22 said openly that the test scores would go up
23 between thirty and thirty-five points, and they
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 1 went up, I believe, thirty-three points.  And
 2 that was shortly after I left Trace.
 3              And I mean, I am not giving you
 4 all the details of it, but it was something
 5 that I had promised the teachers that I would
 6 follow through with, because they were
 7 extremely upset.  And like I said, all the data
 8 that we had did not match up or correlate
 9 with --
10        Q.    So what did you tell Dr. Bice you
11 felt the problem was?
12        A.    Okay.  Did I not include that
13 letter --
14        Q.    No.
15        A.    Okay.  I had at first -- when you
16 investigate a test infraction, you are only --
17 if you are the person reporting it, you only go
18 to a certain point and stop because you don't
19 want to impede the investigation.
20              When I had those teachers come in,
21 they told me that none of the kids had finished
22 the test.
23        Q.    That is in the summer of 2012?

Page 239
 1        A.    Yes.  Now, was it true?  I don't
 2 know.  But I reported what I was told.
 3              They were visibly shook up.  I
 4 asked them why they didn't tell me.  I remember
 5 Stephanie Watson looked at me and she just
 6 cried, and she said, "We were afraid you would
 7 get mad."  I said, "I would never get mad."
 8 She said, "No, not mad at us, just frustrated
 9 because of how hard we have been working."
10              And they told Amanda Stone, and I
11 asked Amanda why she didn't tell me, and she
12 said, "Am I in trouble," and I said, "No, this
13 isn't about being in trouble."
14              I mean, quite honestly, we were
15 just trying to figure out what happened.  We
16 had been -- there were possible scenarios.  It
17 was a brand-new test, R-Plus.  We had been sent
18 multiple directions prior to the administration
19 of the test.  I didn't know if my teachers had
20 accidentally used the wrong instructions, if --
21 because the instructions were in the book, but
22 the instructions the teachers used were issued
23 on a one-page thing.

Page 240
 1              I am really making this short, I
 2 promise.
 3              And so there were multiple things.
 4 And then after I met with the teacher, I had a
 5 statistician who also works with PARCA, who
 6 also helps set the cutoff scores.
 7        Q.    Who is that?
 8        A.    His name is Dr. Scott Snyder.
 9 Deborah Camp, my understanding was Mr. Craig
10 asked Deborah Camp to help me spearhead the
11 investigation.  And I had -- he came in.
12        Q.    That is what Dr. Camp told you?
13 You said --
14        A.    That was my understanding from him
15 also.
16        Q.    So Dr. Craig told you to work with
17 Deborah Camp to spearhead the investigation
18 into test infractions?
19        A.    A possible test infraction, yeah.
20        Q.    And the test infraction that you
21 thought was, is to find out why none of the
22 kids finished the test?
23        A.    No.
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 1        Q.    Okay.
 2        A.    Why the dramatic drop from -- the
 3 test scores actually went up the first year I
 4 was at Trace Crossings.  They did not decline;
 5 they went up.
 6              And I felt like we needed to find
 7 out what happened, if something happened.  So
 8 we had Dr. Snyder come in on a Saturday.  It
 9 was the Saturday after I met with the teachers,
10 and it was Deborah Camp and myself.  And he
11 grilled me for hours.  And we had all the test
12 data out, how the students had dropped, how
13 many I had that were transient that had moved
14 in, how many moved out.  How many had dropped
15 from fours to twos, I mean every which way, we
16 analyzed the data.
17              And he finally said in the end
18 there is no statistical reason for these kids'
19 scores to have dropped this much.  And then he
20 looked at me and he said, "Quite frankly, the
21 difference between third and fourth grade math
22 is not that great and these kids could have
23 stayed at home and not dropped this much."
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 1              So at that point, I felt like
 2 there was something to investigate, and we
 3 reported it to Mr. Craig and Dr. Snyder.  And
 4 Dr. Camp crafted a letter, and I will have to
 5 get the letter to you, because it specifically
 6 asks for the test scores to be reviewed in
 7 certain ways.  And it was a way that Dr. Snyder
 8 advised.  It never said they didn't finish the
 9 test.  That was just my information.
10              And at that point, after the
11 letter was crafted, I looked at it.  And then
12 Dr. Camp sent me an email from Louise White
13 that said it had been stamp-dated to the State
14 Department and we can finish some other time,
15 but I found out the letter never got to the
16 State Department.
17        Q.    Okay.  And that is one of the
18 things you told Dr. Bice in November of 2013?
19        A.    Yes.
20        Q.    And you don't believe that he
21 followed up appropriately to investigate the
22 2012 test results?
23        A.    I don't believe anybody has taken
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 1 the time to follow up with the people that were
 2 there that could give information about it.
 3 And it wasn't followed up as specified in the
 4 letter.
 5        Q.    Okay.  As recommended by the
 6 statistician, Mr. or Dr. Snyder?
 7        A.    Dr. Snyder, yes.
 8        Q.    The next name is Mrs. Robin
 9 Zirbes, Z-I-R-B-E-S.  Tell me how do you say
10 her name.
11        A.    Zirbes.
12        Q.    Zirbes.  What do you believe
13 Ms. Zirbes knows that is relevant to your
14 claims in this lawsuit?
15        A.    She was placed at Trace Crossings
16 the first year that I was a principal because
17 the school had -- and I don't know the exact
18 term, but had been cited for multiple things
19 during an audit.  And one of them was the IEP
20 paperwork and the way they were processed.
21              So she was a homebound teacher,
22 and she spent a considerable amount of time
23 helping me get the IEPs in the school

Page 244
 1 straightened out.
 2              And she also reviewed the DRC
 3 report, and I don't know what DRC initials are,
 4 I can't remember.  And that is a report that --
 5 it used to be you checked it off twice a year,
 6 it is a federal document that verifies student
 7 status, free, reduced, race --
 8        Q.    When you say "free, reduced," that
 9 is lunch?
10        A.    Lunch, yes.  And the first year
11 that I was there, we found, I think,
12 twenty-seven discrepancies with it.
13        Q.    With regard to people who were
14 receiving free and reduced lunches that
15 shouldn't have been?
16        A.    Yeah, and people that were listed
17 as free and reduced, but they were paying and
18 there were discrepancies between the DRC report
19 and the report that was -- that the registrar
20 had put on the STI, which was the system
21 database.
22        Q.    So do you believe that Mrs. Zirbes
23 will testify that there were problems at Trace
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 1 before you got there and that you were working
 2 to address them?
 3        A.    Yes.  I'm sorry.
 4        Q.    That is okay.  The next name is
 5 Dr. Ron Dodson.  And in your Initial
 6 Disclosures it says, "Called the AEA Uniserv
 7 Director in July 2012 and told her to 'expect
 8 problems' at Trace Crossings."  I don't think
 9 we have talked about that.
10        A.    Yes.
11        Q.    How do you know that Dr. Dodson
12 called the AEA Uniserv Director in July 2012
13 and told her something?
14        A.    He told me and he told me in front
15 of Deborah Camp and I believe Linda Gurosky was
16 standing there, after the meeting we had with
17 Mr. Craig where I had talked about doing
18 walk-throughs.
19        Q.    And he said, "I called the Uniserv
20 Director and told her to expect problems at
21 Trace"?
22        A.    Yes.
23        Q.    Did he say why he thought that she
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 1 should expect problems at Trace?
 2        A.    No.  I was so floored that he
 3 would do something like that.  I was -- I feel
 4 that was inappropriate.
 5        Q.    Why?
 6        A.    Why would you call an outside
 7 entity and tell them to expect problems in a
 8 school that you had never -- I mean,
 9 Dr. Dodson, I don't know that he had really
10 ever been in the school.  And I don't know that
11 he had a basis for doing that except that the
12 school had not made AYP.
13        Q.    As far as you know, that is what
14 you are telling me?
15        A.    Yeah.
16        Q.    The only information that you
17 think Dr. Dodson had about Trace was that it
18 had not made AYP?
19        A.    Yeah, I don't know that he had any
20 knowledge.
21        Q.    Okay.  Anything else that you
22 believe Dr. Dodson knows that is relevant to
23 your claims?  And we have already talked about
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 1 your conversation with him and Ms. Greene.
 2        A.    Other than an article that he
 3 placed in the paper about the school not making
 4 AYP.
 5        Q.    When you say an article that he
 6 placed in the paper --
 7        A.    He was the focus of the reporter
 8 interview to him about schools in Hoover not
 9 making AYP.  And he was the primary focus of
10 it.  I mean Trace was the primary focus.
11        Q.    The next name is Ms. Melody
12 Greene.  Have we already talked about what you
13 believe Ms. Greene knows?
14        A.    Yes.
15        Q.    Dr. Kathy Wheaton.  Have we
16 already talked about what you believe
17 Dr. Wheaton knows?
18        A.    Yes.
19        Q.    Dr. David Fancher?
20        A.    Yes.
21        Q.    Mr. Brian Cain?
22        A.    Yes.
23        Q.    Mr. Rush Propst?

Page 248
 1        A.    Yes.
 2        Q.    Mr. Chris Shaw?
 3        A.    Yes.
 4        Q.    Mr. David Shores?
 5        A.    Yes.
 6        Q.    Okay.  Ann Marie Corgill,
 7 C-O-R-G-I-L-L.  Who is Ms. Corgill?
 8        A.    She taught at Riverchase, she is
 9 one of the four finalists for National Teacher
10 of the Year.  While she was at Riverchase, she
11 had a situation -- I don't know the whole
12 story -- with their principal and Ms. Barber --
13        Q.    Who is the principal at
14 Riverchase?
15        A.    Dianne Baggett.  Ms. Barber met
16 with the teachers, and Ann Marie was one of
17 them, about Ms. Baggett's performance.
18        Q.    What did Ms. Corgill tell you that
19 Ms. Barber had told her and the teachers about
20 Ms. Baggett's performance?
21        A.    They were reporting to Ms. Barber
22 about Ms. Baggett's performance.
23        Q.    And in your initial disclosures,
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 1 it says "was a Hoover teacher that Carol Barber
 2 encouraged her along with other teachers at
 3 Riverchase Elementary to 'turn on' their
 4 principal, Dianne Baggett."
 5        A.    Yes.
 6        Q.    Did Ms. Corgill tell you that
 7 Carol Barber had told her to "turn on"
 8 Ms. Baggett?
 9        A.    She encouraged them.
10        Q.    To what?
11        A.    Speak out against their principal.
12        Q.    So Ms. Barber?
13        A.    Yes.
14        Q.    Okay.  Did Ms. Corgill tell you
15 anything about what her concerns about
16 Ms. Baggett were?
17        A.    No, I didn't -- no.
18        Q.    Okay.  The next name is Judy
19 Anderson, former reading coach at Trace
20 Crossings.  Have we already talked about
21 Ms. Anderson's knowledge?
22        A.    She was the reading coach, yeah.
23        Q.    The next name is Pam Hardison.
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 1 Who is she?
 2        A.    Pam was my nurse the first year at
 3 the school, and along with Special Ed and
 4 several other areas of the school.  The nursing
 5 had been cited and she had a lot of things she
 6 had to fix there.  And she can testify to what
 7 was going on in the school my first year.
 8        Q.    Who were the nurses who were at
 9 Trace while you were there?
10        A.    I had Pam Hardison the first year,
11 Julie Kent was there the second year, and she
12 went back to her home school, Gwin, and then I
13 had hired a new nurse, Melissa -- I can't --
14        Q.    Is it Dewberry?
15        A.    Dewberry, yes.
16        Q.    Lisa Perinka?
17        A.    Lisa is now a -- I believe she is
18 at Central Office in Birmingham City.  She was
19 assistant principal in Hoover.  And after I
20 retired, at some point, she was sent to
21 Crossroads and her positioned was RIFed.
22        Q.    Have you talked with Ms. Perinka?
23        A.    No.
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 1        Q.    Who told you that her position was
 2 RIFed?
 3        A.    I believe it was in the paper.  It
 4 was on the board report.
 5        Q.    The next name is Wendy Brandon,
 6 B-R-A-N-D-O-N.
 7        A.    All right.  Wendy was -- I don't
 8 know what her official capacity was, but she
 9 did internal audits.  And I had her -- I
10 requested for her to come in the first year I
11 was at Trace because there were multiple
12 irregularities with book -- with the way
13 teachers were processing money and that type of
14 thing.  And the bookkeeper was very concerned
15 about it.
16        Q.    Was that Ms. Drake?
17        A.    Yes, I'm sorry.  And then when I
18 got to Central Office after -- at the point
19 where I was getting ready to leave, she shared
20 with me her experience with Mr. Craig promising
21 a position that didn't materialize.
22        Q.    Which position?
23        A.    I believe she wanted to be the

Page 252
 1 CFO, and it was more than that.  It was a
 2 promised raise.
 3        Q.    Anything else that you believe
 4 that Ms. Brandon knows regarding --
 5        A.    Not that I can think of right now.
 6        Q.    The next name is Debbie Drake.
 7 She is the bookkeeper at Trace?
 8        A.    Yes.
 9        Q.    What do you believe that Ms. Drake
10 knows related to your claims?
11        A.    I believe she can just share the
12 process we went through trying to get all the
13 financial things straightened out.  She was
14 also in the building and can testify to what
15 kind of building I was running and the climate.
16        Q.    When did you last speak with
17 Ms. Drake?
18        A.    So long ago that I don't remember.
19        Q.    Okay.  The next name is Ann
20 Elizabeth McInvale, M-C-I-N-V-A-L-E.
21        A.    She was a teacher that I hired at
22 Trace Crossings.  She can just testify to the
23 type of principal I was and I hired her the
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 1 first year as a Title I teacher, nonrenewed her
 2 and hired her back.
 3        Q.    Okay.  In your Initial
 4 Disclosures, it says, "Knowledge of Carol
 5 Barber's actions at the school after the
 6 plaintiff left."  What do you mean by that?
 7        A.    For McInvale?
 8        Q.    Yes.
 9        A.    I have not talked to her, but I
10 would make the assumption that she could -- any
11 teacher that was there could -- I don't know
12 whether it is important what it was like after
13 I left or not.
14        Q.    Ashley Young Myrick, M-Y-R-I-C-K?
15        A.    Same as Ann Elizabeth.
16        Q.    Ronda Vines, that is R-O-N-D-A?
17        A.    She was --
18        Q.    She was one of the fourth
19 teachers, I think, correct?
20        A.    Yes.  And I think transferred to
21 Bluff Park after I left.  She can testify to,
22 since y'all brought up the, you know, test
23 scores, she was on that team.
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 1        Q.    When you say "that team" --
 2        A.    I'm sorry.  The fourth grade
 3 team --
 4        Q.    Okay.
 5        A.    -- that the test scores were --
 6 and the climate in the school and things we
 7 were doing.
 8        Q.    Okay.  Stephanie Watson, she is
 9 another fourth grade teacher?
10        A.    Yes, same as Ms. Vines.  Yes.
11        Q.    Christen, C-H-R-I-S-T-E-N,
12 Stephens?
13        A.    Same.
14        Q.    She is another fourth grade
15 teacher?
16        A.    Yes.
17        Q.    Erica Whited, she is another?
18        A.    Yes.
19        Q.    Joyce Whitt, she is the custodian?
20        A.    She is the custodian.
21        Q.    And was she a custodian at Trace
22 when you left?
23        A.    Yes.

Page 255
 1        Q.    Because you say she is custodian
 2 at Berry Middle School now.
 3        A.    Yes.
 4        Q.    But she was still at Trace when
 5 you left?
 6        A.    Yes.
 7        Q.    And you told me a story about her
 8 involvement when there was some issue with
 9 Debra Smith?
10        A.    Yes.
11        Q.    Anything else that you believe
12 that Ms. Whitt can testify about?
13        A.    She was in the school all day.
14        Q.    Okay.
15        A.    She can --
16        Q.    She can testify about the
17 environment and the atmosphere?
18        A.    Yes.
19        Q.    Dr. Gayle Morrison, G-A-Y-L-E, she
20 is the reading teacher, the reading coach?
21        A.    Yes.  Pretty much the same as the
22 other teachers.  She had just arrived at Trace.
23        Q.    Okay.  In the beginning of the
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 1 2012 year?
 2        A.    Yes.
 3        Q.    The next name is Vicki, V-I-C-K-I,
 4 Harris.  And it says that she is a teacher at
 5 Shades Mountain Elementary.  What do you
 6 believe that Ms. Harris knows that is relevant
 7 to your claims in this lawsuit?
 8        A.    Just the type of administrator
 9 that I was.
10        Q.    So she was on the faculty at
11 Shades Mountain when you were assistant
12 principal?
13        A.    Correct.
14        Q.    Okay.  Erin Walters, E-R-I-N.
15        A.    Same.
16        Q.    She is another teacher at Shades
17 Mountain?
18        A.    Yes.
19        Q.    Margie Ross.
20        A.    Yes.  Plus she -- I'm sorry.  What
21 are you -- she can also testify to the fact
22 that the AEA had been -- I don't know what the
23 term to use for, they asked -- because of my
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 1 prior involvement with The Independent Teachers
 2 Organization, they were constantly trying to
 3 make sure that I wasn't doing something that --
 4 I don't know, I guess they could get me for.  I
 5 don't know.
 6        Q.    So are you telling me that Margie
 7 Ross has knowledge that AEA was out to get you?
 8        A.    I didn't say "out to get me," but
 9 that is what I feel, that they were out to get
10 me.
11        Q.    Okay.
12        A.    Because they would question her,
13 she was very involved in the AEA and they would
14 question her during meetings about what I was
15 doing to lure people away from the AEA.
16        Q.    Okay.  The next group of names
17 says, "Various parents of students at Trace
18 Crossings."  And you list a number of names.
19 And what is listed here about their potential
20 knowledge says, "Parents would have knowledge
21 of the plaintiff's performance as principal,
22 knowledge of reasons they were told the
23 plaintiff left, knowledge of their individual
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 1 experiences with plaintiff and administration."
 2              I guess what I would like to know,
 3 and I am going to give you the names of these
 4 folks, is who on this list you have had contact
 5 with since you left Hoover, the school system.
 6 Okay?
 7        A.    Uh-huh.
 8        Q.    And Ms. Litaker, I assume that
 9 when you left Trace that you had contact with
10 some of them.  You said that you went to a
11 Christmas party or a brunch and there were some
12 parents there.
13        A.    (Nodding).
14        Q.    I think you have produced some
15 emails that you received from parents right
16 after that --
17        A.    Uh-huh.
18        Q.    -- that were supportive.
19        A.    Yes.
20        Q.    And so I am trying to get to a
21 point where we are past that time where you
22 would have had contact with these parents.
23        A.    Most of them will occasionally
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 1 contact me just to check on me, happy birthday.
 2 I worked in Hoover for a very long time.  Like
 3 Kristi Tolbert, I worked -- she was a teacher
 4 at Trace Crossings.  I haven't personally
 5 spoken to her since that Christmas party.  The
 6 people that I have talked to, I ran into
 7 Derrick and Rachel Franklin at a store over
 8 Christmas.  I had not seen them since I left.
 9              Sam Brown, I occasionally -- she
10 would take me out to drink coffee or something,
11 just check on me.  But I haven't talked to her
12 in I don't know how long.  Melissa McGuire, one
13 time I went out and ate lunch with her.  Kubus,
14 I have not spoken to since I left Trace.
15              Joey and Jessica Mure, they check
16 on me pretty often.  And they contacted me
17 because, apparently, they had a meeting with
18 Donna Frazier, and they were upset -- the
19 comment that I have, that I had been removed
20 from Trace because I had been placed on
21 probation.  I hadn't been placed on probation.
22        Q.    I am looking at your response to
23 Interrogatory Number 7, and it said, "Donna
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 1 Frazier, School Board President, told parents,
 2 Joseph and Jessica Mure" -- that is M-U-R-E --
 3 "that I had to be removed from Trace Crossings
 4 because I had been placed on probation."  When
 5 did Mr. and Mrs. Mure tell you that Donna
 6 Frazier had told them that?
 7        A.    This was several months ago, she
 8 just called me up and said, "I just feel like I
 9 need to share something with you."  It was
10 before we turned this in.
11        Q.    So Ms. Mure --
12        A.    Mure --
13        Q.    -- told you about that a couple of
14 months ago from now, today?
15        A.    Oh, yeah.  It was a good while
16 before we turned this in.
17        Q.    Understood.
18        A.    I don't remember the date.
19        Q.    Did Ms. Mure tell you when it was
20 that Donna Frazier said that to her?
21        A.    They had -- she and her husband
22 had a meeting with Donna; I don't know what
23 about.  And during the topic of the
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 1 conversation, my name came up.  I don't know
 2 why.
 3              And her -- Donna Frazier's
 4 response was something to the effect, oh, we
 5 had to move her because she was -- we had had
 6 to put her on probation.
 7        Q.    Okay.  Anything else that Ms. Mure
 8 reported that Donna Frazier said?
 9        A.    No.
10        Q.    Okay.
11        A.    Kathy Claypool will on occasion
12 ask me to meet her for coffee, but -- and other
13 than that, I mean, Heather Thomas has sent me
14 emails.  I think I included that in there.
15 But --
16        Q.    Okay.  Have you talked with any
17 member of the School Board about you being
18 removed from Trace or your situation at the
19 Central Office?
20        A.    No.
21        Q.    Okay.
22              MS. YUENGERT:  I think this is a
23 good place to take a break.  If you will give

Page 262
 1 me five or ten minutes, I might be done.
 2              (Whereupon, a break was had from
 3              5:50 p.m. until 6:05 p.m.)
 4        Q.    (BY MS. YUENGERT:)  Ms. Litaker,
 5 did you hire Amanda Stone?
 6        A.    Yes.
 7        Q.    And did you hire Dana Joiner?
 8        A.    No.
 9        Q.    So Dana was somebody who was on
10 staff when you got there?
11        A.    Yes.
12        Q.    Did you hire Angie Smith?
13        A.    Yes.
14        Q.    She is the counselor?
15        A.    Yes.
16        Q.    Okay.  Who was the counselor when
17 you first got there?
18        A.    Lucy Chapman.
19        Q.    Okay.  And did you non-renew her?
20        A.    Yes.
21        Q.    And then Angie was there for the
22 rest of the time you were at Trace?
23        A.    Yes.

Page 263
 1        Q.    And based on the emails that I
 2 have reviewed that your lawyer produced to me,
 3 you were not pleased with Amanda's performance;
 4 is that correct?
 5        A.    I was not pleased with some of the
 6 things that she was doing, her performance, no.
 7        Q.    And without getting into the weeds
 8 that are huge, every detail, in general, why
 9 were you displeased with Amanda's performance?
10        A.    Because of her favoritism.
11 Because I would ask her to complete things, and
12 they would not get completed.  And I felt like
13 there were times that she wasn't honest with
14 me, and we had several situations happen in the
15 school where students could have potentially
16 gotten hurt, and she totally mishandled the
17 situation.
18        Q.    I noticed in the documents that
19 your lawyer produced to me that, based on the
20 emails, in the fall of 2012, you were emailing
21 information from your Hoover account to your
22 Yahoo account.
23        A.    Yes.

Page 264
 1        Q.    Why were you doing that?
 2        A.    When was that?
 3        Q.    In the fall of 2012.
 4        A.    Prior to --
 5        Q.    Prior to your leaving Trace
 6 Crossings.
 7        A.    Do you know what the emails were?
 8 Were they --
 9        Q.    The ones that I looked at that I
10 did notice were ones specifically about Amanda
11 Stone.  There would seem to be an exchange
12 between you and Amanda that you would then
13 forward to your personal email, sometimes with
14 a comment about it that you were emailing
15 yourself, correct?
16        A.    Yes.  So that I would have a
17 record of it and so I would remember.  But I
18 didn't have a Yahoo account before I -- I set
19 that up after I left.  It was goodteaching.
20        Q.    But it was a personal account?
21        A.    Yes.
22        Q.    So you didn't have a Yahoo account
23 before when?  When did you set that up?
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Page 265
 1        A.    I set it up shortly after I was
 2 moved.
 3        Q.    Okay.  Is there a reason that you
 4 didn't feel that you could keep the emails,
 5 these exchanges with or about Amanda on your
 6 Hoover account?
 7        A.    I was concerned that they would
 8 get erased and I wouldn't have a record of
 9 them.
10        Q.    Had you had a problem with emails
11 getting erased in the past?
12        A.    She had told me she had rights to
13 get into everybody's email, and I don't know
14 whether she did or not.  I just --
15        Q.    And that "she" is Amanda?
16        A.    Yes.
17        Q.    So you were concerned that Amanda
18 would get into your email and erase emails or
19 data?
20        A.    Yeah.  I mean, I don't know that
21 she would, but I was just making sure I had a
22 record of it.
23        Q.    Has Andy Craig ever said to you or
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 1 has it been reported to you that he said that
 2 the reason that he moved you to the Central
 3 Office was because of your sex?
 4        A.    No.
 5        Q.    Has anyone ever told you that he
 6 said or has he ever said in your presence that
 7 the reason he made any decision about your
 8 employment was because of your sex?
 9        A.    No.
10        Q.    The same question for Carol
11 Barber, has she ever said anything to indicate
12 to you that the reason they made a decision or
13 participated in any decision about your
14 employment at Hoover was because of your sex?
15        A.    No.
16        Q.    Same question for anybody on the
17 Board.
18        A.    No.
19        Q.    Has anyone ever told you that they
20 thought the reason that you were moved to the
21 Central Office or that any decision was made
22 regarding your employment at Hoover was because
23 of your sex?
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 1        A.    I don't think so.  I don't
 2 remember anybody saying that.
 3        Q.    Have you ever been arrested?
 4        A.    No.
 5        Q.    Have you ever been in the
 6 military?
 7        A.    No.
 8        Q.    I think you had told me you had
 9 never given sworn testimony before today?
10        A.    Right.
11        Q.    Have you ever been involved in any
12 other lawsuit other than the one we are here
13 about today?
14        A.    I don't think so, no.  I haven't.
15        Q.    And I think that you reported in
16 your discovery responses that you had filed for
17 bankruptcy in '97?
18        A.    Yes.
19        Q.    What were the circumstances that
20 caused you to file for bankruptcy?
21        A.    That was the year that my mother
22 died.  It was the year that I was the Alabama
23 State Teacher of the Year, and a combination, I
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 1 already had money on credit cards but a
 2 combination of not being reimbursed by the
 3 State Department and having to continually help
 4 my dad.
 5        Q.    Just life?
 6        A.    Yeah.
 7        Q.    Okay.  And you were discharged
 8 from bankruptcy?
 9        A.    Oh, yeah.
10        Q.    Okay.  Other than the two tapes I
11 mentioned today about the School Board meeting
12 and the tape of your meeting with Mary Veal and
13 Carol Barber on January 28th, do you have any
14 other tapes of conversations with people at the
15 Hoover Board?
16        A.    No.
17        Q.    And the tape of the School Board,
18 did you make that tape?
19        A.    No.  I got it off of -- there's a
20 website, I will have to look at the --
21        Q.    Is it Trish Crane's website?
22        A.    No.  I don't think I got it off of
23 her's.
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 1        Q.    Okay.
 2        A.    I got it off of a website.
 3        Q.    Can you track that down and let
 4 Kevin know what website you got that off of?
 5        A.    Yes.
 6        Q.    Okay.
 7        A.    It should be linked back to it.
 8              MR. JENT:  We will look at it.
 9              MS. YUENGERT:  I don't have any
10 other questions.
11              MR. JENT:  Oh, I have one or two.
12 I know.  They will be short.
13

14 EXAMINATION BY MR. JENT:
15        Q.    We talked today a little bit about
16 jobs that you had applied for since you had
17 left Hoover?
18        A.    Uh-huh.
19        Q.    Do you believe that anything
20 related to this lawsuit has led you not to get
21 any of those jobs?
22        A.    Yes.
23        Q.    What?

Page 270
 1        A.    I feel like the email that ended
 2 up in the newspaper and the follow-up newspaper
 3 articles that reference that email have had a
 4 direct effect on my ability to get a job.  I
 5 mean, if you Google my name, that is what pops
 6 up.
 7        Q.    Okay.
 8              MR. JENT:  That is all I have.
 9

10 REEXAMINATION BY MS. YUENGERT:
11        Q.    Has anybody that you have applied
12 for a job with mentioned that article?
13        A.    Of course not.
14              MS. YUENGERT:  That is all I have.
15

16          FURTHER THE DEPONENT SAITH NOT
17

18      (Deposition concluded at 6:15 p.m.)
19

20

21

22

23
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 1              C E R T I F I C A T E
 2

 3

 4 STATE OF ALABAMA
 5 JEFFERSON COUNTY
 6

 7              I hereby certify that the above
 8 and foregoing deposition was taken down by me
 9 in stenotypy, and the questions and answers
10 thereto were reduced to typewriting under my
11 supervision, and that the foregoing represents
12 a true and correct transcript of the deposition
13 given by said witness upon said hearing.
14              I further certify that I am
15 neither of counsel nor of kin to the parties to
16 the action, nor am I in anywise interested in
17 the result of said cause.
18

19

20        /s/ LAURA H. NICHOLS
21        Commissioner-Notary Public, State of AL

       ACCR License No. 3, Exp. 9/30/2015
22        GA CCR No. 2714, Exp. 4/1/2016

       TN LCR No. 679, Exp. 6/30/15
23        Transcript Certified on 6/1/2015
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Litaker, Robin 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Subject: 

Barber, Carol _ 
Friday, November 16, 2012 3:55 PM 
Antee, Cathy; Anthony, Carissa; Barber, Carol; Bonner, Melinda; Bradford, Janice; 
Brandon, Wendy; Branham, Alyssa; Camp, Deborah; Craig, Andy; Dodson, Ron; Dover, 
Matt; Fields, Connie; Fitzgerald, Patty; Franklin, Pam; Gaston, Jason; Goodwin, Linda; 
Haralson, Sandra; Lanzi, Carolyn; Lewis, Tina; Mabry, Sabrina; Marshall, Steve; Mayer, 
Barbara; McCall, Sharon; McCay, Michele; Meadows, Teresa; Phillips, Bryan; Polk, Lesl i; 
Porteous, Kathy; Riney, Chris; Shaw, Chris; Smith, Debra; Smith, Wayne; Ve~l, Mary; 
White, louise; Williams, Kristi; Wood, Susan; Yancey, Usa; Baggett, Dianne; Black, 
Maurine; Carrington, Sonia; Fancher, David; Feltham, Juli; Gurosky, linda; Lawry, Bob; 
Litaker, Robin; Mitchell, Scott; Richardson, Wayne; Singer, Jeff; White, Kimberly; Cain, 
Brian; Maddox, Tamala; Robbins, Chris; Wheaton, Kathy; Hulin, Don; Jarnagin, Kenneth; 
Smith, Terry; Whitney, Anna; Gregory, Amy; Lamar, Terry; Paiml, Kathy; Pate, Kerry; 
Scholl, Kara; Stone, Amanda; Torbert, Roger; Turney, Alice; Uswatte, Dil; Weems, Ami; 
Burke, Donna; Erwin, Kevin; Kneisley, Margaret; Litten, Paul; Perinka, Lisa; Butler, Charles; 
Giangrosso, larry; Greene, Melody; Hill, Murry; Hogan, Jennifer; Kellogg, Patrick; Long, 
Kathey; Montgomery, John; Sutherlahd, Holly 
FW: Information 

Just to update you on a few changes that are occurring for the district ...... remember, change is 
positive II 

Robin Litaker, principal at Trace Crossings, has been talking to us about some different opportunities 
that are being considered for the Hoover district. Currently, Robin has asked for some time to work 
on her dissertation and will be taking a few weeks to focus attention on this important task. Robin's 
assignment to a new position will be finalized when she returns from this professional 
leave. Meanwhile, I plan to move from my CO position to fill the principal position at TC. I will begin 
at TC on Monday, Nov. 26; we notified the faculty/staff this afternoon. I will continue to work with CO 
responsibilities, operating from the office at TC, until my responsibilities are reassigned or until a 
suitable replacement to assist with some of the tasks has been ide~tified . 

I will not be in B'ham over the Thanksgiving break (family trip) but will be available via email or phone 
should you have any reason to contact me. I hope everyone has a happy Thanksgiving-spend time 
with family and above all, join me in giving thanks for our numerous blessings I We are so fortunatell 

Happy Thanksgiving! 

carolllarber 
Asslst11nt Superintendent 
Koover City Schools 
2810 Metropolil<ln Way 
lioover, Al 35243 
205, 439·10l5 
tbjrber@boover.k12.al.u> 

l 
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SutUeat: [No SuQieot] 

From: Deborah Camp (wareag1e4445@yshoo.com) 

To: robinlltakor@yahoo.comi 

Oats: Monday, November 19,2012 12:46 PM 

From: "Barber, Carol" <http://us-mg6.mail.yahoo.com/neo/redir.aspx? 
C=f9el f3332ebc48ab8be7927a7dad5 5 51 & URL=ma ilto%3 acbarber% 
40hoover.k 12.al.us> 
Date: November 18, 2012, 4:24:21 PM CST 
To: "Fancher, David" <http://us-mg6.mail.yahoo.com/nco/redir.aspx? 
C=f9el D332ebc48ab8be7927a7dad5551 &URL=mailto%3aDFaucher% 
40hoover.k 12.a!.us>, "Richardson, Wayne" <ltl:tuJLYS= 
mg6.mail.yahoo.com/nco/redir.aspx? 
C=f9el f3332ebc48ab8bc7927a7dad5551 &URL=rnajlto%Jawrjchardson% 
40hoover.kl 2.al.us>, "Black, Maurine" <http://us-mg6.mail .yahoo.com/neo/redir.aspx? 
C==f9el f3332cbc48ab8be7927a7dad555! &URL=mai lto%3amblack% 
40boover. k 12.aL us>, ''White, Louise" <hllp:(/\ls-mg6.ma j) .yahoo .com/neo/redjr.aspx? 
C=f9el f3332ebc48ab8be7927a7dad5551 &URL=mailto%3alwh.ite%40hoover.k 12.al.us>, 
"Singer, Jeff' <http://us-mg6.mai l.yahoo.com/neo/redir.aspx? 
C=f9e I f3332ebc48ab8bc7927a7dad5551 &URL=mailto%3ajsjnger% 
40hoover.k 12.al. us>, "Baggett, Dianne" <http://us-mg6.mail.yahoo.com/neo/redir.aspx? 
C=f9el 0332ebc48ab8be7927n7dad555 1 &URL=mailto%3adbag~ett% 
40hoover.kl2.aLus>, "Carrington, Sonia" <http://us-mg6.mail.yahoo.com/neo/redir.aspx? 
C""-f9el f3332ebc48ab8be7927a7dad5551 &URL=mailto%3ascarrington% 
40hoover.k! 2.al.us>, "Lawry, Bob" <http://us-mg6.mail.yahoo.com/neo/redir.aspx? 
C=f9cl f3332ebc48ab8be7927a7dad555 1 &URL=mailto%3ablawry% 
40hooy((r.k 12,al.us>, "Feltbam, J uli" <bt1p://us-mg6,mail .yahoo.com/nco/redjr.aSllx? 
C:=f9c l f3332cbc48ab8be7927a7dad555l &URL=maillo%3ajfe1lbam% 
40hoovcr.k 12.al.us> 
Subject: Changes ..... 

Beginning Nov. 26, I will officially become a member of the elementary administrative team. 
Just needed to share a bit more than what I felt comfortable putting In the email last Friday 
afternoon ..... 

I am moving to TC as Robin transitions to another district administrative position. Robin did an 
outstanding job at TC-she is not being moved for lack of effort, poor job performance, or any 
of the common reasons one normally sees for making a principal move In the middle of a school 
year. Robin did exactly what we asked her to do--to hold teachers and staff at TC accountable 
for high standards related to their job performance. As Robin unraveled the layers and layers of 
"issues,'' feathers were ruffled; feelings were hurt; people started arguing (oftentimes among 
themselves); lots ofbackstabbing and throwing of people under the bus; in a 
nutshell-extremely low morale, poor climate and negative culture. Once respect and trust are 
lost, it becomes a lost battle. When the "good'' teachers began to complain (they were 
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threatening to leave due to the lack of trust and respect) it became apparent that we had to 
make some type of change. It was NOT fair to Robin to have her to continue to work 24/7 and 
for it to be for naught! Neither was it fair to the kids. When teachers spend more time 
"fussing" then they do planning for their classroom, it will ultimately negatively impact student 
learning. 

Robin is taking this week to be with her family, and plans to take the rest of the time between 
this Thanksgiving break and winter break to work on her dissertation. This is healthy for 
her-when she returns after the winter break, we will looks at several administrative positions 
that will be available for herto assume. 

I am excited about the opportunity to join the ranks of elementary administration. I am going to 
need lots and lots of help ..... things have changed dramatically since I have been principal and 
OMS-the curriculum I!!! I know good teaching and know how to organize curriculum-what I 
don't have first-hand knowledge about is the current programs. It will be a steep learning curve 
for me and yes, please be patient when I call for help!!! You may receive some very elementary 
questions ...... 

My first challenge will be to try to restore so of ositive climate/culture to this scho I. ) 
That is primary challenge number 1. Robin will be helping me to get a andle on the day-to-day I ¥ 
operation stuff here at TC. There are no plans to · etfefl~aflge . / 

~obln~uted. Attyuno..ll.La.m.omh..wlthJ~.e .. .tb~'l m(lJ0l.e!Y. .. J.Y~I~~.!J ) 
be wishing they had Robin ba,ck! / 

;-------·---~----=-·~ 

·· Hope this helps to clarify what is going on! Not easy to communicate via email but I am leaving 
town for the next week and no time to get together as a group. I really am looking forward to 
working with all of you as a fellow "justice league" member (where do I get the t-shirt?)! 

Have a great Thanksgiving!!!! 

FW: Information 
Barber, Carol 
Sent: 
Friday, November 16,20123:54 PM 
To: 
M 
Antee, Cathy; Anthony, Carissa; Barber, Carol; Bonner, Melinda; Bradford, Janice; 
Brandon, Wendy; Branham, Alyssa; Camp, Deborah; Craig, Andy; Dodson, Ron; Dover, 
Matt; Fields, Connie; Fitzgerald, Patty; Franklin, Pam; Gaston, Jason; Goodwin, Linda; 
Haralson, Sandra; Lanzi, Carolyn; Lewis, Tina; Mabry, Sabrina; Marshall, Steve; Mayer, 
Barbara; McCall, Sharon; McCay, Michele; Meadows, Teresa; Phillips, Bryan; Polk, 
Lesli; Porteous, Kathy; Riney, Chris; Shaw, Chris; Smith, Debra; Smith, Wayne; Veal, 
Mary; White, Louise; Williams, Kristi; Wood, Susan; Yancey, Lisa; Baggett, Dianne; 
Black, Maurine; Carrington, Sonia; Fancher, David; Feltham, Juli; Gurosky, Linda; 
Lawry, Bob; Litaker, Robin; Mitchell, Scott; Richardson, Wayne; Singer, Jeff; White, 
Kimberly; Cain, Brian; Maddox, Tamala; Robbins, Chris; Wheaton, Kathy; Hulin, Don; 
Jarnagin, Kenneth; Smith, Terry; Whitney, Anna; Gregory, Amy; Lamar, Terry; Paiml, 
Kathy; Pate, Kerry; Scholl, Kara; Stone, Amanda; Torbert, Roger; Turney, Alice; 
Uswatte, Dil; Weems, Ami; Burke, Donna; Erwin, Kevin; Kneisley, Margaret; Litten, 
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Paul; Perinka, Lisa; Butler, Charles; Giangrosso, Larry; Greene, Melody; Hill, Murry; 
Hogan, Jennifer; Kellogg, Patrick; Long, Kathey; Montgomery, John; Sutherland, Holly 

Just to update you on a few changes that are occurring for the district ...... remember, change is 
positive!! 

Robin Litaker, principal at Trace Crossings, has been talking to us about some different 
opportunities that are being considered for the Hoover district. Currently, Robin has asked ~or 
some time to work on her dissertation and will be taking a few weeks to focus attention on this 
important task. Robin's assignment to a new position will be finalized when she returns from 
this professional leave. Meanwhile, I plan to move from my CO position to fill the principal 
position at TC. I will begin at TC on Monday, Nov. 2G; we notified the faculty/staff this 
afternoon. I will continue to work with CO responsibilities, operating from the office at TC, until 
my responsibilities are reassigned or until a suitable replacement to assist with some of the 
tasks has been identified. 

I will not be in B'ham over the Thanksgiving break (family trip) but will be available via email or 
phone should you have any reason to contact me. I hope everyone has a happy 
Thanksgiving-spend time with family and above all, join me in giving thanks for our numerous 
blessings! We are so fortunate!! 

Happy Thanksgiving! 

Carol Barber 
Assistant Superintendent 
Hoover City Schools 
2810 Metropolitan Way 
Hoover, AL 35243 
205, 439-1015 
cbarber@hoover.k12.al.us 
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Subject: RE: From Sweeney 

From: MarkS. Boardman (mboardman@boardmancarr.com) 

--------------------
To: robinlitaker@yahoo.com; 

Date: Wednesday, April3, 201310:48 AM 

Robin, given that I told Andy yesterday what you lold me to say (that you 
said you intended to agree to this, but needed to just confli11l with RSA), 1 
don't think it is necessary to call him. Did the BOE meet this morning, and 
if so, is that meeting oveJ? Thanks~----- Mark 

Mark S. Boardman 

Page I of4 

Law Offices ofBOARDMAN, CARR, BENNETT, WATKJNS, HILL &GAMBLE, P.C. 
P.O. Box 382886, Birmingham, AL 35238-2886 
400 Boardman Drive 
Chelsea, AI. 35043-8211 
(205) 678-8000 
Facsimile (205) 678-0000 
mboardman@BoardmanCarr.com 
www.BoardmaoCarr.com 
NOTE: This is a confidential communication and may contain privileged 
and/or confidential infom1ation. If you ~re not the intended recipient, 
please delete this message and attachments, and do not read, copy, use, 
retain or disseminate the message or any attachment. If you have received 
this conummication .in error, please notify us immediately. Neither t11e 
transmission of this message or any attachment, nor any error in 
transmission or misdelivery, shall constitute waiver of any applicable legal 
privilege. 

--·-Original Message----· 
From: Robi.n Litaker [mailto:robinlitaker@yahoo.com] 
Sent: Wednesday, April 03,2013 10:20 AM 
To: Mark S. Boardman 
Subject: Re: From Sweeney 

Will you please let him know that I will con film as soon as 1 hear fmm RSA? 

Please excuse typing errors- information sent from my !Phone 

On Apr 3, 20 I 3, at 9:33AM, "MarkS. Boardman" <mboardman@boardmnncan-.com> 
wrote: 

> Robin, that is wise. I would like to have confirmation on what the Dec 31 
> date does for your retirement before you si.gn anything. 
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> When I talked to Andy yesterday after we talked, he agreed that you still 
> get raises, if you would be getting them if you were at work everyday at 
the 
> central office. So, he is on board with that. 
> Thanks--- Mark 
> Mark S. Boardman 
>Law Offices of BOARDMAN, CARR, BENNETT, WATKINS, HILL & GAMBLE, P.C. 
>P.O. Box 382886, Birmingham, AL 35238-2886 
> 400 Boardman Drive · 
>Chelsea, AL 35043-8211 
> (205) 678-8000 
>Facsimile (205) 678-0000 
> mboardmftn@BoardmanCaiT.com 
> www.BoardmanCarr.com 
>NOTE: This is a confidential communication and may contain privileged 
>and/or confidential information. If you are not the intended recipient, 
>please delete this message and attachments, and do not read, copy, use, 
>retain or disseminate the message or any attachment. If you have received 
>this communication in error, please notifY us immediately. Neither the 
> transmission of this message or any attachment, nor any error in 
> transmission or misdelivery, shall constitute waiver of any applfcable 
legal 
>privilege. 
> 
> -----Original Message-----
> From: Robin Litaker [mailto:robinlitaker@yahoo.com] 
>Sent: Wednesday, April 03, 2013 9:21AM 
> To: Mark S. Boardman 
> Subject: Re: From Sweeney 
> 
> I am checking with RSA this rooming to confirm things 
> 
>Please excuse typing errors - information sent from my !Phone 
> 
> 
>On Apr 2, 2013, at 3:41PM, "MarkS. Boardman" 
<mboardman@boardmancarr.com> 
>wrote: 
> 
>> 
>> 
>>MarkS. Boardman 
>>Law Offices of BOARDMAN, CARR, BENNETT, WATKINS, HILL & GAMBLE, P.C. 
>>P.O. Box 382886, Birmingham, AL 35238-2886 
>> .400 Boardman Drive 
>> Chelsea, AL 35043-8211 
>> (205) 678-8000 
>>Facsimile (205) 678-0000 
> > mboardman@BoardmanCarr. com 
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Print 

>> www.BoardmanCarr.com 
>>NOTE: This is a confidential communication and may contain privileged 
>> and/or confidential information. If you are not the intended recipient, 
>>please delete this message and attachments, and do not read, copy, use, 
>>retain or disseminate the message or any attachment. If you have 
received 
>>this communication in error, please notify us immediately. Neither the 
::::-->transmission of this message or any attachment, nor any error in 
>>transmission or misdelivery, shall constitute waiver of any applicable 
>legal 
>>privilege. 
>> 
>>-----Original Message-----
>> From: Sweeney, Donald B. [mailto:dsweeney@babc.com] 
>>Sent: Tuesday, April 02, 2013 2:49PM 
>>To: 'MarkS. Boardman' 
>> Cc: Craig, Andy 
>>Subject: RE: Litaker 
>> 
>>Mark, 
>> 
>>Andy Craig would like to settle the matter with Litaker on the following 
>>terms and conditions: 
>> 
>> 1) Litaker will submit now her resignation effective Dec. 31, 2013. 
>> 
>> 2) Litaker will work from her home to do assignments at the discretion of 
>>the superintendent. 
>> 
>> The latter does not have to be stated in her letter of resignation, just 
a 
>>matter of understanding about where she would be and what she would be 
>doing 
>>between now and Dec. 31. 
>> 
>>Andy, 
>> 
>>I hope I have accurately stated the terms. 
>> 
> > -----Original Message-----
>> From: MarkS. Boardman [mailto:mboardman@boardmancarr.com] 
>>Sent: Friday, March 29, 2013 10:29 AM 
>>To: Sweeney, Donald B. 
>> Subject: RE: Litaker 
>> 
>> -----------------------------
>> 
>>Confidentiality Notice: This e-mail is from a law firm and may be 
>protected 
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Print 

>>by the attorney-client or work product privileges. If you have received 
>this 
>> message in error, please notify the sender by replying to this e-mail and 
>>then delete it from your computer. 
> 
> 
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., 

Aprllll, 2013 

To: Mr. 1\ndy c;raig, Superintendent 

From; Robin Li taker 

J;lE.:..Be;tir.emeul:D.ate .. ·~-" 0 ... ----- .. ----- • • • 0 •• 

• ---- 0 

Mt. Craig 

This l etter is to inform you that I have set my re1ir~ment date. I will re ti~e fro":' the Hoove r City School 

System affective the last day of December 2013. · 
\ I . 

My last day to work will be December 31' ~013. <t;~J·~.~: 
, ··. j•, 

: . ~ . 
........ J .. _ • 

. ;.: 
·~ . 
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PRINCIPAL EMrLOYMENT CONTRACT 

DEFENDANT'S 
1EXHIBIT 

n1js Contract is made by and between the Hoover City Schools Board ~f· 

Education located in the State of Alabama (hereinafter referred to as "the Board"), and ROBIN 

LITAKER (hereinafter referred to as ''the Probationary Contract PrmcipaJ"). 

Witnesseth: That in accordance wjth action taken by the Board as recorded in the 

minutes of the Board meeting beJd on the 24tJ' d~y of May, 2010, the .Board hereby agrees to 

empJoy the Piobationary Contract Principal, and tbe Prob.ationary Contract PrincipaJ hereby 

agrees to accept such employment, subject to the following terms and conditions: 
I . 

Section 1. Term of Contract. Pursuant to Section 3 of the Teacher 

Accountabj)jty Act, Probationary Contract PrincipaJ shall be employed as a probationary 

principal for lhe period stated as fo llo"ws: 

Begim1ing Date: July l, 201 0 

Ending Date: June 30, 2012 

The above-stated probationary term is hereby acknowledged, understood and mutually agreed 

upon' by the Board and the Probatjonary Contract Principal 

Sedion 2. Salary. 

(a) In consideration of an annual salary of $88,000, for 12 months/260 days per 

year and of further agreements and consideration hereinafter stated, the Probationary Contract 

Priocjpal agree.s to usc his best efforts to perfonn faithful ly the duties of a Probationary Contract 

Principal for lhe Board and to abide by the rules, regulations and policies promulgated by the 

Board before or during the tenn of tJus Contract. The amma1 salary shall be increased by 1.5% 

for the second year ending June 30, 2012. The a.lll1ua1 saJary shaD be paid in twelve equal 

in.staD ments, 
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(b) In any year in which the Alabama Legislature enacts a pay raise for all public 

school teachers, the Probationary Contract· Principal's salary wj]] increase in accordance with the 

terms of the legisla6on and any subsequent action taken by the Board in response to that 

legislation.-
(c) Any upward adjustment in salary during the term of tills contract shall not 

cons6tute a new contract or an extension of this contract. 

Section 3. Renewal or Termination of Probationary Pr~ndpal's Contract. 

(a) The Probationary ·contract Prin6pal's employment at the end of the 

probationary term may be extended for a period of not less than three'years or tenninated. The 

Board may tenninate the Probationary Contract Principal's contract effective at the end of the 

probationary period for. any reason or without a stated reason. The Probationary Contract 

·Principal shall not be entitled to a hearing ifthe Probationary Contract Principal's employment is 

terminated at the end of the probationary term. 

(b) Cancellation of Probationary Contract Before Completed Teim: The _, 

Board may nomenew or terminate this probationary contract without a hearing effective either at 

the end of the first probationary year or at the end of the second probationary year for any reason 

or without stated reason. 

If the Board shall determine to terminate the Probationary Contract Principal prior 

to the end of the school year, the Probationary Contract Principal shall be entitled to a hearing in 

accordance with Ala. Code § 1 (')-24B-3(a). 

Section 4: Professional Status. The Probationary Contract P:rllicipal affirms that 

throughout the term of this Contract he or she will hold a valid and appropriate certificate to act 

as a Probationary Contract Principal of Schools in the State of Alabama. 
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Section 5. Probationary Contract P1·indpal's Duties. The Probationary 

Contract Principal shall perform in a timely mmmer an du6es delegated or assigned to the 

Probationary ContractPrinci~al by federal, state, and local laws, policies, and regulations, by the 

·· -----~Board, ofbyirs-SupelmTeriClenfofEducafion(hereiriaiterreferred to as "The"Sup-eifutend.ent"). -. 

Section 6. Trans-fer. The Board, upon the written recommendation of the 

Superintendent, is authorized to transfer the Probationary Contract Principal without loss of 

salary to other ad:mlliistrative openings :in the school ·system. 

Section 7. Evaluation. The Probationary Contract Principal shall be evaluated 

annua11y according to the process de£ned by the State Board of Education. The Probationary 

.Contract· Principal agrees to participate in the evaluation process and to complete any 

professional development plan resulting from the evaluation process. 

Section 8. Benefits. The Probationary Contract Principal shall receJVe all 

beneflts of emP,loyrnent that the Board grants across the board to aJl other cerbficated employees. 

Section 9. Background Check. Pursuant to state law and regulations, the Board 

is required to conduct a criminal background check on all new employees with unsupen,ised 

access to children. Failure to disclose a criminal conviction shall be considered a material breach 

of this contract. 

Section 10. Pr()fessional Liability. The Board will include the principal as a 

covered_ person in the liability coverage obtained by the Board subject to the terms, limitations 

and exclusions of said coverage. 

· Section 11. Amendment, Modification. or Waiver. This Contract shall not be 

amended, modified, or waived except in writing authorized, agreed upon, and executed by the 

Probationary Contract Principal and the Board, upon the written recommendation of the 

Superintendent. · 

Section 12. Severability . . If during the term of this Contract it is found that part 

of the Contract is illegal and must be severed from the Contract, the remainder of the Contract 
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shall remain in force, unless the severance causes the remainder of the Contract to fail in its 

essential purpose. 

"Section 13. Choice of Law. This Contract shaD be construed and enforced by the 

substantive laws of the State of Alabama. 

Section 14. Interpretation of Agreement. No provision of this Contract shall be 

construed against or interpreted to the disadvantage of any party by any court or other · 

governmental or judicial authority by reason of that party having, or being deemed to have, 

structured, dictated, or drafted that provision. 

Section 15. Headings. The section headings in this Contract are· entirely 

e<Etorial, and in no way substantive. They do not create, enlarge, or diminish the rights and 

duties of the parties to this Contract. 

Section 16. Other Agreements or Understandings. Provisions of this Contract, 

and any changes made pursuant to Section 12, above, supercede any previous agreements or 
I 

understandings between the parties- whether oral or in writing- and will control ill the event of a 

conflict with any other agreement. or understanding that the partie_s may enter in to. 

Section 17. Counterparts. This Contra~t may be executed in two counterparls, 

each of which shall be deemed an original_ but all of which will constitute one and the same 

Contract. 

Section 18. Advice of Counsel. The parties to this Contract represent that they 

have sigried it (1) after ample, full, and mature deliberation, (2) with full ~uthotity to do so, (3) 

·after having read the contract and had the opportuni~y to freely discuss it with counsel and any 

other advisor of each party's choice, and ( 4) that they are signing it vo luptarily and fully aware of 

its contents and meaning. 

1/1606550.1 
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Section 19. Effective Date. The effective date of this Contract is July-], 2010. 

In witness whereo~ the parties have executed this Contract on the date illdicated below. 

. . 

--- ·- ~xecuted by l!Je Boaia-mi!f241
h dayo!Ma-y 2010: 

11!1 
Superintendent ofEducation 

Executed by the Probabonary Contract Principal this 241
h day of May 2010. 

5 of5 
J/1606550.1 

Litaker v. Hoover · 
Produced by Defendants 

00095 



Case 2:14-cv-02176-MHH   Document 21-1   Filed 01/15/16   Page 116 of 135

Ev AL'UA 'l'ION SUMMAJtY REPORT 
.eJliNClJ> AL SYSTEM 

Principal: Ms. Robio Litaker 

School System: Hoover City Scboo]s 

Evaluator': Carol Barber 

SSN: Dote: J!lll\lary 13, 201 J 

School: Trace Crossings Elementary 

SSN: 
--- ---

~------------------------~0~1--~o=-2~MX=-3 ~0~4~ 
l. Communication Knowledge and Slcills lAJ 

(Sources: surveys, portfo1io, interviews, observation) 

Qomments. iusti.Gcntions. c-xpjauations: 

Lines of cvideJ)ce related to tlu:; lo.lowlcdge/skill area correspond most closely to score rationale level 3. 
Communicates whb parents v1a school newsletters nnd emails. Publisbes Week-At-A-Glance newsletter 
for faculty/staff. Meets regularly with Parent Teacher Organization. Meets one-on-on~ with teachers, 
parents, and students (strengtb ofpriocipal). Takes the time to listen to and respontl to individual 
conccms. Acknowledges and encourage parent and teacher ioput. Dc.mo.o.!>tr&tes care anti concern for 
indi'Vidual students, teachers and parents, 

2. ColJnboration Processes antl Slolls 
(Sources: ~>'l~rt~eys, porifolio, inrtrvit!W.J) 

CoJMJC'i!L'!. justifiCI!tiops. CXJ!l!W!!tUlD_$ 

Ot 

Lines of evidence related to this koowJcdge/skiU area correspond most closely to score rationale Jevel 4. 
As a first year principal, inherited a faculty/staff where culture, climate, and practices bad to change. 
Began process of change by meeting with peopk.._individually, in small groups, and in Jargor groups. 
Listencu to people, ldentificd areas wbere she· would no1 aUow any negotiations; identified areas whe:rc 
input wes needed and encouraged. Planned transition activities to gain tcacJ1cr and parent support. 
Establi~hed expectations <md standards, yet building support and gaining teacher buy-in to new 
expectations and practices. Works hard to bu:iJd o.o existing teacher strengths; acknowledges these 
strengths and delegates and empowers those to act. AJ>, currently .in the school, appJjed for lbe p.rincipaJ 
position and was·mosl upset with this did not occur. Filed an EEOC; district prevailed :in the hiring of 
Ms. Litaker. Principal continues to work with thls PJ' even tbougb Qlerc appeais to be a gl'cat deaJ of 
ncgalive behavior involve(\. This skill area is an area of strength for Ms. Lit!lkerl 

3. AssessmenUMeasoa·cmeJit!Evaluation 0 1 0 2 0 3 [!j 4 
(Source:r: surve-ys, portfolio, intet'lliew~) 

.Q9mwoot,~. justifigltions. explwntions: 

Lines of evidence related to this knowledge/skill area correspond most closely lo score rationale Jevo1 II. 
Worked wlU1 Director of Elementary Education io analyze and share ARMT and SAT data witJJ facu~ty 
(had.not been done before), Arranged parent meetings to interpret test student and building scores for 
parents. Compared test scores to current student grades. Rcuding coach maoages reading data .for 
school. Notebooks cont.alo grids identifying student achievement. D~ta is available to principal when 
observing in classrooms; during walk-throughs. Principal and reading coacb and assistaot principal can 
see level wher~ any student js currently reading and bow that student js progressing over Lime. 
Iotervention plans for each strogglillg shldcnt are included in tbe notebook. Principal monitors lesson 
plans (available on tbe T drive). Cmriculum js revjewed by teams and principal 
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4. Organizing for Results 
(Sources: surveys, portfolio, interviews, observation) 

Comments, justifications. explanations: 

Lines of evidence related to this knowledge/skill area correspond most closely to score rationale level 3. 
Principal js trying to stay true to practices 1hat have been established as Trace Crossings traditions until 
culture supports changes. Transition to cmriculum teams is evolving. Mission of school will be analyzed 

.. _______ : :.. 3!1~--cri~~~-ed over the su_mmer _ _by P-flr§:Q.t~J!l!Q staff wit,b Jl)e ipten1 9f reyi~ing_fgr t!,"t(l2,0_1 1-_2912 s_c]l<:Jo_l_ . 
'year. PrillcjpaJ .l"s moving slowly; ·helping llle.Jacul'ty to8ee the neeo-fcircnange; thereby-em bracll:ig the · ·· - -···· -- - -·-
chan es as the are im lemented. · 

5. Planning 
(Sources: portfolio, interviews) 

Comments, justifications, explanations: 

Lines of evidence related to this knowledge/skill area correspond most closely to score rationale level 4. 
Principal is developmg ownership of new ideas as they evolve. Principal encourages ill put mto decisions 
for the schools. Principal is strategically planning for change, moving slowly and trying to take faculty 
and patents with her as changes are implemented. Prindpal is establishing goals and identifYing activities 
to support school goals. Input for change is encouraged from faculty/staff, students, and parei_lts. 
Principal is using data from a variety of sources to establish goals and objectives (assessment data, survey 
data, parent and staff meetings, etc.). 

6. Federal/State/Local Laws and Policies 
(Sources: surveys, portfolio, supervisor's review) 

Comments, justilications. explanations: 

Lines of evidence related to this knowledge/skill area correspond most closely to score rationale level 3. 
Principal applies laws and pollcies to everydaypractictM--supervision, discjpline, school organization, etc. 
Evidence of understanding of laws and policies are represented in building procedures and practices. 
Principal is knowledgeable oflaws applying to student rights and is not hesitant to call others for 
clarification when she is uncertain of a situation. Principal provides leadership in helping faculty, staff, 
students,. and parents understand legal requirement of laws and policies. 

7. Problem SoMng 
(Sources: surveys, portfolio, in/erviews) 

Comments, justifications, explanations: 

Lines of evidence related to this know ledge/skill area correspond most closely to score rationale level 4. 
Principal develops ownership of ideas by delegating, empowering others, and sharing. Input into solving 
problems is encouraged and acknowledged. Principal labels problems; brainstorms solutions with 
mdividuals/groups involved; develops ownership of solutions by allowing input into the solutions; shares 
data to help direct solutions; and builds consensus regarding the best solution for the problem. Principal 
has emphasized assessment data with faculty; helping teachers to understand profiles and to plan 
strategically for improvement. 
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8, Innovation 
(Sources: surveys, portfolio, observation) 

Comments, justifications, explanations: 

[K)3 

Lines of evidence related to this knowledge/skill area correspond ID9S1 closely to score rationale level 3. 

Principal is significant reorganization in staffing patterns for 11-12 school year. Principal bas initiated an 
innovative dismissal process with students: bus tickets (next year will add car pool tickets and walker 

_tickets ).-:..PST·me.e1ing.ion:u_aL::J!le~tjng_tin;!~s are: ~~lec~e9:. Qy_j:~~c.hers;:-~e~s -me.~t at.:.~!fferen~ _!_imes .. - - - . 
based upon decision by team teachers. Principal bas organized four theme days for students - · · ----· · 
(health/safety; math/science, fine arts; social studies/history). Brings in speakers; develop activities for 
students around desi ated theme. 

9. Teclinology Management 
(Sources: surveys, interviews, observ~tion) 

Comments, justifications, explanations: 

[Xj3 D 

Lines of evidence related to this knowledge/skill area correspond most closely to score rationale level 3. 
Models the use of te.chnology on a daily basis. Comnmrucates expectations to teachers about the use of 
technology tools to deliver .instructional content. Professional development day was spent on inservices 
for I-Touches; teachers involved in geo-caching. Principal has purchased software program called FAST 
MATH to help student acquire mastery of basic math facts. 

10. School Operations and· Management 
(Sources: surveys, portfolio, observation) 

Comments, justifications, explanations: 

Lines of evidence related to this knowledge/skill area correspond most closely to score rationale level 4. 
Principal is analytical in assessment of building practices and procedures. This is an area of strength for 
Ms. Litaker. She understands howto effectively schedule personnel to achieve maximum efficiency; 
establishes routines to benefit students and faculty; and establishes rapport with student by creating a safe 
and secure learning environment (physically safe and emotionally safe)! Principal uses a critical eye to 
determine appearance of building and grounds and holds staff accountable for expressed expectations. 
Principal establishes high expectations and is .willirtg to work with peqmnnel as they change practices to 
meet changed expectations; however, will hold people accountable for agreed upon standards! 

11. Fiscal Leadership and Management [EJ3 
(Sources: surveys, portfolio, supervisor's review) 

Comments, justifications, explanations: ~-

Lines of evidence related to this knowledge/skill area correspond most closely to score ra~ionale level 3. 

Principal meets regularly with pookkeeper to review POs, reconcile books, etc. Budget commjttee . 
consists of elected teachers, counselor, bookkeeper, principal and parent. Budget committee determines 
spending of state funds, technology funds, etc, Principal works with PTO regarding spending of funds 
from parent organization. 
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12. Management of Professional Responsibj)ines 
(Sources: surveys, supervisor's review) 

Comments. justiiications, explanations: 

Ot 

Lines of evidence related to this knowledge/skill area correspond most closely to score rationale level 4. 

Principal is organized; completes tasks in a timely manner; is highly professional in making decisions 
related to staffing; responds to requests for information/assistance in positive manner. Delegates 

.: _ _resp0nsibili1y_ to_:_appr.op_riate.per..§QJIDeL EIDP-QW~~ap:Qrqpr!at~ pe.rsolll1~1 t~_d~_mo~stJ:a~ lea'!~!shiJl. 
regarding curriculum and instructional issues. 

13. Leadership of Human Resources 
(Sources: surveys, portfolio, supervisor's review). 

Comments, justifications, explanations: 

Lin.es of evidence relate~ to this knowledge/skill area correspond most closely to score rationale level 3. 

Principal has analyzed test data extensively and shared with parents and teachers. Principal has made 
sure teachers have specs for testing; planning to purchase Test Prep to help student prepare for 
SAT/ARMT. Principal has introduced Educate AJabama and the Quality Teaching Standards to faculty. 
Principals applies principles of effective supervision. Principals is involved in daily walk-throughs (goal 
is to get into every classroom every day)! As a new principal, Ms. Litaker is ·building a positive culture 
with parents, students and teachers. Change is beginning to evolve under her leadership. Principal 
constantly references mission and vision for TC and expects teachers to use this as a screen for making 
decisions. · 

Areas for Improvement: 1. 

2. 

Additional Comments: 

Composite Knowledge/Skill Score 
Complete this box for all contract principals or for non-contract principals in school systems adopting a summative component. 

For a principal to meet the approved "satisfactory" performance standards for the state evaluation model, the sum of 
the scores for knowledge/skill areas 1 through 13 must equal 36 or more. Scores of 33-35 are "unsatisfactory, but 
remediable" and scores less than 33 are "unsatisfactory· 

Total of all knowledge/skill scores: D 
Principal has met the perfonnance standard marked below: 

0 Satisfactory ' Ounsatisfactory, but remediable QJnsatisfactory 

·; 
Evaluator Signature 

Principal's signatuTe does not necessarily indicate agreement with the results of the evaluation. 
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·' 

Principal: Mr. Robjn Litaker 

Ev ALUATlON SU:MMA.Jl'Y REPORT 
P lUNClP AL SY.STEM 

SSN: 

••L • • 

Date: February 8, 20J/. 

School Systclll: Hoover Cjty Scbool:s 

Evaluator: Carol J3arber . 

School: Trace. Crossings El~cJJlary School 

SSN: 

1. Commup.ic~Hptl l~nowled_ge and Skills 
(Source~: s11rvey.r, pf?rlfolio, inrerviews, ob.rervation) 

~~ustifir.atigos. tXQtun~: 

Ul ~3 

Lines pi evi.4!!nce r~)atv'd to 1fus kn<?w)edg~sk.i)j area ~orrcspond most closely to score ratl9nal~ levcJ, 3. 
Artifact~ jncilucic wc;clCJy "WAG" (We't:k~t .a G~ance) to fa<;:ully. Faculty mcelings oc:cur two times a 
month. Pi:for.:ip~~aJt .epd:~ weekiy ts~~ mll~t~t:~~s·. Te~ meetings have des1gnateo focus (mat~, rea~g, 
etc.). Com;:riu.f1ic;_atio}.'l':to paients mcludes an arti~e ih ll)onthly Trace Tribune. PriDcipal Mlds "cofie<t 
with lbe.pp.incipal" events fpr yare.ols. Pri"P.cipaJ coJ:inou!l)caies "op~ door" policy for par{':nts to "drop 
in." P.O..n~ip,~i'ls on car pool-line cy~ da)t; 1alks to p_ar~is in car' pool line. . 

. 2. Coli'a ~~r~ tiol! -.Proces~~s:. a~d Sidns ·o 1 . 0 2 03 . I X]4 
(Sources: ~r!"e.Ys, por'rfolio, !ntervfew:;) • . 

<;omme!lts.,:hllitifictitions. gp!anstl~n§! 
LU:les Qf cvi.dtth~~·J'elateq lO $is knowJedg~/slciJl area GOtrCSpOJid rnost CIDS<;ly (o score T?liOJ)aje ]eveJ :4. 
Pru1·cip~J .a.tte:tj.cis w.e~kly te~m mt:t:'tings. Pri.O.t·ipaJ encouri:J_gcs teacho/s to tak_e jeadc~smp role~ iD school 
~n& .COffi!Duni.t>.' c:ve~~;s .•. School :is org;mi~eH ~ro\)n4 \~-~rn!!:-"prineipal ·ha.S' I!Ss~gn~d 'teru.:J ·.t:J:l.?~er;sons; 
holds reguljt mb~~ings with team Chairs; moB.HoiS Cll&jc\ihun yja discussions wiiQ t~aru cblliis. l?.J;'incipal 
rn(?d~l~ colla~~r~ti:o.I1 ~d PTO$?esS sialls 1Q t~acbets apd parents. Pri:OcJpaJ hn's pMtnered wiih ~11m ford 
Umve!'sjty l'o oeYclop a C()])aborative parlntr$p with Samford students providing1argded assistance'. 
wi~ s~ling student. 
3. .(\..ss!!ssm ~it/M~A.~u)·~mcrit/Evnluiftiop 

(So!irces; s~1119s, pprtfo.llo, l~ten:iews) 
Comm¢r·,i§. juitificBtiCms, ,exnloo!!.i-Ulru: . 

Lil;l~:·Of 'evJ.OCJ.?Ce r.~J~t~ij· to ~~S ~.ow]cdge/Rkj.U area s;ofre~po..qd ,J:QOSt r;:losely to s~o.rc rationale i_ev~J 3. 
~dlv.i,dual s;tugerit·d~f11. is·as.1l#bled f9r e~c,h, $~.detit w~o~~s _a .oa~onstrat.ed_need in .rea <;lin~ ai1~ 11;1~th . 
.'f!.I~J.p.nin£ to ~ss;st at ri~k stude.dts .in o~;g'om~: Data incluia~s A-1\MT ·scores, S.Ml d(!ta, Ho~vei M,atb 
~s's'es~~ffl~s, '~1-t Fan~ "Ps, etc. Re~~f:Q·g;and matlJ GOacp nsseJ!lble d~t<l on weekly basi.~ and. review with 
principal weejcly. . : . . . . . 

03 
· (8o,rce...r: surveyS;·portjQii'!! intervie)v.r, uJJ.rervqtfon} 

Cymments. just)Acntions. cxpl;tuntjooS: . · 

~e~· of'eYi·~~;¢c tcla.t~~ io this kqo~lcdge/siO.ll are~ corresponclm0~t .clo~,ely 1~ score r.auonale level 4. 
P~ncip~l l~ 4Jl _i"d )>c~r of J).fincipa}s~:p; has ~c:.ltrla.k~ D},ajo~ shift in schoo] ·cul~re; h!JS ·crea~eii a -DCW 

vision fo~ s~hool~~Olds ~J~~opJe ac'count::i~le fqq:>r<j'¢tic~s to support y1sioni~~~~Oil. Pri.ncjpal.bas orea}t~ 
ndtUHoila1 P.laliriiog :Oppoftu#i~es fqt te~.~c;r·s; 'bas.e:d l,lpon results of su.r;v~y·da.t a fT.Ol:n tcach~rs. P.riocipal. 
r~vjew.s ~lli\Iey da~il ~d -r:e.sponds with ?MU.Stme.:ots to organiia6ona1 pr~ct'ices wLeu p1'lssib1'e. ScbooJ has 
pll.f(jcJp·at~ in a Tol~l Qna'ijty Reyjew A.ila'fysis apd js using results from this process to design school 
iroprovcincht practices. · 

DEFENDANT'S 
EXHIBIT 
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5. Plannjng 
(Sources: portfolio, inlerviews) 

Comments, jus_tifications, e~planations: 

Lines of evidence related to this knowledge/skill area correspond most closely to score rationale level 4. 
Bujlding goais-a1;1d objectives and clearly defmed. P~cipal shares high expectations with faculty and 
staff. Principal encourages input from faculty/stafffor improvement .suggestions .. Principal uses a variety 
of ~.ata.s~ur~es_tn a~a:iyze and. evaluate_cunent practices.and.needs.for changes.-- ... - ... - - .. 

···------ ------- ······--·-·-- ----. ---- --- ·--- _______________ .:......____ ___ -----·· -----·-·--·-----

-. 
6. Feder.alJStat~/Lp~a1 Laws a_nii·Policies 

(Sources: ~rilejs, porifo/io, suyervisor ;s review) 

~omJnents; just!fi cations, exp1anations: 

02 

Lmes qf i~{~~.nce related to this k:nowledge/slcil) area correspond most closely to score rationale level 3. 
Prin!3ipal helps faculty arid staff to understand laws aJ]d policies. Principal prov:ides leaderslrip in ·be1ping 
faculty, staff, students <!nd parents understand legal requirements of scbocil operations. 

(So.itf~~~: .s11!veys, portfolio, interviews) 

.Comments; iustifi·t~tibh~. explanations: 

[Kl3 

Pri.,nci~~i-'¢~c6~ia~e~· a~d sciiidts li;tp\lt from teachers in identification of problems and suggestions for 
reil;l~oie;s to 'thd'pr6blems. ScpooHs .organi.Ze'd .around t_eli_ining ~qncept..-~Prlncjp_al mpdels inyolvement in 

· "c~_mi'ge" procc;.s_s: Prin_qipal ~pcQur~g~~ teachers to ·embrace IJ6w pratHces by pr~vi~ing prof(!sski.Jilal 
lecir.illP.l9;:Ppq~tit;,S 1bJ:oug1i attind~J?Ce at :Workshops, con:fe~en<~~s, etc. Piincipal meets regq~arly with 
team c'hidjs :to S.p.a~f ~ucce!?~. s-tori.fis an.d analyze _areas of co#cem and identify l?olutions to pr<ibl~Jtis. 

.. 
'8. Innov-ation 

;. ::-. ;'"--· .02 ·[!]4 
(S~urc~s: Sllrys:ys, po)ifo,lio,.'qbseryation) 

. Coinn'lents, i·ustific~tions, explanations: . . . 

Lih~s ~f~vi·d~n~-~ :reia1~~-t6 ~.§ -l~owled:ge/skiJ,I area C~)Te~pond m~st clo~ely to sco;re r(l~ion,ale level .4. 

PiiricipaJ 1s insjgl:Jt:fu} in ):le;r vis\cin for scboo1·11rid how to a thieve {1?-e vision.· Sth.ool h<!s e.rQ.'or.aced f)nd 
ieqm'mg_:tPbp~j 'for scP,oql opei~tioiis. Cominon c<?r~·c~ri(Guh:im h_as bee:q rolled out ~~ly. T~aohers ~e 
exp_eeteei to s):j.ar~ corill:non piactic~s for diffe'ren_i{ation,' ass~~s~~nt, etc. -PMY.:IJ'la1 hfl~ set the bar b1gh for 
t<;<acher d:pe~tatlons; 'is :insistent that teac:hed aiso have oppoftunj~l(/S to learn new practices. Mechanlsm 
to support and belp teac~ers achieve ·outcomes are constimtly being provided and evaluated. ' 
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9. Technology Management 
(Sources: surveys, inlerview.r, ob.rervolion) 

Comments, justifications, explanations: 

[Kj3 

Lines of evidence related to this knowledge/sk.i)l area correspond most closely to score rationale level 3. 
Tecb))ology team is charged with assisting teachers to mtegrate .technolo-gy in teaching tbe content. 

Students ~nd teachers are provjded with multiple resources to promote 1he -qse of technology as a tool for 
promoting successful· student.::learrri:og ... -Tr.ace· Cr.ossings~provid ed .. the~n:iodeLfottl;te~-distri cLfor. tne·_-u se.o£ .: . 
Googie TVs as a tool for instrU(;tional improvement :in schools. Science lab b·as become an integral · 
component within the operation ofthe school. 

J 0. S~boql Opera.tions and Management 
(Sources; surv~ys, portfolio, observaiion) 

Comments, juslificati_ons, explanations:· 

Lipes of evidepce r~lated tQ tills knowleqge/s.kiJJ irre;~ correspond most closely to score rationale level 4. 
Artifacts i'ndud~ a i~orga:nized schedule which pro>:ides a~ditional common·pJaruiing tirpe for tea·chers. 
Students know and fol1ow da:ily routines. Principal :instituted a bus ticket pr"ocess for loading/unloading 
of buses. Luggage tags on )Jookbags i~entify if student _go:es to EDP, rides bus, goes to cat pooi or is a 
walker. 

ll. Fiscal Leaders}}:ip ~~;p..£1 Ma~~gem·ent · 
,_. 

(Souraes: sur-Veys, port]dlip, Sllpervisor's review) 

Comments, justifications, explanati"0ns: 

.LJ?es of evidence related to this lmo:wledge/skill area correspond most closely to score rationale leveJ 4. 

R~views were co:P,du~ted by the Dis!rict Jntemal Aud~tor a~d the Di~trict AccoUJ;J.tiDg Manager for the 
p~_nod froll! Oct9ber 1, ?010 tbrough }4ay 31,2011. No exceptions were noted ... Ms. LiUiker and Mrs. 
Drake, bookke_eper fo.f TC, are to b€ commended for the .significa.nt :iJ;bprovemen~.ip [Jscal {.esponsib-ility 
tiiat has occurr!::d at TC.over the ·past two yyar. · · 

(Sources: suhiejs, supervi;;o(s review) 

Comments, justifications, ex"pliliJaticin.s: 

![)3 

Ljn~s. <;>f e;viden~~ f~~~t~.d to thl& knqV:,ledge/sWl ar~a co;rresp~:rs_q :most closely to score ra,tio:ri~le level 3 . 
. Prin'cipal is puncwal to .. ~or~; ha_~ ~ pbenoinep?l ~ot:K ethlc; su~~ts repo·n:s ~d· pap.·~rwq~~ in ~ tiin~)y 
manner.·· Prin~ipal·models prQfessionalism when de~~g ~ith tea~}lers, stu_q(?ii_ts, a_nd parents. Principal is 
willipg to h~ld p~op]e account~B1e -even·if it me~.s she may experience some level of ~i-~comfort from 
staff/parents. PrinCipal will tackle tough situation~ if is it is in the best :intyrr,:sts of students! · 
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J3. Leadershlp ofHuman Resources 
(Sources: surveys, portfolio, supervisor's review) 

Comments, justifications, expl~nations: 

Lines of evidence related:to tb:is knowledge/skill area correspond most closely to score rationale level 3. 
Principal encourages exaplli:Jation of rese~ch based practices and provide~·opp.o.rhmities for teachers to 
en._gage in a vapety of pto'fe~sional 1sam:ing activi15~s. Principal and teach_ers ·!'!Te jnvqlved in us:ing 

.. _ .c~~:uc~t~-~~R!i~5Ll~<>jp~ i~_ "l,li~~~]~ .iJJ. gass:r,QQD}s~tr~es. t_g m?l<~ ?.:iL~ppe_ll_r?Jlce ,daily jJJ_ e:a:clJ _ 
classiom;n. P_rin~ipal expe-cts teachejs to p}a:ke de{;}s)onsbas.ed up·o~ "what is .in llie best:iii{erests-of tne --_ 
student" versus what is ea_siest for"teacber ·or most converuent for staff1 

Areas for Improvement: ] . Assessment, Measurement and Evah;tati<_:m 

2. 

·AddH:ional Comments: 

GPm.P~§.ite; Knt>W'l.~qge/Ski!l S~ore · · _ · -
Comjiiete this box for all ~ontTact.princiJiD:ls or ·for ~'?n-contrac_t principals in school systems adopting ll summative component. 

-For .a p<rincip_a(lo iii'ee_t Hie a·ppr~ved i's.!ltista.C;i;ry·' periorma.nce stCJhd?rds tortl:i.e s1~i.e ~v~l.~.,~ation r:n!?deJ, the sum of . 
the scor€1:; fqr kfi.byt\e.~[)e/sHil areas 1 tilrdug'h '13 must equal 36 or more. Scores ·of 33-35 are ''unsatisfactory, but 
remedia'blg" ana· scores.les~- than 33 are ·un:;'ltisfactory~ . . . . ... 

. . To1~.i .of_ ~ri khowf~dg~fs.kiH s~-ot~?: D 
Principal has ~e·t the perf.~_rmance stamjard mark~d below: 

Ounsatisfactory, but remediable · . Ounsapsfactory 

Principal's signature does not necessarily indicate agreement wit~ the resul~s of the evaluation. 
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PRrnC~ALE~LOYMENTCONTRACf 

~liflll 
f . L~~q~{V 

Thl;s Contract is made by and between the Hoover CHy Board of EducatiOlJ 
-- ~-- .. • ... _,_ .• :.!.",-.::.._-·- . ... _:_..~;..·· ·--=-· ..... · __ ._ _·_::.:.- -·. ___ ·.,,. -·' --- ·---· --
loca1cd 10 tb~ State of .AJabama (hereinafter referred to as ''the Board"), ann ROBIN LITAKER 

(hereinafter referred to a.q "the Contract Principal"). 

Witnesseth: Tha1 in accordance with actio~ taken by the Board as record cd in ll1e 

minutes of t1Je Board meeting held on tbe 18th day of June 2012, the Board hereby agrees to 

employ the Contract Principal, and the Contract Principal hereby agrees to accept su~h 

employment, subject to the foUowing terms and conditions: 

Section 1: Term of Contract. Pursuant to Ala. Code § 1 6-24B-3(a) Contracl 

Priocipa~ Contract Principal shall be employed for a three-year period on the condit jon that 

Contract Principal is certified for the position as required by Ala. Code § ·16-24B-2(2). The 

three-year period of emploYJJ:lcnt sJu1ll begin on July 1, 2017 and end.June 30, 2015. 

Section 2. S:tlary. 

(a) Jn consideration of an annual salary of $94,000 for J 2 months/260 days per 

year and of further agreements and consideration hereinafter stated, the Contract Principal at,Tfees 

to use ]Jcr best efforts to perform faithfully the duties of a Contract Principal for the Board and to 

abide by the ruJes, rcguJatjons and policies promulgated by the Board before or during th~ tenn 

of Utis Contract. The annual salary shall be mcreased by 1.5% for each of the two subsequent 

years of this cootrad. The annual salary shall be paid in twelve equal installments. 

(b) In any year in which the Alabama Legislature en<lcts a pay raise for all pubHc 

school teaChers, the Contrac1 Principal's salary will increase in accordance with the terms of the 

legi11lation and any subsequent action taken by ll1e Board in response to that legislaUon. 
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(c) Any upward adjustment in salary during the term of this contract shall not 

constitute a new contract or an extension of this contract 

Section 3. Professional Status. T}le Contract Principal af:finns that throughout 
- - . - - .. 

~ .. ... . . - .. -·-:-__ - ____ ··--- -·---· ·-----·· ·------·----- ··-·--·-···-------···-···---· 

---the- term of this -Contract she will hold a valid and appropriate certificate to act as a Contract 

Principal of Schools in the State of Alabama. 

Section 4. Contract Principal's Duties. The Contract Principal shall perfonn in a 

timely manner all duties delegated or assigned to the Contract Principal by federa~ state, and 

local laws, polides, and regulations, by the Board, or by its Superintendent of Education 

(hereinafter referred to as 11the Superintendent11
). 

·Section 5. Transfer. The Board, __ upon the written recommendation of the 

Superintendent, is authorized to transfer the Contract Principal without loss of salary to any other 

administrative position in the school system 

Section 6. Cancellation. 

The Board, in accordance with Ala. Code- § 16-24B-3, may cancel the 

Employment Contract: 

_ (a) During the three-year contract term, the contract may be .cancelled for: 

(1) immorality, (2) insubordination, (3) neglect of duty, (4) conviction of a felony or crime 

involving moral turpitude, (5) fa1lure to fulfill the Contract Principal's duties as defined by law, 

(6) willful failure to comply w:ith Board policy, (7) justifiable decrease in the number of 

positions due to decreased enroll~ent or decrease in funding, (8) failure to maintain a current 

certificate, and (9) failure to perform duties in a satisfactory manner, (1 0) incompetency, or (11) 

oilier good and just cause. At the end of the three-year contract term, the Superintendent and 

Board may choose not to offer a new, renewed or extended contract to the Contract Principal, by 
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a vote made atleast 90 days before the end ofthe three-year contract term The recommendation 

of the Superintendent sha11 be written notice of the decision of the Superintendent and shall 

contain the reason for his decision to non-renew. The decision may be based on any reason 

-- ·.- --- -::......:·~- ·- ---- .. _ __: :=-. 
except personal or political reasons. No hearing shall be required by the Board if such non-

renewal occurs.· 

(b) Cancellation of this contract shall be in accordance with the Teacher 

Accountability Act, Ala.. Code § 16-24B-1, et seq. A copy of the Teacher Accountability Act is 

attached to this co?ltract as Appendix A. 

(c) The Contract Principal shall give the Superintendent 90 days written notice of 

his intent to cancel this Contract. Notice shall be served by certified mail, return receipt 

requested, or by personal service, and by no·other means. 

Section 7. Contract Non-Renewal. 

(a) The Contract Principal shall give the Superintendent at least 90 days' written 

notice ofhis intent not to seek r~ewal ofthe contract. Notice shall be served by certified mail, 

return receipt requested, or by personal service. 

(b) Should the Board and Contract Principal agree to renew the contract but fail to 

execute a new contract prior to. the exprration of the current contract, the terms and agreements 

herein shall continue to bind the parties until such time as a new contract can be executed. 

(c) Ifthe Contract Principal contends that the Board's decision not to renew her 

contract was made for personal or political reasons, and appeals the dec1slon to non-:renew, the 

losing party to that appeal shall be liable for the prevailing party's attorney's fees, costs, and 

expenses for the appeal, including the cost of the mediator. 
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Section 8. Evaluation. The Contract Principal shall be evaluated annually 

according to the process defined by the State Board of Education. The Contract Principal agrees 

to participate :in the evaluation process and to complete any proff:$sional development plan 
7-"::..---=~~.:...__-·· _ •. ..:~·----. ---- •• ---- ------------- ·----· ··-·-----~ .. -------

resulting from the evaluation process. The failure of the Superintendent to ensure the Contract 

Principal is evaluated shall result in a one-year extension of this contract, for no more than a total 

ofthree years. 

Section 9. Benefits. The Contract Principal shall receJVe all benefits of 

employment that the Board grants across the board to all other certificated employees. 

Section 10. Background Check. Pursuant to state law and regulations, the 

Board is required to conduct a criminal background check · on all new employees with 

unsupervised access to children. Failure to disclose a criminal conviction shallbe considered a 

~aterial breach ofthis contract. 

Section 11. Professional Liability. The Board will include the principal as a 

covered person in the liability coverage obtained by the Board subject to the terms, limitations 

and exclusions of said coverage. 

·Section 12. Amendment, Modification, or Waiver. This Contract shall not be 
\ 

amended, modified, or waived except in writing authorized, agreed upon, and executed by the 

Contract Principal and the Board, upon the written recommendation ofthe Superintendent. 

Section 13. Severability. If during the term of this Contract it is found that part 

of the Contract is illegal and must be severed from the Contract, the remainder of the Contract 
. . 

shall remain in force, unless the s~verance causes the remainder of the Contract to fail in its 

essential purpose. 
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Section 14. Choice of Law. This Contr~ct shall be construed and enforced by the 

substantiye laws of the State of Alabama 

Section 15. Interpretation of Agreement. No provision of tills Contract shall be 

construed against or :interpreted to the disadvantage of any party by any court or other 

governmental or judicial. authority by reason of that party having, or being deemed to have, 

structured, dictated, or drafted that provision. 

Section 16. Headings. The section headings in this Contract are entirely 

ed:itonal, and m no way substantive. They do not create, enlarge, or diminish the rights and 

duties ofthe parties to this Contract. 

Section 17. Other Agreements or Understandings. Provisions of thls Contract, 

and any changes made pursuant to Section 12, above, supersede any previous agreements or 

understandings between the.parties- whether oral or in writing- and will control in the event of a 

conflict with any other agreement or understap.ding that the parties may enter in to. . 

Section 18. Counterparts. This Contract may be executed m two counterparts, 

each of which shall be deemed an original but all of wrnch will constitute one and the same 

Contract. 

Section 19. Advice of Counsel. The parties to this Contract represent that they 

have signed it (1) after ample, ful~ and mature deliberation, (2) with full authority to do so, (3) 

after having read the contract and had the opportunity to :freely discuss it with counsel and any 

other advisor of each party's choice, and ( 4) that they are signing it voluntarily and fully aware of 

its contents and meaning. 
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Section 20. Effective Date. The effective date_ of this Contract shall be July 1, 

2012. 

In witness whereo:t: the parties have executed this Contract on the date indicated 
-- - -··--·----bdow. -.--- - --- ·- ·----- . ·-·-- ... --·--· -·· 

Executed by the Board this 18th day of June 2M2. 

ent of Education 
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l . 

'· 

Veal, Mary 

.~m: 

:J~ent: 

To: 
Cc: 
Suhject: 
Attachments: 

Litaker, Robin 
Monday, April 01, 2013 4:52 PM 
Veal, Mary 
robinlitaker@yahoo.com 
letter from Amanda Stone 
Administrative Responsibilities 12-13.docx 

DEFENDANT'S 
EXHIBIT 

I received a very hostile letter from Amanda Stone today. You and Mrs. Barber are CC: on the letter. 

I do not have her PEPE portfolio. She did not sign-off on her "PEPE'' as she indicated ..... She signed off on the ESR. At 
the time-- I had asked her repeatedly to turn in her PEPE notebook (starting before school was out in 2012). She did not 
give it to me until late in June 2012. 

When she finally gave me her notebook - It was not completed In a manner that would have justified the good 
evaluation that 1 gave her ..... I talked with several other principals and chose to evaluate her as they did their assistants. 

I DID NOT take things out of that school as she has indicated. I left Mrs. Barber extensive files and emalled copies of 
these files to her. The notebooks were left in the tall cabinet in the principal's office .... I have been repeatedly harassed 
about notebooks that I don' t have ..... 

I started many outstanding initiatives at Trace Crossings -I am very proud of the programs that I started .... Such as the 
School-University Partnership with Samford, morning programs for at-risk students and the Job-Embedded Professional 

'YS for Teachers etc ..... I let Amanda assist and work with mahy of these programs. I also let her initiate many 
. tlvlties that she was personally interested in such as her " Robotics" program .... 

I am respectfully requesting that Mrs. Stone be told not to communicate with me In this manner. 

And just so someone will know .... I repeatedly asked Mrs. Stone to meet with me to review her PLP for 
EDUCATEAiabama (October 2012)- she finally began her PLP In mid-October and signed off on it on November 11, 
2012 .... Without meeting with me .... She had a habit of not doing things that I asked her to do ~- Therefore her PLP was 
not signed off on .... By a supervisor .. . 

It is very clear to me that her actions indicate hostility toward me and for that I am at a Joss ... 

I gave her an opportunity to become an assistant principal and kept her in that position last July (and that is a decision I 
debated- she Is well aware of this) ..... Her antipathy toward me became apparent several weeks before I left Trace 
Crossings. 

Please advise me .... I have never had this type of animosity directed toward me In rny professional career ... 

I have a reputatioh that does not even warrant a response to her letter ..... My attorney advised me to respond to 
someone so I am sending this email to you .... 

I have attached a copy of the job responsibility listing for this year- this is the major things that we divided up among 
leadership at the school... It is not an inclusive list of day-to-day things that come up In a building -- Not that It matters 
at this point ..... Robin 

.vdenls care aboiJt their school when the school effectively cores obout t/lem ............... William Gillespie 

1 



Case 2:14-cv-02176-MHH   Document 21-1   Filed 01/15/16   Page 131 of 135

Please Do Not Forward 

z 



C
ase 2:14-cv-02176-M

H
H

   D
ocum

ent 21-1   F
iled 01/15/16   P

age 132 of 135

' ;::;: I» 
';¥:' 
I!) .., 
0 
iii' 
n 
0 
< 
(I) ... 
'< 
'0 ... 
0 
a. 
c 
n :::: 
0 
:I 
0 
en 
N 
01 

BQ9in Amanda 

CIP Facilitator OPTeam 

• PST • PST • 
Administrator Administrator • 

• PSIS PSIS • 
Administrator Ad mlnlstrator • 
Crisis Team Crisls Team 

• Score and Chair 

• Theme Day • Extended Day • 
• • Morning • Textbooks 

Programs • Theme Day 

• Field Trips • Morning 

Discipline Programs 

• DRC • Outlook 

Accountability calendar 

Reporting • CUstodial 

• Observations Supplies 

• Samford • Check Lesson 
Partnership Plans (every 

• Custodian- Monday 

Daily morning) 

operations Registration 

Check list 

[Every Fridavl 

• Observations 

• Teather 

Duties 

• Samford 

Partnership 

Bold indicates lea ership Role 

Angela ~ Tami Ellen 

OPTeam OPTeam • CtP Team • CJP Facilitator 
on can • PST Reading • PST Math • PST on can 
PBIS Chair Chair Chair • PBISTeam 
Crisis Team • PBISTeam PBS Team • Crisis Team 
Fine Arts • Crisis Team • Crisis Team • Reading 
Curriculum • ~eadlng • Math Curriculum 
Team Curricu'lum Curriculum Team Peer Buddies 

Team Chair Team Chair Theme Day Theme Day 
Themeoay Theme Day • Morning Morning 
Morning Morning Programs Programs 
Programs Programs 
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Team Captains 

Lesson Plans 

9 Week Plans 

Yearly Blocks 

Daily Curriculum Focus 

Grade Weights 

9 Week Parent Focus 

Sheets 

Weekly Planning Focus 

Instructional Blocks 

EDUCATEAiabama 

Field Trip Coordination 

Recess 

Discipline 

Placement 

CIPTeam 

Monthly Meetings 

Disseminate 

Information to Grade­

Level Team Members 

~ Bold indicates lea ership Role a· 
:::I 
0 
Ol 
N 
Ol 

Curriculum Teams 

Coordinating Curriculum 
K-4· 

Theme Days 

Disseminating State, 

School Curriculum 

Information 

PO Plans for Team 

Start of School Needs 

Transportation nckets 

Carpool Numbers 

Luggage Tags 

Duties 

Teacher Notebooks 

Schedules 

Dates & Plans for 

morning programs 

Office Staff 

Transportation Changes 

-Debbie L 

Calendar- Debbie L 

Field Trip Forms- Nurse 

Duties 

Morning Duties 

Morning Programs 
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Math 

~ 

Upstairs Lab 

Downstairs Lab 

Upstairs Classrooms 

Who: 

Staff: Tina Moretz, Mark 

Weldon 

Samford Students 

Parents 

Reading 

Area: 

Library 

Downstairs Nook 

Upstairs Nook 

Front Hallway 

Who: 

Staff: Gayle Morrison, 

Jimmie Van Ness 

Samford Students 

Parents 

a Bold indicates lea ership Role 
o· 
:l 
0 
en 
N 
~ 

Science Fine Arts Activity Alternative Activities 

Area: Area: Area: 

Science Lab Downstairs Art Room Gym Foreign Language 

Mezzanine Upstairs Art Room 

Garden Music Room 

Who: 

Who: Who: Who: Samford Students 

Staff: Amanda Stone, Staff: Staff: Parents 
Dana Joyner, Kim 

McFarland Samford Students Samford Students 

Samford Students Parents Parents 

Parents 



Case 2:14-cv-02176-MHH   Document 21-1   Filed 01/15/16   Page 135 of 135

, .__,.·~· .. O~EC~. · ~12.~2~0 1:._3 ...:,9~: 3~7 A~M_.....:.W:.!..:J G~G l!..!:.:NS~CH~~ L_;....~ .,.-. _________ NO, -253_ P, 3 

-- AOENCY CHAROE'N1Jiv!BB'R , CHARGE OF DISCJllMi.NATION 
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~EOC 

ondBEOC . 

sw. or loaol AJ.Illfl/.1! 611>' 

NAMU(Tndlo•h,Mr.1 Mt., Mu.) liOMB 'TBl.BfHONE (lndudo /lretl Cod&) 

Ms. Robin Litaker 205-871-4331 

STIU!ET ADOI\SS CIT\'1 $1'A'Ili AND 2:11' COD8 J OA71WI'Ilffi.TH 
I .. 09/l9:RE. · · 3ll-Oo.lnswood Road Homl.lwood · AL 35209 . - . ··- .. 

NAMEO JS nu! llMPWYB'll. LABOR OR01JIJU.110N1 B'Ml'LQYMBNT AOSNC'l, APl'.lmmCii3JfiP COMMilTllS. S'l'A.T.U Olt LOCAL 00V2RNMEN'r 
AOI!NCYWllO DI.SOIUMINA'rnl> A<MmSTHBJlt~orothaa OllD list below,) 

NAME N'UMSJlR Ol' RMPLOYBe8, MEMBBRS r:stliPHON.S (lnoludo Anll Ccdo) 

Hoover City SobooWHoov~r Bd. of 15+ 
Ed. 205-439· J 000 

STrur6T ADPlU>SS CITY, n'ATB AND ZIP COOii 

l'I!Jl' .1\dmi.ul.rtn.tion Bu.ildin_g, 2810 M6trop_olltan Way, Hoover AL 3$243 
I COON'TY 

J6fCcrson 

NMtB 11lll.IU'RONB NUMBER (TnoludM~ Codo) 

ST.IUiiiT A.DI>lWSS C[J'Y, STAT'S AND UP CODS I COU'NTY ' 

CAUSE Ol' DISClUMINATIONbA.Slm ON (Chcak ~~ppropriA1o box(es)) l>AT.ED!ScruMINAnONTOOK PLACE . 
lWU.lBST (ADBNBI'I\) 1-ATBST(At.L) 

D lV\Cl! D COLOR W SBX D !UiUOION DAoB ~ove.mber 16,.2012 Continuing 

D ltBTAUATION D W.TION,AL D DlSABII.m' D ODJJ?R (Sp~) · ' 

G:l CONTINUlNG AC110~ OR lOIN 

nw PM'l'ICI.JI..AP.S AJU! (lf•d411ion&l paporls noodod, onnob Cltttuhoor(c)): 

!. l a.cn a tomato and 111n ciUTouey oo Jca.vo fiom Hoover Clly ~uhoulM. l'flur tu gol.ng on !o11vo l wu.s tllo Pr1ncl)'al at Trn~ Cros.singa, 
Eloment:<ll')' School. In that poslttOD l ha!llllwayu-eowvod oxoolllftlt ptrfounaoca roviows4tld had becnawarded 4 now oontraot, Howover, I 
was ~t avalu.ated for tho 20lP.::l013 yo ado vtolllttoo or my oootmot. 1 was IO'IllOVIld from the prln~al posiUon on N'ovcmbcr 16, 2012 I!Dd 
pltttod at the central oBlco wlthout buh:Jg glva11-. pennanoatjo'b as&l2JU110DI. This was done withow bou.rdopproval, .t w'ostolchll.at I blld dono 
nothing wroos to cause the mcwa and t.bllt rwu belng movo41o 11protoot mG." 

2. On oraboutAJ>nJ J .. or Aprll2"' oU013, I wns Informed that J w~ bei.og aulgned to the C1·omoads AltemlltlvoSohool ns llic Assistaot 
Principii], which is a deJUotion, Cros.uoads .i3 on alt&mlltiVe eobool funrtu.dootp who bavu boon in trouble IUid ho.vo violntod board pollcios. On 
or about May 13, 2013, lho bolltcl romovod D :malo priDoSpsJ. Bob Lawry, fi'om tho pnnoipnl 's position at South Shades Prest Blernent'IIT)' lll'ld 
placed him ill 8 ceoll'll offie4 positlan tha! is opmpiiTIIble to the prlnolpal position that ho hold. I was nol given fhit camo opportunity. Olbcr 
ll1lllo prlnelpale bnvo bod 'portonuanoo problom,s and hllvo not boon removed~ thclr positions and roaslic;a~:~d. 

3, As aremlt of1bosucti0111, l sulnnitted myiotcnl to "tiro from the HoovBrClty Sohoolf, otNctlvo December 31, 20 13. I om on lr:11.ve 1111tU 
Illy ~Jiromc:ut goes in~ 111feot. 

4. Ibolltwo that I l~avu boon d!ac:rhnlnatodogamatbe~oRutoot~soxinjob usl&nm~mtsltm»Cera f!lld otbet tenMnnnoonditio.ns ofomployroont 
J havo abo beo11 oo~ctlvely dilcl1argod il'om rxxy cmpJoymon: baolll.l•e ofih.e dlrorlmioatol')' treatmoot, 

IWDJ111lib llNtSQ11M~IIb bolh lboBBOC a.nd lbo Still~ orlooa\AQOI\oy, lfw•y.l will 
N01'Ali.Y • (Whon nooc.uD<y for SI.OI6 411d J,..v01l Rcqufrci!IGI\lS) 

advln ll\'0 Gj!Onolu lrl ehlill8e my add~ or toltpltoao nwn~or and I'WIU ooopU'IUo 
tullY will\ I hem Ia 11\t proom(fl& of my cJiu.r61' In coc;ordonoo wllh lllelr progodlllo.t. 
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